Townsend Planning Commission Meeting Agenda

ey November 8, 2023 @ 7:00 pm
o N, .
¢ > Town Hall and via Conference Call
Town Meetings will be held both in person and in a virtual format.
. . Townsend Town Hall will be available to the Town Council and those of the public
7:00 pm — PC Meeting wishing to attend in person. Those wishing to attend virtually may dial 1(301)715-

8592. When directed, provide following meeting ID 407 702 6733# and then the
following password 332763# to enter the meeting. If you choose to access the meeting
online

I. Call to Order
If you choose to access the meeting online join the online

Il.  Opening Ceremonies meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/4077026733?pwd=TjJ6Nmhz
MHdOT1dDa3h0Ty8wYO0pUQT09

A. Roll Call

B. Pledge of Allegiance
C. Visitor Acknowledgement
D. Additions/Changes to the Agenda
E. Announcements

I1l.  Minutes from the October 11™" Planning Commission meeting to review and approve.

IV. Update on PLUS (Preliminary Land Use Service) application for updates to Future Annexation

Map.
V. Discussion regarding Chapter 24 — Appendix B of the Town’s Municipal Code.
VI.  Discussion regarding Chapter 24 Zoning and Unified Development Code.
VII.  Discussion regarding December meeting date.

VIIl.  Adjourn


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/4077026733?pwd=TjJ6NmhzMHdOT1dDa3h0Ty8wY0pUQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/4077026733?pwd=TjJ6NmhzMHdOT1dDa3h0Ty8wY0pUQT09

FUTURE LAND USE &
GROWTH & ANNEXATION AREAS

Middletown Town of Townsend
Nature
Area NEW CASTLE COUNTY DE

10/19/2023 SCALE: 1" =3500"

REMINGTON & VERNICK ENGINEERS
UNIVERSITY OFFICE PLAZA, BELLEVUE BUILDING
R‘I E 262 CHAPMAN ROAD, SUITE 105, NEWARK, DE 19702
(302) 266-0212, FAX (302) 266-6208, WWW.RVE.COM
1901 3

rfcate of Authorization: 24 GA 28003300
~ENGINEERING EXCELLENCE~

N
E  |Legend
Municipal Boundary
S D Future Annexation Areas - 2023

|:| Future Annexation Areas Identified in 2020
Areas of Concern
m AreaA- Partially Deed Restricted

P Possible future greenbelt area,
[ /] AreaB- potential sending area for TDRs

|:| Area C - Public Protected Lands

- Agricultural Easement
Agricultural District

Agricultural Expansion

Future Land Use Type

|:| Residential
- Commercial
|:| Industrial

. - Farmland

- Institutional/Community

Major Rivers

Streams
CanalDitch

StreamRiver

General Notes and Data Sources:

This Geographic Information System (GIS) Future Land Use & Growth and Annexation
Areas map is for demonstration purposes only, any use of this product with respect to
accuracy and precision shall be the sole responsibility of the end user.

The areas, boundaries and details, shown on this Future Land Use & Growth and
Annexation Areas map, are referenced, in part, from ground surveys, aerial surveys and
recorded plans, tax assessment maps and documents, and are to be used for reference
purposes only.

Blackbird

This map was created, in par, utilizing municipal boundary and location data provided

by the FirstMap and the Delaware Office of State Planning Coordination. Future Land State
Use was acquired through FirstMap and developed by University of Delaware Institute Forest
for Public Administration and verified by the Town of Townsend. Agricultural Black]
preservation data was acquired through FirstMap and developed by the Delaware Resd
Agricultural Lands Preservation program. Wil
Al positions are based on the following o

NAD 83 (horizontal datum) 1inch = 3,500 feet

- Delaware State Plane Coordinate System
- English units (feet)

The geodetic accuracy and precision of the Geographic Information System (GIS) data
contained in this mapping has not been developed nor verified by a professional
licensed land surveyor and shall not be nor is intended to be used in maters requiring
delineation and location of true ground horizontal and/or vertical controls.

875 1,750 3,500 5,250 7,000
Feet

10f2

Printed on: October 19, 2023 Document Path: P:\GIS Projects\DE\New Castle County! DNTET107\03_Map: U _1023.mxd



Town of Townsend Future Land Use & Growth & Areas Map
Parcel ID Address NCC Designation per County Parcel Search Recommendation for PLUS
1401600058 174 Pine Tree Rd SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401500255 0 CALDWELL CORNER RD. SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401500254 648 CALDWELL CORNER RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401500245 652 CALDWELL CORNER RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401500031 0 DEXTER CORNER RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401500236 742 DEXTER CORNER RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600009 0 DEXTER CORNER RD Farmland SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600008 0 OFF SUMMIT BRIDGE RD. Farmland SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600045 6192 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC15 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 15000 SF Residental
1401600046 6196 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC6.5 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 6500 SF Residential
1401600044 6210 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC15 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 15000 SF - Residential __|Residential
1401600043 6218 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE - how to classify?? SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401600042 6226 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR -UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401600041 6238 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401600040 6250 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE- Residential __|Residential
1401600039 6262 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE- Residential Residential
1401600223 6264 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE- Residential Residential
1401600038 117 RATLEDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE- Residential __|Residential
‘Added to the future annexation map NC21 - UDC -
1401600033 6324 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE- Residential Residential
1401600032 6332 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600031 6338 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600030 6342 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600029 6348 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600028 6354 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600027 6360 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600025 6368 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600276 6370 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600024 6372 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD Residential NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600277 6376 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600023 6380 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600022 6386 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600021 6396 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401600102 4235 DUPONT PKY. CR-UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401600180 4215 DUPONT PKY NCA40 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 40000 SF Residential
1401600101 6335 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600100 6329 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600099 6317 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600224 6307 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600098 6309 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600097 6303 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600226 6291 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600096 6287 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600095 6275 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600161 6269 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600168 6263 NS SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600094 6259 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600214 6255 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600093 6249 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600084 6239 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600083 6235 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600082 6231 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600107 4059 DUPONT PKY. SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600208 6221 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC6.5 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 6500 SF Residential
1401600081 6219 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD IC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600078 6213 OFF SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600080 6203 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600076 6147 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Commercial
1401600071 4 MACEY LN SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600070 6123 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600069 6111 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD Residential- NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600068 6091 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600067 6087 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600066 6073 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600065 6057 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600064 6051 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401600063 6047 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601039 6041 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601038 6039 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601042 6035 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601045 6031 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601040 6027 ES SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601044 6025 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401601036 6019 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401601050 6017 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401600315 115 PINE TREE RD CR- UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401200034 135 PINE TREE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Suburban Reserve/Commercial
1401600002 113 MONEY RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600169 121 ES MONEY RD NC21 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 1/2 ACRE Residential
1401600003 100 MONEY RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401601032 5979 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD CR - UDC - COMMERCIAL REGIONAL Commercial
1401200171 5925 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200170 5909 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200173 5883 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200172 5879 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200179 5871 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200169 5869 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401200186 5865 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401200185 5863 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
1401200175 5855 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE UBURBAN RESERVE
1401100042 5853 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC40 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 40000 SF Residential
1401100039 5815 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE SUBURBAN RESERVE
1401100060 5872 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE UBURBAN RESERVE
1401200010 5894 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
1401200230 5908 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
1401200231 5916 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
1401200206 5932 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC2A - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 2 ACRE Residential
1401200012 5938 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401600004 5944 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401600005 5948 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601001 5952 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401601002 5956 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD NC10 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 10000 SF Residential
1401605023 653 COMMERCE ST C6.5 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 6500 SF Residential
1401605019 654 SOUTH ST NC6.5 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 6500 SF Residential
1401605018 659 COMMERCE ST NC6.5 - UDC - SINGLE FAMILY - 6500 SF Residential
1401500041 0 WALNUT ST SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401500018 658 WIGGINS MILLRD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Suburban Reserve
1401600047 6170 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Commercial
1401600068 6091 SUMMIT BRIDGE RD SR - UDC - SUBURBAN RESERVE Commercial




4/10/23, 1:21 PM Print Preview

24 - Appendix B Developmental Flowchart

Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

TOWNSEND - SUBDIVISION & LAND DEVELOPMENT FLOW CHART

2] Applicant Submits Subdivision [3] Administrative Review for

2] Town Manager Submits to Town I5] Distribution of Project
and/or Land Development Flan to Town Completeness by Town Manager Council for Recommendation for ——

»  application must be received
by 15" of Month Preceding
Council Meeting

Planning Commission . . P
= Only Complete Applications Planning Commission
Proceed after Town Manager *  Land Use & Development
Review Committee

12] Distribution by
Town Manager
Town Council

[9] Planning
s Commission Meeting
Commission

Town Engineer
“Town Fire Co.

6] Planning Commission

*  Review Plans

7] Town Engineer

* Review Letter Issued
1o Town Manager
and applicant, ane
(1) week Before
Council Meating

[14] Town
Council Meeting

[20] Plan Recording
[18] Distribution by Town — e
Manager Conditions Confirmed by

Town Engineer
= Town Engineer

=  Townsend Fire Co.

& Clean Review Latter
* Recorded by Applicant

Rev.3/13/2013

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_-_Appendix_B_Developmental_Flowchart

7


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_B_Developmental_Flowchart
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf

Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

PHASE 1:

* (1) Applicant Submits Conceptual
Plan to Town for Review.

e Town Council and Planning Commission Review Sketch Plan

e Town Council determines whether Plan is acceptable or Recommends changes to applicant.

e *Step one (1) and two (2) may be combined per your request, please note Town Council may

deny this request.

N

m(Z) Applicant Submits
Subdivision and or Land
Development Plan to Town.

e Application must be
received by 15" of
Month preceding
Council Meeting

(U

)

/(3) Administrative Review \

for Completeness by Town
Manager.

e Only Complete
Applications proceed to
Town Manager Review

A N b

(4) Town Manager

Planning Commission

e Land Use and
Development

(¥

Submits to Town Council
for Recommendation for

Committee Review

\

)

/(5) Distribution of Project Information\
by Town Manager.

Planning Commission
Town Engineer
Townsend Fire Co.
Townsend Police

)

(6) Planning Commission

e Review Plans

(7) Town Engineer

Review Letter issued to Town
Manager and Applicant ONE WEEK
before Council Meeting.

/
\

(8) Townsend Fire Company

e Review Letter issued to Town

Manager and Applicant ONE WEEK
before Council Meeting.




Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

PHASE 2:

(9) PLANNING COMMISSION PUBLIC

HEARING AND MEETING.

*(11) APPLICANT
[ *(10) COMMENTS J > REVISES PLAN

l

/(12) Distribution by Town Manz

Town Council

’ tions be FOR or

Conditions

*If the Planning Commission provides comments, the Applicant can decide to:

a. address the comments and resubmit revised plans for consideration by the Planning
Commission

b. request consideration by the Town Council without addressing comments; or
address the comments and request consideration by the Town Council. If revised plans
are being resubmitted to the Town, the Town Manager will distribute the revised plan as
described previously and request updated reviews from the Town Engineer and the
Townsend Fire Co.

*The Planning Commission can make a recommendation FOR or AGAINST approval of the
application to the Town Council. The Planning Commission’s recommendation for approval may
be given conditionally based on the Applicant satisfactorily addressing certain items.




Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

PHASE 3:
YES
NO
/ (16) Application Approval \ [ (15) Application DENIED ]
Conditions of Approval:
e Town Engineer Comments
e Townsend Fire Co.
e Townsend Police
e  Other Agencies (DelDOT, DNREC, USACE,
State Fire Marshal, Water Company, NCC
Public Works, New Castle Conservations,
etc.)
e  Financial Security
K e Inspection Escrow /
(17) Application (18) Distribution by Town Manager (19) Satisfaction of Conditions
Addresses Conditions . —> Confirmed by Towns Engineer
® Town Engineer
of Approval e Clean Review Letter

® Townsend Fire Co.

\ /(21) Construction \

e Cost Estimate

e

0) Plan Recording

e  Signatures
o Plan Preparer
o Applicant Owner

e Inspection Fee Escrow
Performance Guaranty

v
.

o Town Engineer e Pre-Construction Meeting
o Town Council e Construction Inspection
e Recorded by Applicant e Acceptance of Improvements

. / N\ Y




8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

24 ZONING AND UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE
24.04 In General

24.08 Administration

24.12 Establishment Of Zoning Districts
24.16 Vacant, Deteriorated Structures
24.20 Design Standards

24.24 Sign Regulations

24.28 Permitted Modifications

24.32 Land Development Requirements
24.36 Environmental Protection Regulations
24 - Appendices

Editor's Note: Printed as a chapter in this Code of Ordinances is the unified development code for the
town as compiled and adopted in January 2000 and as amended through amendments adopted in
June 2020.

Charter References: Authority to adopt zoning regulations, § 201.1.31.

State Law References: Authority to adopt zoning regulations, 22 Del. C. § 301 et seq.

24.04 In General

24.04.010 Enactment

24.04.020 Title

24.04.030 Enabling Legislation

24.04.040 Purpose

24.04.050 Interpretation

24.04.060 Definitions - Zoning And Unified Development Code
24.04.070 Applicability Of Regulations

24.04.080 Preservation Of Natural Features

24.04.090 Regulations Applicable To All Zoning Districts
24.04.100 Submission Requirements

24.04.110 Violation And Penalties

24.04.010 Enactment

The zoning and unified development code which is printed herein shall be applicable within the
corporate limits of the town.

24.04.020 Title

This zoning ordinance shall be known and cited as the "Unified Development Code of the Town."
(UDC 2002, § 100)
24.04.030 Enabling_Legislation

The enabling legislation is an authorization by the general assembly permitting the town as well as
other municipalities to adopt a zoning ordinance. 22 Del. C. § 301, permits the legislative bodies of
cities and incorporated towns to regulate such matters as the height, number of stories and size of
buildings and other structures, percentage of lot that may be occupied, the size of yards, courts and
other spaces, the density of population, and the location and the use of land for trade, industry,
residence or other purposes.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 1/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
(UDC 2002, § 101)

24.04.040 Purpose

The purpose of the zoning ordinance of the town is to promote, in accordance with the present and
future needs of its citizens, the health, safety and morals, convenience, order, prosperity and general
welfare of the present and future inhabitants of the town. These interests may be promoted by
restricting the heights, number of stories and size of buildings and other structures; the percentage of
the lot that may be occupied; the size of yards, courts and open spaces; the density of development;
and the location, use and extent of use of buildings, structures and land for resident, trade, industry and
other purposes by creating districts for said purposes and by establishing boundaries for such districts;
by providing for the establishment of a board of adjustment and by imposing penalties for violation of
the zoning ordinance. This chapter is adopted so as to lessen congestion in the streets, to secure
safety from fire, panic and other dangers; provide adequate light and air; prevent the overcrowding of
land; to avoid the undue concentration of population; to facilitate the adequate provision of
transportation, water supply, drainage, sanitation, parks, recreation, education and other public
requirements. Such regulations shall be made with reasonable consideration, among other things, as to
the character of the district and its peculiar suitability for particular uses with a view to conserving the
value of buildings and encouraging the most appropriate use of land throughout the town.

(UDC 2002, § 102)
24.04.050 Interpretation

This chapter shall be interpreted, whenever an administrator or judiciary is called upon to do so, in
conformance with the purposes intended to be served by its enactment. The intent of these standards
and supporting definitions is to protect both individual property owners and the general public from
adverse impacts, which might otherwise be the result of a proposed land use. It is not intended by this
chapter to interfere with or abrogate or annul any easements, contracts, or other easements, or other
agreements between parties provided, however, that this imposes greater restrictions upon the use of
buildings or premises or upon the height of buildings or other purposes for requirements set forth in this
chapter, the provisions of this chapter shall govern. If because of error or omission in the zoning district
map, any property in the jurisdiction of this chapter is not shown as being in a zoning district, the said
property shall be classified as (P), "preservation" until changed by a zoning map amendment.

(UDC 2002, § 103)
24.04.060 Definitions - Zoning And Unified Development Code

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

"Accessory building” means a building detached from a principal building located on the same lot to the
side or rear of the principal structure, and which is incidental and subordinate to the principal use or
building.

"Accessory use" means a use of land or building, or portion thereof, incidental and subordinate to the
principal use or building.

"Adult bookstore" means an establishment having, as a substantial or significant portion of its stock in
trade, books, magazines or other periodicals which are distinguished or characterized by their
emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to specified sexual activities or specified
anatomical areas, as defined in this section (see below), or an establishment with a segment or section
devoted to the sale or display of such material.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 2/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
"Adult entertainment establishment” means an enclosed building used for presenting material and/or
conduct distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to
specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas, as defined in this section, for observation by
patron therein. This includes bars, restaurants, movie theaters, theaters, peep shows, strip halls,
special cabarets, physical culture establishments, photographic studios, or any other normally
permitted use where "specified sexual activities" are displayed, or where "specified anatomical areas"
are exposed to customers.
A. For the purpose of this definition, the term "specified sexual activities" is defined as:
1. Human genitals in a state of sexual stimulation or arousal;
2. Acts of human masturbation, sexual intercourse or sodomy;
3. Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttock or female
breast.
B. For purposes of this definition, the term "specified anatomical areas" is defined as:

1. Less than completely and opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region buttocks and
female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola.

2. Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state even if completely and opaquely
covered.

"Alteration” means a change in the appearance of building, structure, site, or object which is not
otherwise covered by the definition of demolition, or any other change for which a permit is required.

"Apartment” means a multifamily dwelling unit contained in a building comprised of two or more
dwelling units.

"Basement” means a story partly underground and having more than one-half of its clear ceiling height
above the grade.

"Board of adjustment” means the officially established board of adjustment of the town.

"Buffer yards” means a landscaped strip of land at the periphery of a property created to separate one
type of land use or zoning district from another when they are incompatible or in conflict.

"Buildable area" means the land area remaining on a tract after the minimum open space, buffer yards
and setbacks have been met.

"Building” means a structure built on a lot, having a roof, and intended to shelter people, animals,
property, business activity, use or occupancy.

"Building coverage" means the aggregate of the maximum horizontal cross section areas excluding
cornices, eaves and gutters, of all buildings on a lot.

"Building height" means the maximum permitted height of a building permitted on a lot. Building heights
is determined from the vertical distance measured from the lowest ground elevation to the highest point
of the building, excluding chimneys and antenna.

"Building line" See lot line.

"Building primary" See principal building.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 3/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
Business office" See professional office and personal service office.

Campers/trailers"” See recreation vehicle.

Cellar" means a story partly underground and having more than one-half of its clear ceiling height
below grade.

"Certificate of zone compliance"” means a certificate issued by the board of adjustments upon
completion of construction, alteration or change in occupancy of a building. Said certificate shall
acknowledge compliance with all requirements of this article, such adjustments thereto granted by the
board of adjustment, construction in accordance with the plans and specifications filed with the board of
adjustment and all applicable town regulations.

"Church"” means a building or group of buildings including customary and secondary buildings designed
or intended for public worship, organized religious services, and accessory uses associated therewith.

"Demolition"” means the razing or destruction, whether entirely or in significant part, of a building or
structure, site or object. Demolition includes the removal of a building, structure or object from its site,
the removal or destruction of the facade or surface, or alteration to such an extent that repair is not
feasible or so costly so as to be prohibitive, rendering the property unfit for use.

"Density, residential gross” means the total number of dwelling units which may be developed or are
developed on a tract of land before requirements for streets, infrastructure and open space are
provided. Residential gross density is determined by dividing the number of dwelling units by the total
tract area.

"Density, residential net” means the resulting number of units which may be developed on a site after
the requirements for streets, infrastructure and open space have been provided. Residential net density
is determined by dividing the total number of dwelling units by the net buildable area of the tract.

"Developer” means a person, firm or corporation filing an application for development as defined by this
section.

"Development” means any new or expanded use of a building, structure, land or waters; any
disturbance of land, soil, vegetation, or waterways; any division of land or land development whether
for sale or lease.

"Drive-in facility” means buildings or uses providing drive-in or drive-thru service to customers in
automobiles including, for example: drive-in and drive-thru restaurants and banking and pharmacies
and similar operation within drive-thru windows.

"Dwelling” means a building, or portion of a building, used as a place of residence, containing sleeping,
cooking and sanitary facilities, excluding commercial lodging.

"Dwelling, attached" means two or more dwelling units in a single structure or attached structures, each
which could have a single lot, which are separated by a dividing wall. This includes two-family
dwellings.

"Dwelling, multifamily” means a structure containing more than one dwelling unit with either direct
access to the outside, or through a common hallway, with a separate kitchen facility and living quarters
in each unit.

"Dwelling, single-family detached" means a dwelling unit, including a manufactured home, designed for

and occupied by not more than one family and having no roof, wall or floor in common with any other
dwelling and meeting the following criteria:

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 4/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
A. Minimum floor area of 750 square feet.

B. It has a minimum width along any exterior front, side or rear elevation of 20 feet, exclusive of
garage area.

C. If applicable, transportable sections shall be no less than ten feet in width, unless the unit is
transportable in three or more sections, in which case only one section need be more than ten
feet wide.

D. It is permanently mounted on a solid foundation or pier foundation system and anchored, and in
each case in accordance with BOCA.

E. All wheels, axles, transportation lights and towing apparatus, if any, shall be removed from the
dwelling when it is placed on the foundation in accordance with paragraph C of this definition.

F. All utilities shall be permanently connected in accordance with the town plumbing and
mechanical codes.

G. It has a storage area in a basement located beneath the living area, in an attic area, in a closet
area, in an attached or detached garage or enclosed structure constructed on a permanent
foundation and having an area of not less than 160 square feet or any combination thereof. The
total storage area must not be less than 15 percent of the gross floor area of the dwelling unit. It
shall have a weather-resistant exterior covering material comparable in appearance, quality and
durability to materials used on the dwelling, such as brick, stone facing, treated lumber,
masonry or masonry veneer, which shall extend to the ground.

H. The siding of all dwellings shall be continuous so as to enclose any joining of two or more
sections.

l. It complies with all pertinent sections of the building code and the state fire and safety codes.

"Dwelling unit" means one or more rooms physically arranged so as to create an independent
housekeeping establishment for occupancy of one family with separate facilities for all of the following:
sanitation, living, sleeping, cooking and eating.

"Family” means one or more persons, related by blood or marriage, occupying a dwelling unit and living
as a single nonprofit housekeeping unit.

"Farm" means the land, buildings, structures and machinery which are primarily adapted and used for
agricultural purposes.

"Farm building" means any building used for storing agricultural equipment or farm produce, housing
livestock and poultry and processing dairy products. The term "farm building" shall not include
dwellings.

"Flood fringe" means those portions of the floodplain, outside the floodway, subject to inundation by the
100-year flood and generally associated with standing or slowly moving water rather than rapidly
flowing water. The extent of the flood fringe is determined by detailed study data and profiles found in
the FEMA flood insurance study.

"Floodplain” means a relatively flat or low-lying land area adjoining a river, stream, or watercourse
which is subject to periodic partial or complete inundation. Specifically, those areas identified by the
Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) flood insurance rate map as being subject to
periodic inundation by a 100-year storm, including the floodway, flood fringe and areas for which no
base flood elevations area available as depicted in the most recent FEMA flood insurance rate map.
For land development plans or subdivision plans exceeding 50 acres or proposing to create five or
more lots within or adjacent to a floodplain where base flood elevations are not available, the applicant

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 5/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

must provide a hydrologic and hydraulic analysis to establish the base flood elevations. The applicant
must obtain a letter of map revision from FEMA prior to final plan approval.

"Floodway" means the portion of the floodplain district required to carry and discharge the waters of the
100-year flood without increasing the water surface elevation at any point more than one foot above
existing conditions as demonstrated in a flood insurance study.

"Garage, private" means an accessory building for storage purposes only and used by the owner or
tenant of the property, and in which no business, service or industry is conducted.

"Garage/parking, public" means a garage or parking area available to the public for free or a fee.
"Garden apartment" See apartment.

"Gross floor area” means the sum of the total horizontal areas of every floor of every building on a lot.
The measurement of gross floor area shall be computed by applying the following criteria:
A. The horizontal square footage is measured from the outside face of all exterior walls.

B. Cellars, basements, penthouses, attics, covered or uncovered porches, balconies and decks,
enclosed storage or mechanical areas, mezzanines and similar structures shall be included as
GFA wherever at least seven feet are provided between finished floor and ceiling.

C. No deduction shall apply for horizontal areas void of actual floor space, for example, elevator
shafts and stairwells.

"Home occupation” means a business, profession, occupation or trade located entirely within and
accessory to a residential dwelling which does not change the essential character of the residential use
and which is not evident from the exterior of the dwelling.

“Impervious surfaces"” means areas that do not allow significant amounts of water to penetrate.

"Junk yard" or "salvage yard" means any outdoor establishment or place of business, which is
maintained, used, or operated for storing, keeping, buying or selling junk or salvage.

“Lot means a parcel of land whose boundaries have been established by a legal instrument such as a
recorded deed, court order, or a recorded plot which is recognized as a separate legal entity for
purposes of transfer of title and possessing frontage on at least one street improved to meet the town
standards for street construction.

"Lot area" means the area of a lot taken at its perimeter exclusive of any portion within a public or
private street right-of-way.

“Lot, corner” means a lot at the junction of and fronting on two or more intersecting streets.
“Lot coverage"” means the percentage of the lot area which is covered by impervious surfaces.

“Lot line"” means a line, including a property line or lease line, dividing one lot from another or from a
street or other public space.

"Lot line, front" means the street lot line from which access is taken. In the case of a corner lot, the lot
shall be considered to have two front lot lines and two side lot lines.

“Lot line, rear" means the lot line opposite the front lot line.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 6/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Lot line, side, means the lot lines that run generally perpendicular to or at an angle to the street or any
line that is not a front, street or rear lot line.

“Lot line, street” means any lot line that is also a street right-of-way.

“Lot width" means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines, measured between the points on
the side lot lines at which they are intersected by the required setback.

“Major land development” means a development plan that proposes one or more of the following:

A. A new public or private street, or dedication to public use of an existing street.
B. Buildings of 5,000 square feet or more of gross floor area.

C. Additions to existing nonresidential developments of ten or more percent of the existing gross
floor area.

D. A subdivision of four or more lots.
E. Apartment or multifamily development containing five or more units.
F. Wetlands or floodplain disturbance or stream encroachment.
"Manufactured home means a one-family dwelling unit fabricated in an off-site manufacturing facility for

installation or assembly at the building site, bearing a seal certifying that it was built in compliance with
the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Code.

"Minor land development means any development not qualifying as a major land development as
herein defined.

"Mobile home means a transportable one-family dwelling larger that 320 square feet, designed to be
used as a year-round residence. This definition does not include motor homes or recreational vehicles.

“Motor vehicle service establishment means a building or use which is intended to be used for fuel
sales, servicing, repairs, maintenance, or cleaning of motor vehicles.

"Net lot area" See lot area.

"Nonconforming building or use" means a building or a use of land or a building existing at the effective
date of the ordinance from which this section is derived which does not conform to the requirements of
this article.

“Nonconforming lot" means a lot legally existing at the effective date of the ordinance from which this
section is derived which does not conform to the requirements of the zoning district in which it is
located, such as lot area, coverage, width, setbacks, etc.

"Office” means a building or portion of a building wherein services are performed involving
predominantly administrative, data processing, professional or clerical operations.

"Open space” means land area to be left open and undeveloped as a natural resource preservation,
recreation and buffer yards as defined in this section.

"Parking space"” means an open space on a lot or in a garage, reserved exclusively for parking motor
vehicles, the area of which is not less than nine feet x 18 feet, and to which there is direct access to a
street, alley, driveway or vehicular access way.

"Principal building or use "means the main building or use on a lot in terms of size, areas and function.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 7/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Recreation, active" means recreational use areas or activities requiring formal facilities, such as ball
fields, courts, running and jogging trails, swimming pools, community centers, etc.

"Recreation, passive”" means recreational use areas or activities which require no special or formal
facilities or are natural areas. Passive recreation activities include but are not limited to bicycle riding,
walking, hiking, bird watching, etc.

"Residential professional office” means a professional office which is operated from a residential
property and which is limited to the practice of medicine, law, dentistry, architecture, engineering and
similar professional occupations.

"Restaurant” means any establishment at which food is sold for consumption on the premises to
patrons seated within an enclosed building.

"Salvage"” means any discarded material or articles, including scrap metallic or nonmetallic items, whole
or parts of vehicles and equipment, paper, glass, containers and structures, which is separated for
industrial processing or reprocessing and further used or reused.

"Sign" means any object, device, display or structure, or part thereof, situated outdoors or indoors,
which is used to advertise, identify, display, direct or attract attention to an object, service, event, or
location by any means, including words, letters, figures, design, symbols, fixtures, colors, illumination or
projected images and as further defined in this section.

"Special exception” means a form of permitted use, authorized by this article, under the jurisdiction of
the board of adjustment. The board of adjustment is empowered to grant permission for special
exceptions, consistent with the public interest, in compliance with the standards and procedures
established in this article.

"Story” means that portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the
next floor above it, or if there is no floor above it, then the space between the floor and the ceiling next
above it.

"Story, first" means the ground floor story of a building, provided its floor level is not more than four feet
below the mean lot level adjacent to the foundations.

"Story, half" means a story under a sloping roof at the top of the building, the floor of which is not more
than two feet below the wall plate.

"Street” means a strip of land comprising the entire area within the right-of-way, intended for use as a
means of vehicular and pedestrian circulation to provide access to more than one lot. However, the
establishment of a common driveway for access purposes for no more than three separate parcels
contiguous to one another shall not be considered a street as this term is defined.

"Street, arterial” means a street, which serves, or is designed to serve as a connection between uses
which generate heavy traffic volumes, or between other arterial streets.

"Street, collector” means a street, which serves or is designed to serve as the connection from local
streets to the arterial streets system.

"Street, cul-de-sac”" means a short, independent, local street having only one point of ingress and
egress, terminating in a circular turn-around or other approved termination.

"Street line" means a property line of a lot that coincides, with a right-of-way line of street also defined
as a street lot line.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 8/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Street, local” means a street, which serves or is designed to serve primarily as access to abutting
properties.

"Structure” means any man-made object having ascertainable stationary location on land or in the
water, whether or not affixed to the land.

"Structure, permanent” means a structure placed on or in the ground, or attached to another structure
in a fixed position.

"Structure, temporary” means a structure that is designed to be repeatedly erected or inflated, tents
and inflatable structures, or buildings that are picked up and moved.

"Subdivision, major" means any subdivision which does not qualify as a minor subdivision as herein
defined.

"Subdivision, minor" means a subdivision plan shall be deemed minor if all of the following conditions
are met:

A. The proposal does not involve the creation of more than three lots.

B. The proposal does not involve the construction or extension of streets or utilities.

C. The proposal does not require any variances.

D. The proposal does not involve any wetlands or floodplain disturbance.

"Townhouse" means a single-family attached dwelling unit, with a single unit going from ground to roof,
and with individual outside access.

"Use" means the specific purposes for which the land or building is designed, arranged, intended, or for
which it is or may be occupied or maintained.

"Yard" means an unoccupied space open to the sky on the same lot with a building or structure, the
depth of which is determined by the specific requirements of the zoning district in which it is located.

"Yard, front" means a yard extending the full width of the lot between street line and the principal
building erected thereon, the depth of which is equal to or exceeds the required setback.

"Yard, rear" means a yard extending the full width of the lot between the rear lot line and the principal
building.

"Yard, side" means a yard between the principal building and the side lot line extending from the street
line to the rear lot line.

(UDC 2002, § 104)
24.04.070 Applicability Of Regulations

A. No building shall hereafter be erected and no existing building shall be moved, structurally
altered, rebuilt, added to, enlarged, nor shall any building or land be used for any purpose other
than those included among the uses listed as permitted uses in each zone by this article and
meeting the requirements set forth in 24 Appendix A of this chapter, entitled Schedule of Area
and Bulk Requirements. No yard contiguous to any building shall be encroached upon or
reduced in any manner, except in conformity to the area and bulk requirements, offstreet
parking requirements, and all other regulations designated in this article for the zoning district in
which such building or space is located. In the event of any such unlawful encroachment or

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 9/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

reduction, such building or use shall be in violation of this article and the certificate of zoning
compliance shall be void.

B. Any structure or property in compliance with all zoning codes prior to adoption of the unified
development code specified herein shall be grandfathered from compliance with said codes.

(UDC 2002, § 200)
24.04.080 Preservation Of Natural Features

A. No structure shall be built within a riparian buffer area.

B. No persons, firm or corporation shall strip, excavate or otherwise remove top soil for sale or
other use other than on the premises from which it was taken, except in connection with the
construction or alteration of a building on such premises when excavation or grading is
incidental to such activity.

C. Existing natural resources, such as woodlands, individual mature trees, streams and
watercourses, drainage channels and important vistas and view-sheds shall be retained.
Whenever a development proposal is in conflict with the preservation of such natural features,
the Planning Commission may authorize their removal or relocation provided that, in their
opinion, there will be no substantial adverse impact upon the overall integrity of the community
or property values in the area, and no feasible alternative exists.

(UDC 2002, § 201)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.04.090 Regulations Applicable To All Zoning Districts

A. No lot shall have erected upon it more than one principal residential building.

B. No yard, setback or open space provided on a lot for the purpose of complying with the
provisions of this section shall be considered to provide a yard, setback or open space for any
other lot.

C. Every principal building shall be built upon a lot, which possesses frontage upon a street
improved to meet the town's requirements for street construction.

D. All yards facing on a street shall be considered front yards and shall conform to the minimum
front yard requirements for the zone in which it is located. Corner lots shall provide the minimum
front yard requirements for the respective zone for both front yards.

E. Where a building lot obtains frontage on a street, which the comprehensive plan or the official
map of the town indicates is proposed for right-of-way widening, the required front yard setback
area shall be measured from the proposed right-of-way line.

F. No front yard shall be used for open storage of boats, trailers, recreation vehicles or equipment
except for passenger automobile parking on driveways. Boats, trailers, recreation vehicles or
equipment shall be stored in side or rear yards only.

G. The overnight parking of trucks or commercial vehicles in a residential area shall be prohibited.

H. Accessory buildings or structures shall be located so as to conform to the required setbacks for
the zone in which the structure is located. Accessory buildings or structures shall be located to
the rear of the required front yard.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 10/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

I. The provisions of this section shall not apply to customary local utility distribution or collection
lines such as water, gas, telephone, or electric service. All facilities, such as pumping stations,
repeater stations and electric substations that require a structure abovegrade shall be subject to
the provisions of this section.

J. An ornamental fence or wall not more than 3 1/2 feet in height may project into or enclose any
front or side yard to a depth from the street line to the required depth of the front yard.

K. At the intersection of two or more streets, no hedge, fence, wall (other than a single post or tree)
or other such fixture which is higher than two feet above curb level, nor any obstruction to vision
shall be permitted in the triangular area formed by the intersecting street lines and a line joining
each 20 feet distant from said intersection along said street line.

(UDC 2002, § 202)

24.04.100 Submission Requirements

A. Minor Subdivision Or Land Development Plan. A submission for minor subdivision or land
development must contain the following information (when applicable).

1.

. Name and address of the owner and applicant.

© 00 N OO O A~ 0N

S G U U G G G G
© 00 N O o0~ WO NN -~ O

20.
21.
22.

Name of the subdivision or development.

. Name and address of the engineer or surveyor who prepared the plan.
. Written and graphic scale, not exceeding 1" = 50'".

. Sheet size of either 24" x 36" or 24" x 42".

. North arrow.

. Plan legend.

. Date of the original plan and all subsequent revision dates.

. Sheet number, if multiple sheets are used.

. A location map with a scale of no less than 1" = 500" indicating adjacent streets.
. Certification of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor.

. Certification of ownership.

. Certification of plan approval.

. Tax parcel numbers.

. Zoning district of the subject tract.

. Source of title.

. Survey datum and local benchmark.

. Total site gross and net acreage.

. Name of water supplier and the note "Water supply is subject to the State Department of

Natural Resources and Environmental Control and the Delaware Department of Health."

Sanitary sewage disposal method.
Number of existing and proposed lots or dwelling units.

Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

11/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.

30.
31.
32.

33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.

39.
40.
41.
42.

43.

44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.

52.

Print Preview
Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area.
Location of existing and proposed building and structures.
The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets.
Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection.
Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards.
Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks.

Calculation of required off-street parking spaces and number of existing and proposed
spaces.

Location of off-street loading areas.
Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways.

Location and design of all proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking space
and access aisle dimensions and directional arrows indicating proposed traffic circulation
patterns.

Existing and proposed building coverage.

Existing and proposed impervious coverage.

Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoining property owners.
Location of any water bodies and watercourses.

Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map panel number.

Location of any wetlands areas delineated during a time of seasonal high ground water
tables. If no wetlands present on site, a letter of nonexistence for wetlands is required.

Location and identification of any historic structures.
Location of all significant natural or manmade structures.
Existing and proposed deed restrictions, easements or protective covenants.

Grading plan indicating existing contours (at two foot intervals), proposed grading, spot
elevations and finished floor elevations and top and bottom of wall elevations for any
retaining walls over two feet.

Limit of existing tree masses and location, size and species of all individual trees over
six inch caliper.

A limit of disturbance line.

A soil erosion and sediment control plan.

Stormwater management plan.

Solid waste management plan.

Landscape plan.

A listing of all existing nonconforming buildings, uses or structures.
Digital copies of the submitted application packet.

Once the plan has final approval digital copies in CAD or other applicable engineering
software must be submitted to the Town Clerk and the Town Engineer.

Final Checklist by Town Engineer (Appendix C - Minor Development Checklist).

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 12/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

B. Major Subdivision Or Land Development Plan. A submission for major subdivision or land
development shall contain all of the information required for minor subdivision/land development
plan and the additional following information (if applicable):

1. A traffic impact study, including mitigation measures if deemed necessary by the study.

2. The name, right-of-way width, cartway width, profiles, cross sections and grading for all
proposed streets.

. Type, location, size, material of construction, slope and profiles for all proposed utilities.
. Location, size, material of construction slope and profiles for all proposed storm sewers.
. Location, grate elevation and invert elevation for all catchbasins, inlets and manholes.

. Location of all proposed fire hydrants.

. Phasing lines for phased developments.

. Sidewalk locations, pedestrian ways, bikeways, walkways.

© 00 N O o &~ W

. Proposed passive and active recreation areas.

10. Listing of any required variances.

11. Wetland report.

12. Floodplain study.

13. Construction details for all proposed improvements.

14. Final Checklist by Town Engineer (Appendix D - Major Development Checklist).

15. Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT) Pipe cover and lateral spreadsheet.

(UDC 2002, § 203)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.04.110 Violation And Penalties

Any person that shall violate the provisions of this article, or do any act or thing prohibited, or refuse to
do any act or thing required to be done, or refuse or fail to comply with an order of the building official
or an order of the board of adjustment, shall upon conviction thereof, be subject for each violation to a
forfeit fine not to exceed $100.00. In default to the payment of such fine imposed, such violator may be
subject to imprisonment not exceeding 30 days. Whenever such person shall have been officially
notified by the building official or by service of a summons in prosecution, or in any other official
manner that the person is committing a violation, each day's continuance of such violation after such
notification shall constitute a separate offense punishable by a like fine or penalty.

(UDC 2002, § 902)

24.08 Administration
24.08.010 Generally

24.08.020 Board Of Adjustment
24.08.030 Amendments
24.08.040 Planning_ Commission
24.08.050 Nonconforming Uses

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 13/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
24.08.010 Generally

A. Enforcement. It will be the duty of the town council to enforce the provisions of this chapter and
to refuse to issue any permit for any building or for the use of any premises which would violate
any of the provisions of this article. It shall also be the duty of all officers and employees of the
town to assist the town council by reporting any apparent violation in new construction,
reconstruction and land uses. The methods of administering this chapter and the procedures to
be followed in applying for permits shall be as follows:

1. No premises shall be used, no excavation for any building shall occur, and no building
structurally changed, altered, or occupied or used until a certificate of zoning compliance
shall have been issued by the town council, stating that the building or proposed use of a
building or proposed use of land complies with the provisions of this chapter.

2. It shall be the duty of the town council to keep a record of all applications for certificate of
zoning compliance, all certificates issued, all building permits, together with any
notations of any special conditions involved.

3. No building shall be erected, constructed, altered, moved, converted, extended or
enlarged without the owner first obtaining a building permit from the town council. No
such permit shall be issued until the applicant obtains a certificate of zoning compliance.
Routine maintenance that does not result in any change to the building will not require a
building permit. If the erection, construction, alteration, move, reconstruction, conversion,
extension or enlargement is such as to alter the outside dimension of the building, or to
increase lot coverage, no such permit shall be issued until the applicant obtains a
certificate of zoning compliance.

B. Construction Prior To Ordinance Adoption. Any building permit issued pursuant to any
ordinances which provided for the erection of a building or structure shall continue in full force
and effect, provided that the holder has substantially undertaken construction on the date of the
ordinance from which this chapter derives.

C. Expiration Timeline. Applicant shall have 18 months to record development plans after the date
of Town Council final approval.

(UDC 2002, §§ 900, 905)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.020 Board Of Adjustment

A. Created. The board of adjustment is hereby established in the manner prescribed by law. Such
board shall consist of three members. At least one member shall be a resident of the town who
is not a member of town council or an employee of the town. The town council shall approve all
appointments for a term of two years. Initial appointment of members shall be as follows: one
member for three years and one member for two years and one member for one year. Any
member of the board may be removed by a three-fifths vote of the full council. Vacancies shall
be filled for the unexpired term of any member whose position become vacant. If at any time a
member of the board of adjustment experiences a conflict of interest on his part, that member
must step down while the other members reach a decision.

B. Powers And Duties.
1. Powers Of The Board Of Adjustment. The board of adjustment shall have the following
powers:

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 14/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

a. To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is an error in any order,
requirement, decision or determination made by an administrative official in the
enforcement of the town's codes and the laws of the state and any amendment
thereto or to this chapter.

b. To hear or decide variances to the terms of this chapter upon which the board is
required to pass under this chapter.

c. To authorize upon appeal, in specific cases, such variance from the terms of this
chapter as will not be contrary to the public interest where owing to special
conditions or exceptional situations, a literal interpretation of the provisions of this
chapter will result in unnecessary hardship or exceptional practical difficulties to
the owner of property so that the spirit of this chapter shall be observed and
substantial justice done, provided such relief may be granted without substantial
detriment to the public good and without substantially impairing the intent and
purpose of the chapter.

d. In exercising the above-mentioned powers, the board of adjustment may reverse
or affirm, wholly or partially, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or
determination appealed from and may make such order, requirement, decision or
determination as ought to be made, and to that end shall have all powers of the
officer from whom the appeal is taken. Notices of such decision shall be given to
all parties in interest.

C. Meetings Of The Board Of Adjustment. A meeting shall be held at the call of the chair and at
such other times as the board may determine. Such chair or, in his absence, the acting chair
may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings of the board shall
be open to the public and the board shall keep the minutes of its proceedings, indicating the
vote of each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote. The board shall keep a
record of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be filed in the office of the
board and shall constitute a public record.

D. Appeals.

1. Appeals to the town council may be made by any person aggrieved of by any officer,

department or board or bureau of the municipality affected by a decision of the board of
adjustment. Such appeals shall be made within a reasonable time, as provided by the
rules of the board, by filing with the officer from whom the appeal is made and with the
board of adjustment a notice of appeal specifying the ground thereof. The officer from
whom that the appeal is taken shall transmit to the board all appeals constituting the
record upon which the action appealed from was taken.

. An appeal stays all proceeding in furtherance of the action appealed from unless the

officer from whom the appeal was taken certifies to the board that by reason of facts
stated in the certificate, a stay would in his opinion cause imminent peril to life or
property. In such case, proceedings shall not be stayed by the board or by the court of
competent jurisdiction on the application on notice to the officer from whom the appeal is
taken and on due cause shown.

. The board of adjustment shall fix a reasonable time from the hearing of the application or

appeal, giving public notice thereof as well as due notice to the parties in interest. Upon
the hearing any party may appear in person, by agent or attorney. Public notice of the
hearing shall consist of publication of legal notice at least 15 days prior to the hearing in
a newspaper of general circulation in the town. Such notice shall specify the time, place,
and nature of the hearing. The hearing shall be held not less than five days nor more
than ten days after final publication. Personal notice of such hearing shall be given to all

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 15/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

property owners within 200 feet of the property affected by said appeal. The board shall
provide written notification of the decision of said appeal within 60 days of the hearing.

(UDC 2002, §§ 901A, 901A1, 901B, 901C)
24.08.030 Amendments

A. Town Council Authority To Amend Regulations, Etc. The town council may from time to time
amend, change, modify, repeal or add any regulations, limitations, restrictions of this article,
including the zoning map. No such amendment, change, modification, repeal or addition shall
be adopted until after a public hearing is held thereon by the town council at which parties in
interest and citizens shall have an opportunity to be heard. Failure to give such notice shall not
invalidate any such amendment, change, modifications, repeal or addition. No amendment or
change shall become effective unless the ordinance proposing such amendment or change
shall first have been submitted to the Planning Commission for approval or disapproval or
recommendation, and the Planning Commission shall have 60 days after formal submission of
the proposed amendment or change for consideration and report. In the case of an unfavorable
report by the Planning Commission, such amendment or change shall not become effective
except by a favorable vote of three-fifths of the town council.

B. Petition To Be Accompanied By Necessary Information. The Planning Commission is hereby
granted the authority to require as a consideration of such proposal, other than one originating
within the council, that petition be submitted accompanied by such maps, charts, sketches, and
other information as the Planning Commission deems necessary for the proper and effective
consideration of such proposal, and to refuse to consider any proposal, and to refuse to
consider any proposal not complying with such requirement.

C. Public Hearing Required. No proposed change, amendment, modification or repeal of any
zoning regulation, restriction or boundary shall become effective until after a public hearing in
relation hereto shall have been held by the council, at which interested parties and citizens shall
have an opportunity to be heard. At least 15 days' notice of the time and place of such hearing
shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation.

D. Protests To Be Filed With Town Secretary. In the event of a protest against such changes, a
petition signed by the owners of 20 percent or more, either of the area of the lots included in
such proposed change or the properties immediately adjacent thereto extending 200 feet from
such proposed change, such amendment shall not become effective except for a favorable vote
of three-fifths of all members of council. All protests under this paragraph must be filed with the
town secretary at least one working day prior to the hearing date of the said proposal.

E. Failed Proposals. If, after due consideration, a proposal is denied, such proposal shall not be
eligible for reconsideration for a period of one year after final action by the town council, except
upon a favorable vote of four-fifths of the town council.

(UDC 2002, §§ 904A—904E)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.040 Planning Commission

A. Planning Commission. The Planning Commission is hereby established in the manner
prescribed by law. This commission shall consist of five members. At all times one member is to
be a member of the Board of Adjustment. All members are to be appointed by the town council
for a period of three years. Any member may be removed by a majority vote of the full council.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 16/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

Vacancies shall be filled for the un-expired term of any member whose position becomes
vacant. The duties of the Planning Commission shall be to review the zoning ordinance and to
advise the board of adjustment and town council of proposed amendments or changes in the
zoning ordinance on a yearly basis. The Planning Commission has the responsibility of updating
the zoning map and developing a comprehensive development plan.

B. Zoning Map. The boundaries of the districts described in TMC 24.12.010 paragraph A shall be
as shown upon the map attached to and made a part of this chapter, which shall be designated
the "the zoning map of the town." Said map and all notations, references and other data shown
thereon are hereby incorporated by reference into this chapter and shall be considered as much
a part of this chapter as if fully described herein.

(UDC 2002, §§ 907, 908)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 16-03 on 4/6/2016
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.050 Nonconforming Uses

A. Continuance. Except as otherwise provided in this article, the lawful use of land or buildings
existing at the date of the adoption of the ordinance from which this paragraph is derived may
be continued although such use or building does not conform to the regulations specified by this
section for the zone in which such land or building is located.

B. Expansion And Enlargement.
1. A nonconforming use of a building, structure or land may not be extended or enlarged.

2. A nonconforming use shall be considered terminated when the building, structure or
improvements are destroyed in excess of 50 percent of its fair market value, as
established by an appraisal prepared by a professional appraiser qualified to do
business in the state.

3. A nonconforming building or structure may be extended or enlarged only when:
a. Any new extension or enlargement conforms to the requirements of this chapter.

b. If the proposed extension or enlargement exceeds 50 percent of the gross floor
area of the existing building or structure, then the entire site and buildings must
be brought into conformance with this chapter.

c. Alteration of a building within an existing footprint is permitted, provided that the
alteration does not increase the degree of nonconformity.

C. Restoration.

1. Restoration of a nonconforming building or structure destroyed less than 50 percent of
its fair market value, as established by an appraisal prepared by a professional appraiser
qualified to do business in the state, shall be permitted, provided:

a. The restoration commences within six months of the date of destruction.

b. The commencement of restoration shall mean the acquisition of a building permit
and commencement of construction within six months from the date of
destruction.

2. Restoration of a nonconforming building or structure destroyed in excess of 50 percent
of its fair market value, as established by an appraisal prepared by a professional
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 17/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

appraiser qualified to do business in the state, shall not be permitted, except in
conformance with this chapter.

3. The replacement or repair of portions of a nonconforming building or structure declared
by the town building code official, to be a hazard or unsafe shall be permitted provided
the repairs or replacement do not increase the gross floor areas of the building or
increase the degree of nonconformity with the setback requirements and further
provided that the portions declared unsafe do not exceed 50 percent of the fair market
value of the whole structure, as established by an appraisal prepared by a professional
appraiser qualified to do business in the state.

D. Abandonment; Discontinuance. A nonconforming use shall be considered abandoned or
discontinued when there occurs a cessation of any use or activity by an apparent act or a failure
to act on the part of the tenant or owner to reinstate such use within a period of three months.

E. Reversion. No nonconforming use shall, after being changed into a conforming use, be changed
back to a nonconforming.

F. Changes Of Zoning. Whenever boundaries of a zoning district are changed so as to transfer an
area from one zone to another of different classification, the foregoing paragraph E shall also
apply to any nonconforming use.

(UDC 2002, §§ 600-605)

24.12 Establishment Of Zoning Districts
24.12.010 Generally

24.12.020 Preservation District (P)
24.12.030 Residential District (R)
24.12.040 Residential District (R-1)
24.12.050 Residential District (R-1A)
24.12.060 Residential District (R-2)
24.12.065 Residential District (R-3)
24.12.070 Commercial District (C)
24.12.080 Industrial District (1)

24.12.090 Residential Active Adult District (R-AA)
24.12.100 Suburban Reserve (SR)

24.12.010 Generally

A. Zoning Districts Divided. The town is hereby divided into zoning districts of such humber and
character as are necessary to achieve compatibility of uses within each district, to promote the
comprehensive plan for the town, and to serve the other purposes of this chapter described in
TMC 24.04.040. The town is hereby divided in to the following districts: Preservation (P),
Residential (R), Residential 1 (R-1), Residential 1A (R-1A), Residential 2 (R-2), Residential 3
(R-3), Residential Active Adult (R-AA), Suburban Reserve (SR), Commercial (C) and Industrial

().

B. Map Of Zoning Districts. Zoning districts established by this article are bounded and defined as
shown on the official map of the town, which together with all explanatory materials thereon is
hereby made a part of this Code. The location and boundaries of zoning districts are set forth
and indicated on said map or maps, entitled "Official Zoning District Map of Townsend."

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 18/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

ADOPTED AS THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP TOWN OF
.a—-‘_‘P TOWMN OF TOWNSEND
New Castis County, Deluware *1 TOWNSEND
TOWNSE,

Ordinance 16-08 New Castle County
Dedaware

Official Zoning Map
Zoning Districts

- p—

R, Rasdensal- 12 556 &F

129, Mmtidesiinl- 000 57

R, Apdoniuli0,003 5F

[ [T
- R-AA, Reskienial Scfrve Adull
-

I, Inabasisial

Basa Map Data
m""'"l“;: e Pmimadn
[Py— ﬁ.. e Bty
Bairdaim

Anas

_.1L‘ -] 800 1000 1$

Sounces

S L]

¥ - Fimikiag, e i ehie
meesibon of 0 Man Sheal amd BE8 Caidwell Commee
Ruadd on GHOMANRE,
Wiriar Boadies, Sirsame, Aairosds - Fralideg,
Parged Bounduries. Siraes - haw Casse Coumy

S B Mepeing Gerdces, Sownicaded JWEI00E,

Y b == "
\ ;, L\
\ P \ v,
5\ f -

i g e e NEVERSTTY o

hY '\_‘ ) =/l | _:'.'.!"..'.'::.L'“.m — FIAWARE
2 l M % | R e
! _ F o

" - I/ b W | issEmocscesme b SRSmeeesmme

C. Interpretation Of Zoning District Map. In interpreting the official zoning map of the town, the
following shall apply:

1. A district name or letter on the zoning map indicates that the regulations pertaining to
that district designated by the name or letter extend throughout the entire area of the
town bounded by the district boundary lines within which the name or letter is indicated,

except as otherwise provided by this article.

2. Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of various districts as shown on

the zoning map, the following rules shall apply:

a. Boundaries shown following, or approximately following, streets, alleys, or right-

of-way easements shall be construed to follow the centerline of such street or
right-of-way easements.

. Boundary lines shown as following, or approximately following, lot lines, section

lines, survey or other property lines, or municipal boundaries shall be construed
as co-terminus to said lines.

. Where a zoning boundary divides a property and less than 50 feet of that

property is in a different zoning district, the entire property shall be considered to
be within the district containing the largest area of the parcel.

. Boundaries shown as following or approximately following the centerline of

streams, rivers, or other continuously flowing watercourses shall be construed as
following the channel centerline of such watercourses. In the event of a natural
change in the location of such streams, rivers or other watercourses, the zoning
boundary shall be construed as moving with the channel centerline.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 19/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
(UDC 2002, §§ 300-302)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 16-08 on 8/24/2016

Amended by Ord. 17-06 on 12/20/2017

Amended by Ord. 18-02 on 4/4/2018

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.12.020 Preservation District (P)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to preserve undeveloped areas including but not limited
to open space, natural areas and woodlands, agricultural lands and areas of special
environmental, historic, cultural importance or potential recreational value. It is the intention of
this district to preserve such areas to conserve and protect the natural beauty of the town and to
enhance the local quality of life and the health and welfare of residents by providing access to
natural vistas, open space and the natural environment and opportunities for active and passive
recreation.

B. Permitted Uses.

1. In a Preservation (P) District no building, structure or land shall be used for any purpose
except for one of the following:

a. General agricultural, including the cultivation of field crops, orchard groves or
nurseries for the propagation of plants, turf, trees and shrubs.

b. Passive recreational uses, whether public or private.

2. The following uses may be permitted as when authorized by a special exception by the
board of adjustment:

a. Accessory farm buildings, including barns, stables, sheds, tool rooms, ships,
bins, tanks and silos.

b. Active public and private recreational uses, including unlighted ball parks, parks,
playing fields, and playgrounds. This paragraph shall not be interpreted to permit
commercial theme parks, carnivals or similar activities.

c. Swimming pools or game courts, including structures for keeping and storing of
recreational and related maintenance equipment, and those structures necessary
for proper operation of recreational lands, parks and open spaces, including
concession stands.

d. Single-family detached dwelling unit provided such dwelling unit is used as a
residence in conjunction with a farm or the cultivation of field crops.
3. The uses permitted in paragraph B,2 may be approved only when the following
requirements are met:

a. The proposed use will result in no negative impacts nor materially reduce the
quality of any adjoining open spaces, passive recreation areas or lands zoned
preservation.

b. When applicable a land development plan, as herein defined, shall be submitted.

c. The proposed use does not violate any town ordinances and otherwise conforms
to the requirements of this section.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 20/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

4. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, offstreet parking, loading
and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, §§ 401, 402)
24.12.030 Residential District (R)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain residential areas together with
residentially compatible neighborhood uses, such as schools, churches, community centers,
recreational areas and accessory uses incidental to and compatible with residential
neighborhoods.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1. In a Residential (R) District, no building, structure or lands may be used except for one
of the following purposes:

a. Single-family detached dwelling unit.
b. Garden, orchard or nursery, but not commercial greenhouse.

c. Public utility uses except electrical substations, relay stations, treatment plants
and pumping stations.

d. Public and private elementary, junior and senior high schools.
e. Park, playground and athletic field, recreation building and community center
when operated on a noncommercial basis for public recreation purposes.
2. In a Residential (R) District the following uses are permitted when accessory to a
principal use permitted in paragraph B,1:

a. Garden houses, tool houses, playhouses, or greenhouses incidental to a
residential use.

b. Private, noncommercial swimming pools and game courts for the use of
occupants and guests.

c. Private garages and detached workshops.

d. Storage of boats trailers, motor homes and recreational vehicles when not stored
in a front yard, when owned by the occupant.

e. The keeping of not more than six domestic animals, or nonvenomous insects and
reptiles outdoors and only for noncommercial use.
3. In a Residential (R) District the following uses are permitted when approved as a special
exception by the board of adjustments pursuant to the following requirements:
a. Home occupations when the following conditions are met:

(1) A member of the family residing in the dwelling will carry out the
occupation or profession contained in the home.

(2) The occupation or profession shall be carried out wholly within the
principal building or a structure accessory thereto already existing on the
property.

(3) Not more than one non-family member is employed.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 21/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

(4) Not more than 25 percent of the dwelling may be utilized for the home
occupation.

(5) No customers visit the subject property.
(6) No signs of any kind identifying the home occupation may be displayed.

(7) Deliveries are provided by vehicles no larger than a step van or panel
type truck.

(8) No offensive noise, vibration, smoke, dust, odors, heat or glare shall be
produced by the home occupation.

(9) The proposed occupation or profession does not violate any town
ordinances and otherwise conforms to the requirements of this section.

b. Residential professional offices when the following conditions are met:

(1) A residential professional office shall be permitted for a recognized
professional occupation.

(2) A land development application and plan must be submitted.

(3) The proposed residential professional office shall result in no negative
impacts upon the local community, especially with regard to on-street
parking, traffic congestion, refuse, noise, vibration, dust, odor, heat or
glare.

(4) The proposed occupation or profession does not violate any town
ordinances and otherwise conforms to the requirements of this section.

c. Home daycare when the following conditions are met:

(1) The maximum number of children (exclusive of children living in the home
and related to the caregiver by blood, marriage or legal adoption)
permitted to be cared for in any single home day care facility shall be six,
unless further restrictions by other codes.

(2) The caregiver shall be registered or licensed by the state.

(3) There shall be no structural change to the exterior of the dwelling to
accommodate the day care use unless normal revisions to a typical
dwelling.

(4) There shall be a minimum of 40 square feet of floor space per child,
inclusive of space occupied by furniture and equipment but exclusive of
closets, halls, bathrooms, kitchens and related areas, which shall be on
the first floor of the single-family dwelling.

(5) A minimum of 100 square feet of outdoor space per child shall be
available on the same lot.

(6) A driveway shall be available to provide safe and convenient offstreet
drop-off and pick-up.
d. Churches when the following conditions are met:
(1) Aland development application and plan must be submitted.

(2) The proposed church shall result in no negative impacts upon the local
community, especially with regard to on-street parking, traffic congestion,

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 22/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
refuse, noise, vibration, dust, odor, heat or glare.

(3) The proposed church does not violate any town ordinances and otherwise
conforms to the requirements of this section.

4. When subdivision and/or land development process is considered, pursuant to the
requirements of TMC 24.20.100 in a Residential (R) District a minimum of ten percent of
the gross tract area shall be dedicated to public use as open space for the purpose of
active and passive recreation.

5. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, offstreet parking, loading
and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, §§ 405, 406)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 15-03 on 3/4/2015

24.12.040 Residential District (R-1)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain a single family district with
modestly sized lots, together with compatible neighborhood uses such as schools, churches,
community centers, recreational areas and accessory uses incidental and compatible with
residential neighborhoods.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations. In Residential (R-1) Districts the permitted uses and
regulations shall be same as those contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

(UDC 2002, §§ 408, 409)
24.12.050 Residential District (R-1A)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain a single family district, together
with compatible neighborhood uses such as schools, churches, community centers, recreational
areas and accessory uses incidental and compatible with residential neighborhoods.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations. In Residential (R-1A) Districts the permitted uses and
regulations shall be same as those contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

(UDC 2002, §§ 411, 412)
24.12.060 Residential District (R-2),

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain a single-family residential
district with lot sizes reflecting the average lot in the section of the town existing at the time of
the original adoption of the zoning ordinance for the town, together with compatible
neighborhood uses such as schools, churches, community centers, recreational areas and
accessory uses incidental to and compatible with residential neighborhoods.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations. In Residential (R-2) Districts the permitted uses and
regulations shall be same as those contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

(UDC 2002, §§ 414, 415)

24.12.065 Residential District (R-3),
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 23/87




8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to accomplish the same objectives as in the R, R-1, R1-
A and R2 districts while affording a greater variety of dwelling and lot types. The purpose of this
district is to establish and maintain a multi-family residential district with lot sizes reflecting the
average lot in the section of the town existing at the time of the original adoption of the zoning
ordinance for the town, together with compatible neighborhood uses such as schools, churches,
community centers, recreational areas and accessory uses incidental to and compatible with
residential neighborhoods.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1. In Residential (R-3) Districts the permitted uses and regulations shall be same as those
contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

2. Townhomes meeting the following requirements.

a. Minimum Yard Requirements:

(1) Minimum lot area: 2,200 sq. ft.

(2) Minimum lot width: 20 ft.

(3) Minimum lot depth: 110 ft.

(4) Maximum height: 40 ft.

(5) Minimum front yard setback, principal dwelling 20 ft.

(6) Minimum front yard setback, open front porch, steps 6 ft.
(7) Minimum side yard setback: 12 ft. (20 ft for corner lot)
(8) Minimum rear yard setback: 20 ft.

(9) Maximum lot coverage: N/A

(10) Maximum of 7 units within a building footprint

3. Building scale and character standards:

a. To maintain Townsend's small-town character through building design guidelines

that address the overall appearance of townhouse dwellings through facade
design elements, all exterior design elements shall form an integrated
development and ensure that large buildings reduce their apparent mass and
bulk on elevations visible from the street or pedestrian routes to ensure that
buildings are based on human scale (i.e., the relationship of the size of the
building's features to the people that use the building).

4. The following requirements shall apply to all townhouse dwellings:

a. Building length of individual building facades defined as the continuous horizontal

distance, measured from end-wall to end-wall, shall not exceed 180 feet.

. Primary pedestrian entrances shall be facing and visible from the primary street

and a porch, covered stoop, or similar entry feature shall be located at the ground
floor exterior entrance of each townhouse dwelling unit to offer overhead
protection and provide shelter from inclement weather. Entrance doors are
encouraged to include architectural detailing such as contrasting paint color(s)
and decorative trim.

c. All townhouse buildings shall incorporate design elements that will break up large

expanses of uninterrupted building surfaces (blank walls). Along the facade of all

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 24/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
townhouse buildings, design elements shall occur at a minimum interval of 20

feet.
5. The following design elements shall be included:
a. Varying roof lines and forms:

(1) Roof lines shall be varied through combinations of roof heights and styles
that create variation and visual interest.

(2) Guidelines:

(A) Provide offsets or breaks in roof elevations of two (2) feet or
greater in height.

(B) Incorporate the roof pitch and materials of adjacent buildings into
carport or garage roofs.

b. Building facade colors and materials:

(1) At least two variations in color and materials shall be used in the
treatment of the building facade.

(2) Guidelines:

(A) Decorative patterns on exterior materials may include
scales/shingles, wainscoting, ornamentation, and similar features.

c. Bays, porches or balconies:
(1) Guidelines:

(A) Incorporate smaller-scale forms such as bays, recessed or
projecting balconies or porches and dormers into the design to
visually reduce the height and scale of the building and to
emphasize the definition of individual units.

d. Wall offsets.

(1) A wall offset is defined as a projection or recess of a facade wall of at
least two feet in depth. Wall offsets shall be incorporated onto those
building facades having a length of at least 20 feet or greater. Wall offsets
shall be a minimum of six feet in length.

e. Windows.

(1) Decorative window features, such as arched windows, transoms,
decorative pediments, and/or window shutters that are sized appropriately
and proportionally to the window shall be required on those facades
fronting on streets.

(2) Guidelines:
(A) Windows of varied shape, size, and placement are encouraged.

(B) The use of recessed windows, moldings, decorative trim and wood
frames to add three-dimensional quality and shadow lines to the
facade.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 25/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

f. Front yards.

(1) Landscaped front yards offer a welcoming and safe transition from public
to private space, define property lines, create a unique identity, buffer
noise and provide visual screening. A minimum of 50 percent of the open
areas in the front yard shall be landscaped with flowering or evergreens
shrubs and shall not exceed a maximum of three feet in height at
maturity. All grassed areas shall be sodded with a drought-resistant
grass.

g. A four-foot wide walkway constructed of concrete or decorative pavers shall

extend from the sidewalk to the exterior entrance of each townhouse dwelling
unit.

h. Off-street parking required minimum 2 spaces per unit. Ref to Division 3
guidelines. Additional parking in the amount 0.25 per unit must be provided for
overflow parking in the development.

lllustration 1

Varyimg ronfl forms & facaide colors

Projecting porches

Mustration - Example of Building Scale & Character Standards

lllustration 2

Recessed balvonies &
parches

Hlustration - Example of Building Scale and Character Standards

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 26/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

lllustration 3

Wail offsets & chonges in
facade colors & muatertaly

lllustration 4

Recassed talkkonies &

porchies

Hlustration - Example of Building Scale and Character Standards

C. Parking for Apartments and Townhomes.

1. No on-street parking permitted.

2. All parking spaces, aisles, and turning areas shall be located entirely within the served
property's lot lines and shall not encroach on any road, driveway, or other public right-of-
way. No parked vehicle shall overhang any road, sidewalk, access driveway, or public
right-of-way.

3. When the number of required off-street parking spaces results in a fractional space, the
fractional space shall be counted as one (1) parking space. If several uses occupy a
single parcel or building, the off-street parking and loading requirement shall be the
additive total for all these parcel's or building's uses;

4. In regard to parking requirement for apartments the following shall mandate available

spaces: 1.5 per 1 bedroom dwelling unit, 2 per 2 or 3 bedroom dwelling unit, 3.25 per 4
bedroom dwelling unit, 4.5 per 5+ bedroom dwelling unit; 1 additional guest parking
space per 5 dwelling units.

(UDC 2002, § 414)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 27/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

24.12.070 Commercial District (C)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to provide sufficient land area in appropriate locations for
a variety of commercial activities providing a diversity of goods and services to meet both the
needs of the local community as well as adjacent areas of the county. These areas should be

concentrated

primarily along certain existing thoroughfares where a general mixture of

commercial and service activities already exist. The Commercial (C) Districts of the town are not
to be characterized by extensive warehousing, frequent or heavy truck traffic, open storage of
materials or other nuisances such as excessive noise, odor and dust normally associated with
manufacturing and heavy industry. Land uses, businesses and buildings and structures
constructed to support the permitted use in the Commercial (C) Districts should be developed to
preserve, conserve and enhance the small town, pedestrian-oriented character of the town's

center areas.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1. In a Commercial (C) District, no building or premises shall be used and no building
erected or altered which is to be arranged, intended or designed to be used except for
one or more of the following uses:

a.
b.

C.

Churches or other places of worship.
Public and private elementary, junior and senior high schools.

Park, playground, athletic field, recreation buildings and community centers
operated on a noncommercial basis.

. Child and daycare centers, nursing homes, convalescent homes and rest homes.
. Medical or health clinic, medical office building, doctors' office and dentists' office.

. Public and private lodges and organizations, public and governmental buildings

or uses including town offices, fire stations and police stations.

. Public utility structures and uses, such as electrical substations, relay stations,

sewage treatment plants and pumping stations.

. Undertaker and funeral parlors.

. A single-family detached dwelling unit, when such unit is associated with a

permitted office or business or commercial use and occupied by the proprietor or
an employee of the said business.

. A multifamily dwelling is permitted on any floor above the first floor in accordance

with the regulations of this section pertaining to required area and bulk
regulations and other requirements of a residential district, provided that the first
floor is used in its entirety for a permitted office, business, or commercial use.

. Offices for professional services and administrative functions.
. Financial institutions, banks and loan companies.
. Barbershops and beauty parlors.

. Retail food stores such as bakeries, restaurants, coffee shops, candy,

convenience grocery stores, meat market, and delicatessens, excluding the
preparation of goods for sale off the premises.

. Drive-in restaurants and fast food establishments.

. Retail stores, which shall be limited to the sale of gifts, antiques, flowers, jewelry,

newspapers, hobbies, stationary, art supplies, consumer electronics, hardware,

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 28/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

clothing, drug stores, beverage or liquor stores, and books, excluding adult
bookstores and adult entertainment centers.

g. Repair and servicing, indoors or off-site, of any article for sale which is permitted
in this district.

r. Hotels, motels, bed and breakfasts, and motor lodges and tourist homes.

s. Animal hospital, veterinary office, or enclosed kennel, provided that such facility
is at least 300 feet from a residential district boundary.

t. Painting shop, upholstering shop (but not furniture manufacturing), furniture
sales, tire sales and service.

u. Automobile, truck, motorcycle or bus sales, service storage and repairs (but not
junk or salvage yards) and provided that major repair or storage of damaged
vehicles shall be inside a completely enclosed building.

v. Wholesale establishments.
2. In a Commercial (C) District the following uses are permitted when accessory to a
principal use permitted in TMC 24.12.060 paragraph B:
a. Any accessory use permitted in a residential district.
b. Storage of merchandise, equipment or office supplies normally carried in stock in
connection with a permitted business establishment.
3. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, offstreet parking, loading
and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.
4. Buffer Yards.

a. Whenever a commercial building, land use or district adjoins a residential
dwelling, land use or district a planted landscaped buffer shall be provided along
all property lines which adjoin the residential dwelling, land use or district.

b. The depth of the buffer yard shall be no less than 25 feet.

c. The buffer yard shall contain a combination of native plant material and, at a
minimum, contain the following:

(1) Deciduous canopy trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper at the time
of planting, at a maximum spacing of 30 feet on center.

(2) Evergreen trees, not less than six feet in height at the time of planting,
planted in a double staggered row of ten feet on center between plantings
in the same row and five feet on center between plantings in adjacent
staggered rows.

(3) Groupings of appropriate understory plantings in the form of deciduous
and evergreen ornamental and flowering shrub plantings, not less than 36
inches in height and planted at a maximum spacing of three feet on
center. Shrub plantings may be provided in the form of a hedge row or in
informal groupings, however, in either case, the total number of plantings
may not be less than the length of the buffer yard divided by the required
spacing.

(UDC 2002, §§ 417, 418)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 29/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM
HISTORY

Print Preview

Amended by Ord. 12-01 on 2/1/2012

24.12.080 Industrial District (I)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to provide sufficient land area in appropriate locations for
certain types of businesses and manufacturing uses that must be separated from other land
uses because of negative impacts and externalities that cannot be made compatible with other
uses. Industrial parks, which contain modern and well-maintained buildings that are extensively
landscaped, are the type of development which is encouraged by Industrial (I) District zoning. In
order to reserve lands for appropriate future industrial development and to avoid conflicts with
other uses, residential uses in this district are proscribed.

B. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1. Permitted Principal Uses. In an Industrial (1) Zoned District no building or premises shall
be used and no building shall be erected or altered which is arranged, intended or
designed to be used except for one or more of the following purposes:

a. Manufacturing, assembling, converting, finishing, cleaning, cooking, baking, or

any other manufacturing or industrial processing of goods, and devices provided
that fuel used for such processing or manufacturing shall be oil, gas, or
electricity.

. Any process involving cleaning, distribution, manufacturing, processing,

production, warehousing, or testing, except for the following: Manufacture of
concrete asphalt materials, corrosive acids, pigments, dyes, abattoir, storage of
oil, fuel such as coke, coal or petroleum products, storage in bulk of illuminating
or natural gas, freight terminal, radio broadcasting towers, ice manufacture or
storage, agricultural uses, raising of minks or foxes, airport facilities, automobile
service stations or public garage, paint or body shop, auction, automobile
reclamation, salvage yard, explosives including dynamite, fireworks or explosive
powder, gelatin, paint, oils, fertilizer, linoleum, cork products, alcohol, bleaching
compounds or soap, tanning or curing of hides, crude oil refining, rubber
treatment or manufacture, ore smelting, blast furnace, garbage or offal reduction
or dumping, asphalt manufacturing or refining, junk storage, toxic water or
radioactive waste storage or dumping, automobile wrecking or animal rendering.

. Printing, publishing, binding, packaging, storage, warehousing, transshipment

and distribution and trucking of material, subject to other provisions of this
section.

. Business, professional or administrative offices.

. Public utility uses and structures including electrical substations, relay stations,

sewage treatment plants and pumping stations.

. Bottling works, cleaning works or commercial laundry.

. Research, design, testing and development laboratories, except those involving

infectious and hazardous substances (as defined by the EPA or state and local
officials).

. Building materials, sales and storage yards provided they are stored inside a fully

enclosed building.

2. Permitted Accessory Uses. In an Industrial (I) District the following uses are permitted
when accessory to a principal use permitted in TMC 24.12.070 paragraph A,1:

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 30/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

a. Food service facilities incidental to, and located within any of the permitted uses
within this district, primarily for service to employees of such permitted uses,
provided:

(1) There shall be no entrance directly from the street to such facility.

(2) No sign relating to such facility shall be visible from outside the building.

(3) Facilities shall be so located and constructed to protect occupants of such
buildings from noise, traffic, odors, and interference with privacy.

b. Recreation facilities intended primarily for the use of the employees of such uses
permitted in this district.

3. Area And Bulk Regulations. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards,
offstreet parking, loading and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of
this chapter.

4. Buffer Yards.

a. Whenever an industrial building, land use or district adjoins a residential dwelling,
land use or district, a planted landscaped buffer shall be provided along all
property lines which adjoin the residential dwelling, land use or district.

b. The depth of the buffer yard shall be no less than 50 feet.

c. The buffer yard shall contain a combination of native materials and, at a
minimum, contain the following:

(1) Deciduous canopy trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper at the time
of planting, at a maximum spacing of 30 feet on center.

(2) Evergreen trees, not less than six feet in height at the time of planting,
planted in a double staggered row of ten feet on center between plantings
in the same row and five feet on center between plantings in adjacent
staggered rows.

(3) Appropriate understory plantings in the form of deciduous and evergreen
ornamental and flowering shrub plantings, not less than 36 inches in
height and planted at a maximum spacing of three feet on center. Shrub
plantings may be provided in the form of a hedge row or in informal
groupings, however, in either case, the total number of plantings may not
be less than the length of the buffer yard divided by the required spacing.

(4) A permanent opaque screening fence or wall to be erected behind the
required plantings in the buffer yard on the industrially zoned side of the
buffer yard.

5. Special Regulations. Notwithstanding any other subsequent requirements pertaining to
this district the following special regulations shall also apply:

a. The parking of motor vehicles associated with the industry within 75 feet of a
residential district is prohibited.

b. No building in which manufacturing or processing operations take place shall be
located closer than 150 feet to a residential district boundary line. This
requirement shall not apply to administrative or office buildings, or other buildings
which do not include processing or manufacturing operations.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 31/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

c. All uses permitted within this district shall comply with the limitations and
requirements set forth by the following performance standards including
expansion of existing industrial uses:

(1) Humidity, Glare Or Heat. Any operation producing excessive humidity in
the form of steam or moist air, or producing intensive glare or heat, shall
be performed within an enclosure and in such manner as not to be
perceptible at or beyond any lot line. Exposed sources of light shall be
shielded so as not to create a nuisance across lot lines.

(2) Vibration. Any industrial operation or activity, which shall cause, at any
time and at any point, perceptible earth borne vibration along the nearest
adjacent property line, is prohibited. Vibrations shall be measured using
the most current methods and techniques available.

(3) Radioactivity Or Electromagnetic Disturbance. No activities shall be
permitted which emit dangerous radioactivity at any point, or
electromagnetic disturbance affecting the operation at any point of any
equipment other than that of the creator of such disturbance.

(4) Liquid Or Solid Wastes. No discharge shall be permitted at any point into
any public sewer, private sewage disposal system or stream, or into the
ground except in accord with standards approved by the State
Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control or
standards equivalent to those approved by such department for similar
uses, or any materials of such nature or temperature as to contaminate
any other supply or otherwise cause the emission of dangerous or
offensive elements.

6. Performance Standards Procedures. An application for a building permit or a certificate
of zoning compliance for a use subject to performance standards shall be submitted to
the board of adjustment in duplicate and shall be referred by the board of adjustment to
the town council. The applicant shall submit in duplicate a plan of the proposed
machinery operations and products in accordance with rules prescribed by the town
council specifying the type of information required in such plans and an affidavit by the
applicant acknowledging the understanding of the applicable performance standards and
agreement to conform with same at all times. No applicant will be required to reveal any
secret processes and any information requested will be treated as confidential. The fee
for such application shall include the cost of special reports required to process the
applications as described below.

7. Expert Consultation. If there is any reasonable doubt as to the conformance with
performance standards, the board of adjustment shall refer the application for
investigation and report to the town council for one or more expert consultants qualified
to advise whether such proposal will conform to the applicable performance standards
specified herein. Such consultant shall make such report to the town council within 30
days after the receipt of said application. A copy of the report shall be furnished to the
applicant.

8. Decision Of The Board Of Adjustment. At the next regular meeting of the town council,
but in no event more than 30 days after submission of the consultants report, the board
of adjustment shall decide to authorize or deny the issuance of a building permit or
certificate of zoning compliance based upon the report concerning compliance with
performance standards of this section. Such decision shall be in the form of a written
report. The issuance of a building permit or certificate of zoning compliance shall be
conditioned on the applicant's installation and operations conforming to the applicable

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 32/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

performance standards and the applicant's payment of fees for service of the consultant
deemed reasonable and necessary by the town council.

(UDC 2002, §§ 420, 421)

24.12.090 Residential Active Adult District (R-AA)

A. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain a residential district that would
permit townhouses and condominiums, as well as single family homes, for active adult and
assisted living facilities. All property in a Residential Active Adult (R-AA) District shall be subject
to deed restrictions that comply with applicable federal law.

B. Permitted Uses.

1. In a Residential Active Adult (R-AA) District, no building, structure or land may be used

except for one of the following purposes:
a. Detached single-family dwelling units.
b. Condominiums.

c. General-purpose community centers, recreation areas, clubhouses and related
facilities.

d. Assisted living facilities.
e. Open spaces, conservation areas and facilities.

Any such use shall be deed-restricted in accordance with all applicable laws and
regulations to provide for an age-restricted, active adult community such that each
residential unit shall be owned or operated or lived in by at least one resident who is 55
years or older.

. All provisions of the Federal Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601 et seq.) shall be complied

with by the applicant to the satisfaction of the town.

. The form and wording of the proposed deed restrictions shall be submitted to the town

for review, as part of the application for preliminary site plan and/or subdivision approval.
The wording shall be reviewed, modified as necessary, and finally approved by the town
and incorporated within a developer's agreement between the developer and the town
as a condition of any approval granted by the town for an active adult, age restricted
housing development.

. All dwelling units that are to be part of the age restricted community shall be deed-

restricted to contain all necessary living arrangements on the first floor. This shall include
at least one bedroom and full sanitary facilities, including shower/tub installation, on the
first floor of the dwelling.

. Notwithstanding the minimum lot size requirements set forth in other provisions of this

Code, an active adult community shall be permitted a density of up to six dwelling units
per acre.

. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, off-street parking, loading

and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, §§ 423, 424)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 33/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
24.12.100 Suburban Reserve (SR)

A. Purpose.

1. This district is intended to be served with sewer and water in the future and rezoned
when the sewer construction is imminent. The district is also designed to permit limited
development that does not foreclose ultimate sewering of the area. The preservation of
large amounts of open space and agricultural land is encouraged in this district and such
land may be used for spray irrigation as permitted by this Chapter.

2. The countryside character of this district is designed to facilitate residential and
agricultural use. Should land develop before sewers are provided, it should be
accomplished in a manner which preserves available farmland and consolidates
development in such a way as to minimize the impact on the land.

3. Incentives shall be developed for open space development to preserve land that can be
farmed.

4. A number of special provisions apply to this district that are intended to be an incentive
for agriculture to continue, even as residential development occurs, by maximizing the
contiguous farmland and providing farm operators additional revenue sources.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.16 Vacant, Deteriorated Structures

24.16.010 Findings

24.16.020 Definitions - Vacant, Deteriorated Structures

24.16.030 Authorization

24.16.040 Emergency _Situation

24.16.050 Costs Of Improvements Or Demolition To Be Lien And A Debt
24.16.060 Expenditure Of Public Funds

24.16.070 Securing Open Areas Of Buildings And Structures

24.16.080 Unlawful Actions

24.16.010 Findings

Vacant structures constitute blight that effects the quality of life of the citizens of the town as well as
being public health and safety hazards.

(UDC 2002, § 425)

24.16.020 Definitions - Vacant, Deteriorated Structures

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

"Blighted property” means a structure is deemed blighted if it has been permitted to degrade to a point
that is detrimental to the safety, health, welfare or general aesthetics of the surrounding neighborhood.

"Emergency situation"” means a property or structure is in such condition as to cause an immediate
danger to the public health and safety of the community.

"Vacant" means no one resides in it for a period of 45 days. A commercial or industrial structure is
deemed vacant if it is not used for the commercial or industrial use to which was previously utilized or
for any other permissible use for a period of 45 days.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 34/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
(UDC 2002, § 425A)

24.16.030 Authorization

A. The town is authorized to initiate the making of improvements to the exteriors of vacant
buildings or structures in accordance with this section. Furthermore, the town also has the
authority to order the demolition of a vacant building in the event that the structure is not
salvageable and poses a risk to safety. The town may also authorize work on a vacant structure
if the appearance has a substantial impact on the property values of other buildings or
structures within the vicinity of such vacant building or structure.

B. Exterior improvements, authorized herein, may include, but are not limited to: Repairs to or
replacement of any of the structural components of such building or structure, sidewalks in the
right-of-way or on the lot which this building or structure is located, steps, porches, railing,
columns, windows, doors, exterior painting, brick pointing and roofing, and any other repairs or
replacements deemed appropriate to protect and secure the structural integrity of the building or
structure and to prevent further damage that would render the building or structure unsafe. In
the event that the building is not salvageable and/or poses a safety risk, the town has the
authority to order the demolition of the building. The costs incurred by the town shall be
recorded by lien in accordance with these provisions.

C. When exterior improvements have been authorized by the town council, the town shall provide
notice to the record owner of the subject building or structure and to any record lienholder that
such exterior improvements will be undertaken and the date of commencement of the same. For
purposes of this paragraph, the mailing of a certified letter, return receipt requested, at least 30
days prior to the commencement of the exterior improvements, to the last known address of the
record owner or lienholders and notifying same of the address of the property to be improved,
the tax parcel number, the condition of the property and the legal right of the town to obtain a
judgment against the owner and a lien against the property after completion of the exterior
improvements, shall be deemed to be sufficient notice. In the event that the owner makes no
attempt to remedy the situation in 30 days after sending the notice, the town then has the right
to exercise its authority to perform exterior improvements and/or demolition to said building.
After 30 days has expired all costs generated by the town, including legal fees, engineering
fees, and construction costs by the town's contractor for the exterior work on the vacant house
shall be recorded by lien in accordance with these provisions and will be the direct responsibility
of the owner.

D. The town has the option of filing an action in a justice of the peace court to compel the owner to
make the necessary improvements to the property or to demolish the structure. This action can
be brought 30 days after notice as set forth in paragraph B. All costs of such a proceeding
including court costs, legal fees, engineering fees and expert witness fees shall be the
responsibility of the owner and shall be entered as a lien on the property.

E. Liens are recorded in a lien book maintained by the town. Liens may be transferred to the
superior court of the state.

(UDC 2002, § 425B)
24.16.040 Emergency Situation

If there exists an emergency situation the town has the authority to initiate the necessary improvements
to eliminate the emergency or to demolish the property without prior notification to the owner before
commencing improvements or demolition. The town shall make reasonable efforts to notify the owner
as soon as possible. The town shall advise the owner of the nature of the work performed and its costs
within a reasonable period of time.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 35/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
(UDC 2002, § 425C)

24.16.050 Costs Of Improvements Or Demolition To Be Lien And A Debt

A. Whatever expenses are incurred in relation to authorized exterior improvements and/or
demolition pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid by the town out of funds in the treasury, and
the owner shall be jointly and severally liable to the town for the full amount so expended.
Whenever exterior improvements costs have been incurred as aforesaid, the expenditure of
public funds for exterior improvements or demolition to any building or structure deemed to be
unsafe, following notice to the owners, the costs so incurred, with interest to be levied at a rate
of 18 percent accrued annually from the date of expenditure, shall be reimbursed to the town,
on demand, by the person who were the owner of such building or structure at the time such
work of exterior improvement or demolition commenced.

B. The town may maintain an action of law in debt against the owner to recover the sums of money
so expended, plus interest at a rate of 18 percent accrued annually, costs and legal fees.

(UDC 2002, § 425D)
24.16.060 Expenditure Of Public Funds

A. When the town expends public funds for the purpose of exterior improvements and/or
demolition to any vacant building or structure deemed unsafe and after such notice has been
given, the town may enter a lien for the amount so expended in a lien book maintained by the
town. The lien may be transferred to the superior court of the state.

B. The amount of the lien shall include the total cost of the improvements, all court costs, all legal
fees, and engineering fees, and all interest accrued thereon, on the lands and premises on
which such work of exterior improvements and/or demolition was performed.

(UDC 2002, § 425E)
24.16.070 Securing Open Areas Of Buildings And Structures

A. Violations. 1t shall be unlawful for any owner, agent, or person in control of any building or
structure which is vacant and open or otherwise unsafe to fail to secure and board up the open
areas of any such building. If, after a reasonable time, the building or structure is not secured,
but rather it remains vacant and open otherwise, unsafe, an authorized agent or employee of
the town may enter upon the premises, building or structure and secure or board up the open
areas of such building or structure, or cause the same to be done. If the authorized agent or
employee of the town is denied entrance to the premises, building or structure for purposes of
securing and boarding up the open areas of such building or structure, he may, upon a showing
of probable cause, obtain a warrant from a justice of the peace for purposes of entering and
securing and boarding up the subject building or structure.

B. Cost Incurred. The owner of the subject building or structure shall be jointly and severally liable
to the town for the full amount so expended in securing and boarding it up. The owner, agent or
person in control of such building or structure shall reimburse the town for all costs incurred by
the town in so securing or boarding up such building or structure. The town may maintain an
action of law in debt or assumpsit's against such owner to recover the amount of money so
expended, plus lawful interest, costs and legal fees.

C. Reimbursement Of Town At Time Of Sentencing Of The Violator. When any persons are found
guilty, whether by trial or by admission, of violating provisions of this section, in instances in
which such person, at the time of sentencing for such violation, also has not reimbursed the

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 36/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

town for costs incurred by the town in securing and boarding up the open areas of any building
or structure regarding which such person shall be found guilty, the justice of the peace shall
order such person to make full restitution to the town for such costs in addition to and not in lieu

of any fine which the court may impose.

(UDC 2002, § 425F)
24.16.080 Unlawful Actions

A. It shall be unlawful to permit a building or structure to be vacant and boarded up for a period

exceeding 45 days.

1. A first offense shall be punishable by a fine not less than $200.00 nor more than $500.00

or by a term of imprisonment of not more than 30 days or both.

2. A subsequent like offense shall be punishable by a fine of not less than $500.00 nor

more then $1,000.00 or by a term of imprisonment of not more than 60 days or both.

3. Each day a building or structure is vacant and boarded up for a period in excess of 45

days constitutes a separate offense.

B. It shall be within the discretion of the town to grant an extension of time to permit a vacant
building to remain boarded up in excess of 45 days, but no more than six months, if active

rehabilitation of the structure is on going and the following requirements are met:

1. The owner of the property must submit a written letter to the town stating specific work

taking place or to take place, including a time table of each aspect of the rehabilitation.

2. All necessary building permits must be acquired, or if previously acquired, must be

active.

3. The work being performed must be continual throughout the entire period the building

remains boarded.

(UDC 2002, § 425G)

24.20 Design Standards

24.20.010 Streets And Rights-Of-Way
24.20.020 Parking Requirements
24.20.030 Loading Requirements
24.20.040 Stormwater Management
24.20.050 Grading And Erosion Control
24.20.060 Utilities

24.20.070 Landscaping

24.20.080 Fences

24.20.090 Lighting

24.20.100 Open Space

24.20.010 Streets And Rights-Of-Way

A. Street Design Objectives.

1. New streets constructed as a part of a subdivision or land development proposal or
extensions and reconstruction of existing streets shall be designed to achieve the

following objectives:

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

37/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

a. Support the current and future need for safe and convenient vehicular circulation.

b. Support the current and future need for safe, convenient and accessible
pedestrian circulation.

c. Integrate new streets into the town's existing street network by extending and,
respecting the existing grid character of the town's historic street pattern.

d. Limit the need for excessive grading, stormwater management and disturbance
of environmentally sensitive areas.

2. Street Network.

a. Whenever possible, new development shall incorporate the extension of the
town's existing streets and rights-of-way.

b. Where topography, site size and shape permits, new development shall to the
greatest extent possible utilize a grid system of streets, consisting of a formal
block layout, right-angled intersections and through streets to expand upon the
town's historic street pattern. Dead-end streets shall be avoided whenever
possible.

c. Where dead-end streets cannot be avoided, the right-of-way of such streets shall
be extended to the property boundary to support future extension.

d. All developments shall include a minimum of two access points to a collector or
arterial street.

e. When a vehicular connection is not provided, because of physical or
environmental restraints, between residential developments, a pedestrian
connection must be provided.

B. Cul-De-Sac Streets.

1. Cul-de-sac streets may be used only when, due to physical or environmental constraints,
a thru street connection cannot be achieved.

2. In any case, a cul-de-sac street may provide access for no more than five dwelling units.

3. Cul-de-sacs shall not exceed two hundred and fifty (250) to five hundred (500) feet in
length depending on the density and topography. Length by density is to be approved by
the Town Engineer. Inside diameter of cul-de-sacs is to be no less than 100’ with grass
or landscaping in center.

C. Right-Of-Way And Cartway Widths.

1. The minimum right-of-way width and cartway widths for new streets shall be according to
the following schedule:

Street type Right-of-way width Cartway width
Pursuant to DelDOT
Requirements
Pursuant to DelDOT
Requirements

Pursuant to DelDOT
Requirements

Arterial Minimum 28 feet

Collector Minimum 32 feet

Local (Cul-de-sac) See paragraph B,3

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 38/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. When a subdivision or land development obtains frontage on a street possessing
insufficient right-of-way or cartway width the applicant shall be required to dedicate one-
half of the necessary additional right-of-way or cartway width, measured from the
existing centerline of the street, to meet the ultimate right-of-way and cartway width
requirements of paragraph C,1.

a. Turnarounds, independent of the parking bay areas, must be provided at the end
of the streets to permit maneuvering of service and emergency type vehicles.
Circular turnarounds are preferred; alternate designs reflecting the number of
dwelling units and length of street must have the Planning Commission’s
approval.

b. The number of dwelling units on any non-collector street shall not exceed 50.

c. Any subdivision greater than 35 dwelling units must be designed in a manner to
provide a collector street system. Collector streets will be designed in accordance
with the following:

(1) A collector street serving a community of 35 or more dwelling units shall
have a minimum right-of-way width of sixty (60) feet and a street width of
30 feet, gutter line to gutter line.

(2) A collector street serving a community of 300 dwelling units or more shall
not have lots fronting on it.

D. Street Alignment.

1. Horizontal Alignment. To ensure adequate sight distance, the minimum centerline radii
for horizontal curves shall be as follows:

a. Local street: 150 feet.

b. Collector street: 300 feet.

c. Arterial street: 500 feet.

2. Vertical Alignment. Vertical curves shall be utilized at changes of grade exceeding one
percent and shall be designed to provide the following minimum sight distance:

a. Local street: 100 feet.

b. Collector street: 200 feet.

c. Arterial street: 400 feet.

E. Street Grades.
1. The minimum centerline grade for all streets shall be one half of a percent (0.5%).

2. The maximum centerline grade for local streets shall be ten percent. The maximum
centerline grade for collector of arterial streets shall be six percent.

3. Where the grade of any street at the approach to an intersection exceeds seven percent,
a leveling area shall be provided having not greater than four percent grade for a
distance of 25 feet measured from the nearest right-of-way line of the intersecting street.
F. Intersections.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 39/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

. Streets shall be laid out to intersect as nearly as possible at right angles. No street shall

intersect another at an angle of less than 60 degrees.

2. Multiple intersections involving the junction of more than two streets are prohibited.

. Clear sight triangles of 75 feet measured along street centerlines from their point of

intersection shall be provided at all street intersections and no buildings or structures
shall be permitted within said sight triangle.

. To the fullest extent possible, intersections shall be located not less than 800 feet apart,

measured centerline to centerline.
Streets entering opposite of another street shall be laid out directly opposite one another
or with a minimum off-set of 150 feet between their centerline.

. The minimum curb radii at street intersections shall be 15 feet for intersections involving

only local streets and 25 feet for intersection involving collector roads and radii as
deemed suitable by DelDOT for arterial roadways.

G. Driveways.

1. Driveways may be constructed no closer than 50 feet from any intersection.
2. The maximum width of any driveway shall be 30 feet.

3. Sites with a frontage of 50 feet or less shall have no more than one driveway for every

street on which the site obtains frontage. In no case shall a site have more than two
driveway openings on any street.

H. Sidewalks.

1. All streets in the town shall be equipped with sidewalks on both sides of the street.

2. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width. Sidewalks in the town center, in

areas of high pedestrian traffic, adjacent to schools and churches, places of public
assembly and along major streets shall be of greater width, as directed by the town
engineer.

3. Developers shall be required to install new sidewalks or repair damaged sidewalks along

all roadways upon which their development obtains frontage.

4. All street intersections, driveways or other interruptions of sidewalks s be complaint with

the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).

I. Street Construction. All streets, sidewalks, driveway aprons, depressed curbs, handicap ramps,
curbs and gutters shall be constructed according to DelDOT standards and specifications.

J. Street Names. The selection of subdivision and street names shall be coordinated with the post
office and the New Castle County Department of Public Safety and Emergency
Communications to avoid possible duplication. All street names shall be subject to the review
and approval of the Planning Commission. All street names must be submitted pursuant to TMC
24.08.030 paragraph E in digital format.

(UDC 2002, §§ 500A-500K)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.020 Parking Requirements

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 40/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
A. General Parking Provisions.

1. Parking spaces shall be provided for all new development, including new construction
and expansion of existing buildings, structures, or uses according to the requirements of
this article. Parking areas shall be paved with a durable all-weather surface and provided
on the same lot as the use for which they are intended to serve. Adequate vehicle
access and maneuvering areas shall be provided for all parking areas. Areas reserved
for parking space, drive aisles and access ways shall not be used for any other purpose.
All parking spaces shall be clearly striped, except for parking spaces designated for
single-family detached or semidetached dwellings.

2. The collective provision of parking areas for two or more buildings or uses shall not be
less than the total parking required for the individual buildings or uses calculated
separately.

3. All parking areas and driveways serving commercial and industrial uses shall be
adequately illuminated during the hours between sunset and sunrise when the use is in
operation. Adequate shielding shall be provided for nonresidential parking lot lighting to
protect adjacent residential districts from glare of such lights and from automobile
headlights.

4. For the purpose of these regulations, an parking area shall be a minimum of nine feet
wide and 18 feet long, exclusive of drive aisles. All parking spaces shall be connected to
a public street or alley by an all-weather driveway with a durable surface. Vehicular drive
aisles and access ways shall be sufficiently designed to afford vehicle access and
maneuvering without requiring another automobile to be moved. Drive aisles shall be a
minimum of 24 feet in width for two-way traffic and 18 feet for one-way traffic.

5. Parking spaces shall be adequately drained to eliminate standing water and prevent
stormwater run-off to adjoining properties, public streets and alleys (driveways in
residential districts excluded). Parking shall be maintained in a clean, orderly and dust-
free condition at the expense of the owner or lessee and shall not be used for sales,
repairs, dismantling or servicing of any vehicles, or storage of equipment or suppliers.

6. All parking must be off-street or a parking lot be provided.
B. Parking Areas In Residential Districts. All parking spaces, aisles, and turning areas shall be
located entirely within the served property's lot lines and shall not encroach on any road,

driveway, or other public right-of-way. No parked vehicle shall overhang any road, sidewalk,
access driveway, or public right-of-way.

1. The establishment of any parking areas having the capacity of four or more automobiles
shall be subject to the following restrictions:

a. Parking areas shall be used solely for the periodic parking of private passenger
automobiles (noncommercial).

b. Parking areas shall not extend into any required front yard areas, except, for
driveways.

c. Parking areas shall be attractively landscaped.
2. No boat or recreation vehicle or utility trailer parking shall be allowed in front yards.

C. Parking Areas In Commercial And Industrial Areas.

1. Parking shall be effectively screened from any residential district pursuant to the
requirements of paragraph E.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 41/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. Parking areas may be located in any yard, but shall not be closer than 15 feet to any
street line or property line.

3. Driveways used as means of ingress or egress for nonresidential parking areas shall be
not less than 20 feet or more than 30 feet in width. No curb cut shall be located closer
than 75 to the intersection of two public streets measured by extending the curblines to
the point of intersection. Only one driveway shall be permitted for lots of less than 100
feet in width. One additional driveway shall be permitted for each additional 100 feet of
lot width.

4. All parking spaces, aisles, and turning areas shall be located entirely within the served
property's lot lines and shall not encroach on any road, driveway, or other public right-of-
way. No parked vehicle shall overhang any road, sidewalk, access driveway, or public
right-of-way.

D. Parking Requirements.

1. Residential. 2 parking spaces off-street.

2. Commercial (office).

a. Bank/financial: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
b. General: 4 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
c. Government: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

d. Medical: 4 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

3. Commercial (retail/service).

a. Auto, boat, truck and heavy machinery sales: five spaces minimum + one space
for each 1,000 square feet of floor area and ground floor area devoted to sales,
service and display.

(op

. Bed and breakfast: one per guest room.
. Fitness/health club: one space for each 1,000 gross square feet.
. Funeral homes: eight spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

. Furniture and carpet stores: five + one per 1,000 gross square feet.

- O O o

. General: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

. Hardware, paint and home improvements: four per 1000 gross square feet.

> @

Hotel/motels: one per room + spaces for restaurants, lounges, meeting rooms,
banquet facilities, etc.

Motor vehicle service: four spaces for every bay + one/employee.

j. Personal service: four spaces per 1,000 gross square feet.

k. Restaurants: nine space for each 1,000 gross square feet.

|. Restaurants (fast-food/take-out) 15 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
m. Roadside stand: one space per 250 square feet. of sales and display area.
n. Shopping center: 4 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

0. Veterinary/pet grooming: 3 1/2 spaces per 1,000 gross square feet.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 42/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

p. Building materials: two for each 1,000 gross square feet. (five space minimum).

4. Industrial Uses.
a. Warehousing/storage: five spaces + one-half spaces/1,000 gross square feet.
b. Industrial/manufacturing: one space for each employee on largest shift of
employment + one-half spaces/1,00 gross square feet.
5. Institutional/governmental Uses.

a. Clubs and associations: (with no food service) six spaces for each 1,000 gross
square feet (with food service)/ten spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

b. Day care, kindergarten, pre-school: 3 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square
feet.

c. Fire station: four spaces for each bay + ten spaces for each 10,000 gross square
feet of assembly areas.

d. Government offices: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
e. Library/museum: 3 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
f. Nursing home: 33 spaces for bedroom.

g. Places of public assembly and churches: one space for each four seats or ten
spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet whichever is greater.

h. Police station: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
i. Post office: five spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

j. Schools, elementary and junior: two spaces for each classroom and spaces +
one space for every five seats or 7 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet
whichever is greater, for assembly areas.

k. High school and post-secondary institutions: ten spaces for each classroom +
one space for every five seats or 7 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet
whichever is greater, for assembly areas.

I. Group homes, institutional uses residential monasteries and convents: one space
for each three-fourths bedroom.
6. Recreation Uses.
a. Bowling alleys: four spaces for each lane + two per pool table.
b. Skating rinks: one space for each 100 square feet of floor area.

c. Theaters: one space for every four seats or ten per 1,000 square feet gross
square feet whichever is greater.

E. Buffering And Landscaping Requirements For Parking Areas. All parking areas containing five
or more spaces shall be buffered from street views and from adjoining residential areas by
planted landscaped buffer and shall contain additional interior landscaping as specified below:

1. A continuous hedge, consisting of evergreen plantings a maximum of three feet on
center and 36 inches in height.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 43/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. Deciduous shade trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper, planted on the perimeter of
parking areas at a maximum of 30 feet on center.

3. Deciduous shade trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper distributed throughout.

(UDC 2002, §§ 501A-501E)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.030 Loading Requirements

A. Required Number Of Loading Bays.

1. For retail stores, shopping centers, supermarkets, restaurants, and storage warehouses,
the number of off-street loading spaces shall be as follows:

a. One bay for buildings with 3,500--8,000 gross square feet.
b. Two bays for buildings with 8,001--20,000 gross square feet.

c. One additional loading bay for each additional 20,000 gross square feet not
exceeding a maximum of four loading bays.

2. For office buildings, automobile dealerships, motels, and hotels, the number of loading
bays shall be provided as follows:

a. One bay for buildings with 8,000--20,000 gross square feet.

b. One additional bay for each additional 50,000 gross square feet, not to exceed a
maximum of three bays.

3. For manufacturing and industrial uses, the applicant shall document the number of bays
required.

4. Dimensions as follows:

a. Each outdoor loading bay area’s minimum dimensions shall be twelve (12) feet
wide and sixty (60) feet long. At no time shall any part of a truck or van be
allowed to extend into a public thoroughfare or right-of-way while the truck or van
is being loaded or unloaded. If the outdoor loading area is covered, but not totally
enclosed, the minimum height of the outdoor loading bay area shall be fourteen
(14) feet.

b. Maneuvering Space. Adequate off-street truck maneuvering space shall be
provided on lot and not within any public street right-of-way or other public lands.

B. Screening. All off-street loading areas shall be completely and effectively screened from street
views and residential areas by means of planted landscaped buffers and/or walls.

(UDC 2002, §§ 502A, 502B)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.040 Stormwater Management

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 44/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

A. Plan.

1. A development resulting in a net increase of impervious surface or disturbance greater
than 5,000 sq. ft. on any lot shall be required to prepare and submit a stormwater
management plan, indicating the methods and means by which post-development rate
of stormwater runoff from the site will be reduced to the pre-development run-off
condition.

2. The developer may utilize on-site detention or retention systems constructed above or
below ground or may install such off-site improvements necessary to accommodate the
increase in run-off.

a. High density developments with post-development impervious surfaces of 50% or
more must include half of the total impervious area(s) with pervious surfaces,
such as permeable pavers.

3. All stormwater management facilities shall be designed in accordance with the State of
Delaware Sediment and Stormwater Regulations and will be subject to the review and
approval of the Town Engineer.

4. Storm sewers.

a. All storm sewer piping, inlets, catchbasins, culverts and manholes shall be
designed and constructed pursuant to DelDOT standards and specifications.

b. Storm sewers shall be constructed within public rights-of-way or within an
appropriate easement.

5. Digital copies of the stormwater plans must be submitted to the Town.

(UDC 2002, § 503A)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.050 Grading And Erosion Control

A. Grading Plans. All proposals for development shall be accompanied by a grading plan,
indicating existing contours at a minimum of two-foot intervals, proposed grading, finished floor
elevations and spot elevations sufficient to describe the extent of all grading activities as well as
existing and proposed drainage patterns on the site.

B. Grading Design.

1. Site grading shall be accomplished in a manner so as not to disrupt existing drainage
patterns. Site grading shall seek to provide positive drainage away from buildings and
vehicular and pedestrian circulation routes while avoiding the creation of architectural
barriers and areas of ponds and standing water.

2. In addition to the requirements of TMC 24.20.010 paragraph E, development proposals
shall be designed to be consistent with the following design standards:

a. Minimum grade for paved surfaces shall be one half of a percent (0.5%).
b. Maximum grade for parking areas shall be five percent.

c. Maximum grade for residential driveways shall be ten percent.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 45/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

d. Minimum slope of drainage swales shall be between one and two percent
depending on the inclusion of an underdrain, and the design must be approved
by the Town Engineer.

e. Minimum slope of lawn areas shall be two percent.
f. Maximum slope for lawn areas shall be 3:1.
3. Site grading which exceeds a 3:1 slope shall be protected by temporary erosion control
matting and planted with an appropriate ground cover.
4. Site grading shall be designed in accordance with the regulations of the Americans with
Disability Act Accessibility Design Guidelines (ADAAG).
C. Retaining Walls.

1. Grading plans shall indicate the top-of-wall and bottom-of-wall elevations for all retaining
walls.

2. Design calculations and construction details must be submitted for retaining walls over
three feet in height.

D. Erosion Control. All grading plans shall contain appropriate soil erosion and sediment control
measures in accordance with the applicable regulations of the State of Delaware Sediment and
Stormwater Regulations.

(UDC 2002, §§ 504A-504D)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.060 Utilities

A. Sanitary Sewer. All proposed sanitary sewer systems shall be designed in accordance with the
standards and specification of the county.

B. Water. All proposed water systems shall be designed in accordance with the standards and
specifications of the local water provider.

(UDC 2002, §§ 505A, 505B)

24.20.070 Landscaping

A. Landscape Plan. When required pursuant to the requirements of TMC 24.12.060 paragraph B,
TMC 24.12.070 paragraph B,4, TMC 24.20.020 paragraph E, TMC 24.20.030 paragraph B or
paragraph B, a landscape plan, prepared by a landscape architect licensed in the state, must be
submitted indicating the location, species (common and botanical names), size and condition of
all proposed plantings.

B. Street Shade Trees.

1. All development proposals shall be required to plant street shade trees along all
proposed streets in the town. The provisions shall apply for both residential and
nonresidential development.

2. When development occurs on an existing street, where currently no shade trees exist,
the provisions of this paragraph shall also apply.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 46/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

3. Street shade trees shall be planted at a maximum spacing of 40 feet on center and shall
be a minimum caliper of 3 1/2 inches.

4. Street shade trees shall be planted in an appropriate manner as approved by the Town
Engineer. When an adequate tree lawn is not provided, shade trees may be planted
behind the sidewalk.

5. The use of Delaware native species for street shade tree is required. Recommended

species include the following:

Acer rubrum

Red maple

Acer sacrum

Sugar maple

Celtis occidentalis

Common hackberry

Carpinus caroliniana

American hornbeam

Crataegus crusgalli "inermis"

Thornless cockspur hawthorn

Gleditsia triacanthos "inermis"

Thornless honey locust

Platanus acerifolia London plane tree

Quercus rubra Northern red oak

Quercus shumardii Shumard oak

Tilia Americana Linden
Betula lenta Birch
Hickory
Juniperus virginiana Cedar
Magnolia grandiflora Magnolia

C. Buffer Yards. The use of native species for buffer yards and landscaping for all parking and
loading areas is required.

D. Scenic Corridors. Major subdivisions and land development plans shall be required to provide a
scenic corridor along all arterial and collector roads, and along roads designated as scenic.
Scenic corridors shall be comprised of open space and shall meet the following criteria:

Scenic Corridor Standards

Buffer Width Landscape Requirements

50' Existing forest to be preserved

100" to 150’ 6 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage
151' to 200’ 5 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage
201" to 400 3 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage

400' or greater 1 plant unit per 100 linear feet of street frontage

Minimum of 30 acres preserved for agricultural use

600" or greater (no landscaping required)

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 47/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

(UDC 2002, §§ 506A, 506B)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.080 Fences

A. Regulations.

1.

An ornamental fence or wall not more than four feet in height may project into or enclose
any front or side yard to a depth no to encroach the right of ways.

. Ornamental fences or walls may project into or enclose other required yards, provided

such fences and walls do not exceed a height of six feet.

. Razor wire, barb wire or similar fence material is prohibited in the town.

(UDC 2002, § 507)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.090 Lighting

A. Street Lighting.

1.

All new streets constructed as part of development proposal shall be equipped with
streetlights.

. When development occurs on an existing street, where currently no street lighting exists,

the provisions of this paragraph shall also apply.

3. Street lighting shall be provided pursuant to DelDOT standards and specifications.

. All new streetlights shall only light the area that needs it. Fixtures that shield the light

source to minimize glare and light trespass and use a low-color-temperature bulb but
facilitates better vision at night shall be used when possible.

B. Parking Area Lighting.

1.

All driveways, parking areas, pedestrian and vehicular circulation routes shall be
adequately illuminated during the hours that a particular site is occupied or in operation.

. Average illumination levels in parking areas, driveways, pedestrian and vehicular

circulation levels should not fall below one foot candle.

3. All exterior lighting shall be oriented and shielded to protect adjacent residential areas.

4. All new street lights shall only light the area that needs it. Fixtures that shield the light

source to minimize glare and light trespass and use a low-color-temperature bulb, but
facilitates better vision at night shall be used when possible

(UDC 2002, §§ 508A, 508B)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 15-05 on 5/20/2015
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 48/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

24.20.100 Open Space

A. Requirements.

1. All major subdivisions shall contain open space designated as community area open

space.

In designating community area open space or landscaped surfaces as part of a

subdivision or land development plan, the following criteria and standards shall be
adhered to by the applicant:

a.

(UDC 2002, § 509)

HISTORY

All residential development proposals containing ten or more dwellings shall be
required to dedicate to public use a minimum of ten percent of the gross tract
area for the purpose of passive and active recreation.

Active open space shall be separate parcels of land exclusive of streets, turn-
arounds, residential lots, wetlands, wildlife habitats and migration corridors, and
stormwater management.

Except for recreation activities, open space shall be substantially free of
structures and paved areas.

. A landscape plan/open space management plan specifying the landscaping/open

space management requirements shall be required for all subdivisions involving
the creation of community area open space. Narrow or fragmented small open
spaces shall be avoided unless necessary for a practical function.

A minimum of 50 percent of the required open space shall be suitable for active
recreation purposes as herein defined. The open space dedication shall be
designed either as a single consolidated parcel or as a system of open spaces
and whenever possible shall be interconnected with open space parcels
contained in adjoining development. Active open space lots shall be a minimum
of one-acre contiguous lot exclusive of connective paths.

Open spaces dedicated to the public under the provisions of this division shall be
made open and accessible to all residents of the town.

. Pursuant to the desire of the town council and subject to the review and approval

of the town solicitor, ownership and maintenance responsibility of the open space
may be transferred in fee simple to the town or to a maintenance organization or
homeowners' association.

. The design of recreation facilities contained in an open space area shall be

subject to the review and approval of the Town Engineer.

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.24 Sign Regulatio

ns

24.24.010 Purpose

24.24.020 Sign Specifications And Types

24.24.030 Applicability

24.24.040 Administrat

ion

24.24.050 General Sign Regulations Applicable In All Districts

24.24.060 Signs Permitted In Preservation And Residential Districts
24.24.070 Signs Permitted In Commercial And Industrial Districts

24.24.080 Dimensional Standards

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 49/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

24.24.090 Nonconforming_Signs

24.24.010 Purpose

Signs perform the important functions of identifying properties, businesses, services, residences,
events and other matters of interest of the public. However, it has been determined that it is necessary
to control signs in the town to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the town by:

A. Limiting hazards to pedestrian and vehicular traffic;

B. Preserving property values;

C. Preventing unsightly and detrimental development that has a blighting influence upon
residential, business and industrial areas;

D. Controlling the size of signs to prevent one sign from obscuring another;

E. Specifying certain sign design requirements in an effort to maintain the rural/small town
character of the town.

(UDC 2002, § 700)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.020 Sign Specifications And Types

A. Sign Area.

1. The area of a sign shall mean the area of all lettering, wording, and accompanying

designs, logos and symbols, together with the background on which they are displayed
(whether such background is open or enclosed), but excluding any supporting
framework and bracing which are solely incidental to display itself providing the same do
not contain any letters, designs or symbols.

. Where the sign consists of individual letters, designs or symbols attached to a building,

awning, wall or window, the area shall be that of the smallest rectangle which
encompasses all of the letters, designs or symbols.

. Where a sign consists of an identical double-face, only one side shall be considered in

the calculation of sign area, but if the interior angle formed by the two faces is greater
than 45 degrees, then both sides of the sign shall be considered in the calculation of
sign area.

B. Sign Height. The distance from the highest portion of the sign to the average grade at the base
of the sign.

C. Sign Types.

1. Advertising Sign. An off-premises which advertises or otherwise directs attention to a

commodity, business, industry, home professional office, or other similar activity which is
sold, offered, or conducted elsewhere than on the lot upon which the sign is located.

2. Animated Sign. A sign with action or motion, flashing, or color changes requiring

electrical energy, but not including window displayed computer monitors or wind-
actuated elements such as flags banners, or novelty items.

3. Awning Sign. A sign painted on, printed on, or attached flat against the surface of an

awning.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 50/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.
16.

17.

Print Preview

. Business Sign. An on-premises sign which advertises or otherwise directs attention to a

business, commodity, service, industry, or other activity which is sold, offered, or
conducted, other than incidentally, on the premises upon which a sign is located, or to
which it is affixed.

. Directory Sign. A sign on which the names and location of the occupants or the use of a

building is given, including office building and church directories.

. Freestanding. A self-supporting sign resting on, or supported by means of poles or

standards, erected on the ground.

. Identification Sign. A sign whose copy is limited to the name of the building, institution, or

person and/or to the activity or occupation being identified.

. Incidental Sign. A directional sign of a public service nature which contains no

advertising.

. Marquee Sign. Any sign attracted to or supported by a marquee structure.
10.

Off-premises Sign. A sign structure advertising an establishment, merchandise, service,
or entertainment, which is sold, produced, manufactured, or furnished at a place other
than on the property on which said sign is located; a sign which advertises or otherwise
directs attention to an activity not on the same lot where the sign is located, e.g.
billboards, outdoor advertising, subdivision directional sign.

On-premises Sign. A sign which advertises or otherwise directs attention to an activity
on the same lot where the sign is located.

Painted Wall Sign. Any sign which is applied with paint or similar substances on the face
of the wall.

Parallel Wall Sign. A sign mounted parallel to a wall or other vertical building surface, but
does not extend beyond the edge of any wall, roof line, or other surface to which it is
mounted, and does not project more than ten inches from the surface to which it is
mounted.

Projecting Wall Sign. Any sign mounted to a wall or other vertical surface other than a
parallel sign, but does not project more than seven feet from the surface to which it is
mounted, nor project above the wall, roof line, or surface to which it is mounted, nor in
any way interfere with normal pedestrian or vehicular traffic.

Revolving Sign. A sign which revolves 180 degrees or more.

Roof Sign. A sign erected upon or above a roof or parapet wall of a building, and which
does that building wholly or partly support.

Temporary Sign. A sign that advertises community or civic projects, construction
projects, real estate for sale or lease, or other special events on a temporary basis. The
following types of signs shall be considered temporary signs:

a. Banner Sign. A temporary sign intended to be hung either with or without
framing, possessing characteristics, letters, illustrations or ornamentation applied
to paper, plastic, or fabric of any kind. National flags, flags of political
subdivisions, and symbolic flags of any institution or business shall not be
considered banners for the purpose of this article.

b. Construction Sign. Any sign giving the name of principal contractors,
subcontractors, architects, engineers and lending institution responsible for
construction on the site where the sign is placed.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 51/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

(UDC 2002, § 701)

HISTORY

Print Preview

. Development Sign. An on-premises sign on a building or lot which announces the

nature, purpose, or name of the prospective building/enterprise.

. Political sign. A temporary sign used in connection with a local, county, state, or

national election or referendum.

. Portable Sign. Any sign not permanently attached to the ground or other

permanent structure, or a sign designed to be transported, including, but not
limited to: signs designed to be transported by means of wheels; signs converted
to A- or T-frames; menu and sandwich board signs; balloons used as signs,
umbrellas used for advertising; signs attached to or painted on vehicles parked
and visible from the public right-of-way, unless said vehicle is used in normal
day-to-day.

. Real Estate. Temporary sign that advertise the sale, lease, or rent of the property

on which the sign is placed. Open house signs for property that is for sale shall
be considered real estate signs.

. Special Event Signs. On-premises window signs, banners, or commemorative

flags which advertise a grand opening or other special event.

. Street Banner Sign. Any banner sign which is stretched across and hung over a

public right-of-way.

i. Subdivision Sign. An on- or off-premises directional sign advertising to the public

the name of the subdivision project and the nature of the product offered.

j. Window Sign. Any sign affixed to or visible through a window and intended to be

viewed from the outside.

Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.030 Applicability.

Any sign erected after the effective date of the ordinance from which this section is derived shall
conform to the following regulations.

(UDC 2002, § 702)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.040 Administration

A. Sign Permits. It shall be unlawful to erect, construct or significantly alter any sign which requires
a building permit without first filing with the town an application in writing to obtain a formal

permit.

B. Signs Not Requiring Sign Permits:

1. Government signs (i.e. traffic signs, parking signs, etc.).

2. Legal notices.

3. Public monument, plaque, historic identification sign erected by a governmental agency.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 52/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
4. Government flag or insignia.

5. Public service and information signs advertising the availability of public restrooms,
telephones, or similar public conveniences, not exceeding three square feet in area.

6. Address signs, not exceeding two square feet.

7. Name plates and identification signs provided that characters do not exceed three
inches in height and the area does not exceed two square feet.

8. Vending machine signs, where a product name is an integral component of the vending
machine, provided that the machine is not placed in the front yard of a property.

9. Incidental signs, provided that the aggregate area of incidental signs on a property does
not exceed four square feet; incidental sign area in excess of four square feet shall be
included in the calculation of a property's permitted sign area.

10. Home security signs, not exceeding one square foot.
11. Temporary political signs.
12. Real estate signs.
C. Sign Permit Review. The building inspector or zoning officer shall either approve or deny the

application, or refer the application back to the applicant in any instance where insufficient
information has been submitted.

D. Fees. All applicants for permits for the erection, construction or alteration of signs shall, at the
time of making application, be paid to the town, in accordance with the respective fee schedule
adopted by the town from time to time.

(UDC 2002, § 703)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.050 General Sign Regulations Applicable In All Districts

A. Prohibited Signs.

1. Animated signs.

Vehicular signs.

2. Beacon lighting.

3. Flashing, moving or reflective signs.
4. llluminated temporary sings.

5. Revolving or rotating signs.

6. Roof signs.

7. Trailer signs.

8.

9.

Billboards.

B. No sign shall be placed in such a position as to endanger traffic on a street by obscuring a clear
view or by confusion with official street signs or signals.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 53/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

C. No sign shall be placed in such a position as to obstruct or endanger pedestrian using the public
sidewalk.

D. No sign, other than official street signs, street banner signs (when authorized by town council)
or political signs may be erected within any public right-of-way unless authorized by town
council.

E. No sign shall be erected or maintained so as to prevent free ingress and egress to or from any
door, window or fire escape.

F. Property owners shall assume the cost of relocating any sign within the ultimate right-of-way of
a street that is widened.

G. All signs shall be constructed of durable materials in good condition and repair at all times.
H. llluminated Signs.

1. Signs may be illuminated, unless otherwise specified herein. Floodlighting of any sign
shall be so shielded that the source of the light shall not be visible from any point off the
property on which the sign is erected and so that only the sign is directly illuminated. No
more than one-half foot-candle of light shall be detectable along the boundary of any
adjacent property. lllumination of signs shall be subject to the national electrical code.

2. Translucent covers must conceal the source of light.

I. Sign Location Requirements.

1. Yard requirements. No portion of any freestanding sign, business sign or advertising
sigh may be located within the side or rear yard setback or within the required buffer
zone when located in a commercial or industrial zone adjoining a residential district.

2. Public use areas. No portion of any freestanding business sign or advertising may be
located within the side or rear yard setback or with the required buffer zone in a
commercial or industrial district adjoining a residential district.

3. No sign may be located within 660 feet of the right-of-way edge along the Harriet
Tubman Underground Railroad Byway, or any other scenic byway.
J. Political signs may be erected no earlier than 30 days before the date of election. All political
signs shall be removed within seven days after the election date.

K. Any sign that does not so conform to the provisions of this section at the time of adoption of the
ordinances from which this section is derived is hereby declared a nonconforming sign.

L. Removal Of Signs.

1. The town shall have the authority to require the removal and/or demolition of signs under
the following circumstances:

a. When it is determined that the sign has deteriorated to the point of becoming a
danger to the public.

b. When a sign is erected without an approved building permit.

c. When a sign is erected which does not comply with the requirements of this
section.

d. A nonconforming sign which has not been removed or brought into conformity.

2. In all of the above circumstances the removal procedure will be initiated by a letter to the
owner or lessee by the building inspector requiring removal within 30 days.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 54/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
3. Owner or lessee's remedial action for each circumstance:
a. Deteriorated/hazardous sign: rehabilitation/repair of sign within 30 days.
b. No sign permit: obtain a permit within 30 days.

c. Prohibited sign or nonconforming sign: sign brought into conformity within 30
days.

(UDC 2002, § 704)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009
Amended by Ord. 09-04 Revised on 12/2/2009
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.24.060 Signs Permitted In Preservation And Residential Districts

A. Official Signs. Official street and traffic signs, and any sign required by law.

B. Professional Home Office Signs. Professional home office name signs, located on the same
property as the home office, indicating the name, profession or activity of the occupant of the
dwelling, provided that the area of any one side shall not exceed two square feet, and provided
that not more than one such sign shall be erected on each permitted use or dwelling.

C. School Signs. Signs for schools, churches and hospitals, clubs or other institution of a similar
nature, on the same lot therewith, for the purpose of displaying the name of such institution and
its activities or services, provided that the areas on any one side of such freestanding sign shall
not exceed 20 square feet and ten feet in height, and provided that not more than one such sign
shall be erected on any street frontage. In addition to the aforementioned freestanding sign,
each institutional building is permitted one wall sign for purposes of identification not exceeding
ten square feet.

D. Residential Signs. For residential developments containing more than ten dwelling units, one
freestanding identification sign per external street frontage not exceeding 15 square feet in area
and ten feet in height. The sign shall be aesthetically compatible with the structures.

E. Trespassing Signs. Trespassing signs and signs indicating private ownership of roadways or
other property on the same premises therewith, provided that the total area of any one side of
such sign shall not exceed four square feet.

F. Real Estate Signs. Real estate signs as follows:

1. For advertising the sale or rental of the premises upon which the sign is erected,
provided that the total area on any one side of such signs on any one street frontage of
any property in single or separate ownership shall not exceed nine square feet.

2. For advertising on the premises the sale or development of homes within a subdivision,
provided that the area of any one side of any such sign shall not exceed 35 square feet,
and provided that not more than two such signs shall be erected within any such
subdivision.

G. Temporary Contractor Signs. Temporary signs of contractors, mechanics, painters and artisans
erected and maintained on the premises where the work is being performed during the period in
which such work is being performed, provided that the area of any one side of such sign shall
not exceed 12 square feet, and provided that not more than one such sign shall be erected on
any property in single and separate ownership, and provided that such sign shall be removed
upon completion of work.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 55/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

H. Open House Signs (on- and off-premises). There shall be a maximum of one on-premises open
house sign for each property.

1. Signs shall not exceed four square feet per side, and not be illuminated.
2. Signs shall not exceed four feet in height.
I. Public Auction, Disposal Signs. Signs which advertise public auctions for disposal of real estate,
property, or merchandise.

1. Signs shall not exceed nine square feet in area, at a maximum height of four feet, and
shall be placed only on the property where the stated auction is being conducted.

2. Signs may be erected not earlier than 30 days prior to the advertised auction, and shall
be removed within five days of the auction.

J. Political Signs. Political signs pursuant to TMC 24.24.060 paragraph J.

(UDC 2002, § 705)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.070 Signs Permitted In Commercial And Industrial Districts

For any one lot located in the Commercial or Industrial districts, the following number and type of signs
are permitted:

A. One freestanding business or identification sign per street frontage. Gas stations are permitted
one additional freestanding sign per street frontage for advertising gas prices only.

B. One of the following types of signs for each side of a building which faces a street or a parking
lot located on the same property:

1. Awning sign.
Identification sign.
Marquee sign.
Painted wall sign.
Parallel window sign.

Permanent window sign.

N o gk~ w DN

Projecting wall sign.

C. Incidental signs for the convenience and safety of the public (for example, signs identifying
parking areas, telephones, restrooms, etc.) not to exceed four square feet in size and containing
no advertising.

D. One of the following types of temporary signs for a given 30 day period only:
1. Portable signs.
2. Special event signs.
E. Real estate signs, which shall be removed within seven days after the sale or lease of the
property.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 56/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
F. Other signs permitted in Residential districts according to the regulations in TMC 24.24.060.

G. Sandwich board signs may be used in the Commercial (C) District only. The following
regulations shall apply:

1. The maximum dimensions shall be four feet in height and two feet in width.

The sign cannot create an obstruction to pedestrians or traffic sight distances.

Signs may be illuminated.

Signs are only allowed during business hours or daylight hours, whichever is shorter.

Signs must be removed at the end of each day.

R T

A permit is required in which the owner assumes liability for the sign.
H. Billboards, as defined in this article, are specifically excluded from the town.

(UDC 2002, § 706)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009
Amended by Ord. 09-04 Revised on 12/2/2009

24.24.080 Dimensional Standards

A. Freestanding signs shall not exceed 35 square feet in area (16 square feet for signs advertising
gas prices), and must be setback a minimum of ten feet from the curbline of the frontage street
or outside edge of the cartway. In no case may a freestanding sign be located within a public
right-of-way. The maximum height for freestanding signs, including supports, is 12 feet. Multi-
use or multi-tenant buildings where the freestanding sign is to be shared by two or more uses or
tenants, the maximum sign area calculated in paragraph A may be increased by 25 percent for
each additional use/tenant in excess of one use/tenant.

B. The maximum area of a marquee sign, painted wall sign, parallel wall sign or awning sign shall
be 100 square feet. However, the total area of painted wall signs, parallel wall signs, signs
affixed to awnings and any signs affixed to the inside or outside of windows, may not exceed 25
percent of the area of the wall, including windows and floor area and cornices, to which they are
attached.

C. The maximum area of a projecting sign shall be 30 square feet.

1. The sign shall not project more than seven feet from the surface to which it is mounted,
nor project over the wall, roof line, or surface to which it is mounted.

2. The outer-most portion of a projecting sign shall project no closer than five feet from a
curbline or shoulder of a public street.

3. There shall be a minimum clearance of ten feet between the bottom of the projecting
sign and a public sidewalk or walkway.

D. Special event signs, banners, portable signs or commemorative flags for businesses
announcing a grand opening, going out-of-business sale or other special promotional event
shall comply with the following standards.

1. The area of the special event sign, banner, portable sign or commemorative flag shall
not exceed 25 square feet.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 57/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. The property or business shall display only one special event sign, banner, portable sign
or commemorative flag at any one time.

3. A special event sign, portable sign, banner or commemorative flag for a business shall
be displayed no more than eight times during the calendar year for periods of time not
exceeding three weeks.

4. Special event signs or banners for public or quasi-public events shall comply with the
following standards:

a. Such banners shall be affixed to a building or some other appropriate sturdy
structure.

b. The permitted size of any street banner shall be determined on a case-by-case
basis by the town council.

c. If the banner is to be strung across a state-owned road, the sponsoring
organization must receive necessary approvals from the state department of
transportation.

d. Signs or banners shall not be posted earlier than one month prior to the
advertised event and must be removed within five days after the day of the event.

(UDC 2002, § 707)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.090 Nonconforming_Signs

A. Signs legally in existence at the time of the adoption of the ordinance from which this section is
derived which do not conform with the requirements of this article shall be considered
nonconforming signs.

B. All such nonconforming signs shall be removed or altered so as to be in conformity with the
standards contained herein at such time when:

1. The town receives an application for a sign permit in cases where the nonconforming
sign is to be significantly altered. Changes to the sign copy or the replacement of a sign
panel of an existing establishments nonconforming sign shall not be considered a
significant alteration. If more than 50 percent of a sign is damaged, it shall be repaired to
conform with this article.

2. The property in which the nonconforming sign is located submits a subdivision or land
development application requiring municipal review and approval.

3. The property in which the nonconforming sign is located undergoes a change of land
use requiring the issuance of either a certificate of occupancy.
C. To determine the legal status of existing signs, in each of the three cases listed in paragraph B
the applicant shall submit the following information to the town building inspector:
1. Type of existing sign located on the property.
2. The area and height of all signs.

3. For freestanding signs, the distance of the outermost portion of the sign is setback from
the curbline or shoulder.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 58/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
4. Type of sign illumination.
5. The material of which the sign is constructed.
6. The building length along public street frontage.
D. Prior to the events listed in paragraph B, nonconforming signs may be repainted, repaired up to
50 percent, the sign copy may be changed, or sign panels may be replaced, provided that such

actions do not increase the dimensions of the existing sign, nor in any way increase the extent
of the sign's nonconformity.

E. Under the following conditions, nonconforming signs shall be exempt from the provisions of
paragraph B:

1. The nonconforming sign possesses documented historic value.

2. The nonconforming sign is of a unique nature or type of virtue of its architectural value or
design.

3. For a change of use when a business name is retained.

(UDC 2002, § 708)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.28 Permitted Modifications
24.28.010 Height Modifications
24.28.020 Variances

24.28.030 Temporary Uses

24.28.010 Height Modifications

The height regulations of this article shall not apply to flagpoles, silos, church spires, belfries, chimneys,
cupolas and domes not used for human occupancy.

(UDC 2002, § 800)
24.28.020 Variances

The board of adjustments shall have the power to grant the following variances:

A. A modification in the area and bulk requirements in any district so as to relieve practical
difficulties or particular hardships in cases where by reason of size, shape or narrowness of a
parcel of property or by other exceptional or extraordinary situation or condition the use or
development of the property would not conform to strict application of the regulations set forth in
this article. Such grant of variance shall conform as nearly as possible with the spirit, intent and
purpose of this article. Only for reasons of demonstrable and exceptional hardship upon the
owner of such property will such modifications be permitted.

B. Moadifications in parking and loading requirements of this article may be permitted whenever the
character or use of any building is such as to make the full provision of parking and loading
facilities unnecessary.

(UDC 2002, § 801)

24.28.030 Temporary Uses

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 59/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

A. It is recognized that it may be in the interest of the town and in accordance with the purpose of
this article to permit temporary activities for a limited period of time, which activities may not be
permitted by other provisions of this article. If such uses are of such a nature and are so located
that at the time of application they will:

1. In no way exert a detrimental effect upon use of land and activities normally permitted in
the zoning district in question.

2. Contribute materially to the welfare and well being of the public or to the lawful
improvement or development of land.

B. Upon proper application to and favorable finding by the town council, the board of adjustment
may be directed to issue a permit for such a period of time specified by the town council.

(UDC 2002, § 802)

24.32 Land Development Requirements

24.32.010 Inspection Fee Escrow

24.32.020 Performance Guaranty

24.32.030 Sunsetting Provision Of Recorded Subdivision Of Land Development Plans

24.32.010 Inspection Fee Escrow

A. Prior to the construction of any improvements approved by the town and prior to final approval
of major subdivision or site plan or approval of minor subdivision or minor site plan, the
applicant shall deposit and maintain with the town a fund of not less than five percent of the
estimated cost of the required on- and off-site improvements, as determined by the town
engineer, to cover costs of inspection of improvements. The minimum escrow deposit required
at any one time shall be $200.00.

B. If at any time during the inspection of the construction of said improvements it becomes evident
that the escrow deposit is or will be insufficient to cover the costs thereof, the applicant shall
make such additional deposits in amounts to be determined by the town engineer based upon
the estimated costs required to properly review and inspect the on- and off-site improvements.

C. The engineering, legal and planning escrows as set forth in the aforesaid provisions are
minimum amounts representing an estimate of the anticipated costs for such services based on
the hourly rates of the respective professional. The hourly rates to be charged each applicant for
the services of such professionals shall be the same as those set forth in the contracts between
the town and said professionals. All legal, engineering and planning review fees set forth under
the applications for use and bulk variances, appeals, interpretations and miscellaneous
applications are nonrefundable minimums. In all other cases, if the actual cost is less than the
minimum, the applicant shall receive a refund of the difference for all development applications;
if actual costs for such proposed services exceed the minimum deposits, the applicant shall be
responsible to pay to the town the difference between the actual amount and the amount
deposited.

(UDC 2002, § 1000)
24.32.020 Performance Guaranty

A. General Requirements.

1. No final application for development (whether for an entire tract or a section thereof)
shall be approved by the board until the satisfactory completion and performance of all

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 60/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

required improvements have been certified by the town engineer. As a condition of final
approval for any application for development, all applicants shall submit a performance
guarantee, and upon completion and approval of the improvements, a two-year
maintenance guaranty for all required on- and off-site improvements. The form and
amount of the aforementioned guaranties must meet the satisfaction of the town solicitor
and engineer.

2. A performance guaranty estimate shall be prepared by the applicant's engineer and
submitted to the town engineer for review and approval, setting forth all requirements for
improvements and their estimated cost. The performance and maintenance guaranties
shall conform to such approved estimate in the manner calculated below.

B. Calculation Of Guaranty. The owner shall present the performance guaranty, in an amount
equal to 120 percent of the approved performance guaranty estimate required above. The
guaranty must then receive the approval as to form, amount and execution by the town engineer
as a condition to approval of the application. No plans will be signed or approval given by the
town until the required performance guaranty has been approved.

C. Bonding And Cash Requirements. The performance guaranty shall be made payable and
deposited to the town and shall be in the form of cash, irrevocable letter of credit or certified
check or a performance bond in which the owner shall be principal. The bond or letter of credit
to be provided must be issued by an acceptable surety or banking company licensed to do
business in the state. The town shall issue its receipt for such deposits and shall cause the
same to be deposited in the name of the town to be retained as security for completion of all
requirements and to be returned to the owner on completion of all required work or, in the event
of default on the part of the owner, to be used by the town to pay the cost and expense of
obtaining completion of all requirements.

D. Inspection And Tests.

1. All site improvements and utility installations for both site plans and subdivisions shall be
inspected during the time of their installation under the supervision of the town engineer
to ensure satisfactory completion. The obligor shall reimburse the municipality for all
reasonable inspection fees paid to the municipal engineer for the foregoing inspection of
improvements, provided that the municipality may require of the developer a deposit for
all or a portion of the reasonably anticipated fees to be paid to the municipal engineer for
such inspection. The municipal engineer shall not perform any inspection if sufficient
funds to pay for those inspections are not on deposit. The project may be immediately
shut down by the municipal engineer if sufficient fees for inspections have not been
deposited in accordance with this section.

2. In no case shall any paving work be done without permission from the town engineer. At
least two working day's notice shall be given to that town engineer prior to any
construction so that the engineer or a qualified representative may be present at the time
the work is to be done.

3. Streets should not be paved with a wearing course until all heavy construction is
completed. Shade trees shall not be planted until all grading and earthmoving is
completed. The seeding of grass and the placing of surveyor's monuments shall be
among the last operations.

4. The town engineer's office shall be notified prior to each of the following phases of work
so that they or a qualified representative may inspect the work:

a. Road subgrade.

b. Curb and gutter forms.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 61/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
Curbs and gutters.
Road paving.

Sidewalk forms.

-~ ® o O

Sidewalks.

Drainage pipes and other drainage construction.

= @

Street name signs.

Monuments.

j. Stormwater basins.

k. Topsoil, seeding and planting.

5. Any improvement installed contrary to the plan or plat approval by the town shall
constitute just cause to void the municipal approval.

6. Any improvement installed without notice for inspection shall constitute just cause for:
a. Removal of the uninspected improvement;
b. The payment by the developer of any costs for material testing;

c. The restoration by the developer of any improvements disturbed during any
material testing; and/or

d. The issuance of a stop-work order by the town engineer pending the resolution of
any dispute.

7. Inspection by the town of the installation of improvements and utilities shall not operate
to subject the town to liability for claims, suits or liability of any kind that may arise
because of defects or negligence during construction or at any time thereafter, it being
recognized that the responsibility to maintain safe conditions at all times during
construction and to provide proper utilities and improvements is upon the owner and his
contractor, if any.

E. Conditions And Acceptance Of Improvements. The approval of any application for development
and release of guaranty by the town shall in no way be construed as acceptance of any street or
drainage system or any other improvement, nor shall such approval obligate the town in any
way to exercise jurisdiction over such street or drainage system or other improvement. No
improvement shall be accepted by the governing body unless and until all of the following
conditions have been met:

1. The town engineer shall have certified, in writing, that the improvements are completed
and that they comply with the requirements of this chapter.

2. The final application for development shall have been approved by the town.

3. The owner shall have filed with the town a maintenance guaranty in an amount equal to
and not more than 15 percent of the cost of installing the improvements. The
maintenance guaranty shall run for a period of two years from final acceptance of the
improvement. The procedures and requirements for acceptance and release governing
such maintenance guaranty shall be identical to the procedures and requirements for a
performance guaranty set forth in this chapter.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 62/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

An as-built plan and profiles of all utilities and roads three black-and-white prints plus a Mylar copy to
be sent to the town engineer, with certification signed and sealed by a state licensed professional
engineer as to the actual construction as approved by the town engineer, shall be provided.

(UDC 2002, § 1001)

24.32.030 Sunsetting Provision Of Recorded Subdivision Of Land Development Plans

The following regulations concerning expiration of recorded and approved plans are applicable to major
subdivisions, minor subdivisions, and land development plans.

A. Plans recorded after adoption of these regulations. Construction of development or
improvements shown on an approved record plan for a major subdivision or major land
development shall commence within five (5) years of the date of recordation of the first record
plan for the subdivision or land development plan.

B. Plans recorded before the adoption of these regulations. Construction of development or
improvements shown on a record plan for a major subdivision or major land development shall
commence within five (5) years from the 3rd of June, 2020; except that

1. The sunsetting provisions shall apply to all major and subdivision and major land
development plans; except that:

a. Any major subdivision or major land development plan that was unbuildable
immediately prior to the adoption of these regulations for any reason; and,

b. Any re-subdivision plan and any minor subdivision or minor land development
plan that was approved in reliance upon a major subdivision or major land
development plan that was unbuildable immediately prior to the adoption of this
section, shall remain unbuildable and shall remain exempt from the application of
this section.

c. Land disturbances of less than one thousand (1,000) square feet and not
involving any building or structure, buffer yard, resource, or conservation area,
are exempt from this section.

C. The applicant shall bear the burden of providing evidence to the Town Manager establishing
that construction had commenced within the five (5) year period.

D. Construction has not commenced within five (5) years, the record plan shall be resubmitted and
reviewed by the Planning Commission to determine if the conditions of approval of the original
record major subdivision or land development plan have changed or have been altered by the
subsequent adoption of, or amendments to, this Chapter. The Planning Commission shall
either:

1. Reapprove the record plan, and give written notice to the owner of reapproval. Such
approval shall allow the issuance of building permits subject to the provisions of the
original record major subdivision or land development plan and/or any recorded
resubdivision plans. The owner shall then have five (5) years from the date of such
notice of reapproval to obtain building permits and commence construction.

2. Disapprove the record plan and give written notice to the owner of the specific areas of
noncompliance. The modifications necessary to bring the plan into compliance with this
Chapter shall be incorporated into a revised exploratory plan and resubmitted. Upon
approval of a revised exploratory plan, a new major subdivision or land development
plan may be submitted for approval. The new plan approved and recorded pursuant to
this Section shall have the effect of superseding the original record major subdivision or

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 63/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

land development plan. The owner shall then have five (5) years from the date of notice
made pursuant to this subsection to obtain building permits and commence construction.

3. If a rezoning of the property occurred simultaneously with the approval of the preliminary
record plan and the Planning Commission has determined that a new revised record
plan is required, the zoning of the property shall revert to the previous zoning district.
The processing of the revised record plan shall require full compliance with the then
current rezoning procedures.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.36 Environmental Protection Regulations
24.36.010 Intent

24.36.020 Definitions - Environmental Protection Regulations
24.36.030 Open Space Regulations And Allowable Uses
24.36.040 Floodplains And Floodways

24.36.050 Wetlands

24.36.060 Riparian Buffer Areas (RBA)

24.36.070 Steep Slope Protection

24.36.080 Drainageways

24.36.090 Critical Natural Areas (CNA)

24.36.100 Water Resources Protection Areas (WRPA)
24.36.110 Wellheads Class A

24.36.120 Recharge Areas

24.36.130 Boundary Determination For WRPA
24.36.140 Uniform Standards And Criteria

24.36.150 Environmental Impact Assessment Report
24.36.160 Clearing

24.36.170 Reforestation Requirements

24.36.180 Roads, Parking_Lots And Utilities

24.36.010 Intent

The intent of this section is to provide clarification on the environmental constraints and requirements
for development in environmentally sensitive areas.

(UDC 2002, § 1100)

24.36.020 Definitions - Environmental Protection Requlations

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

"Applicant” means a person, firm or government agency who executes the necessary forms to obtain
approval or a permit for any zoning, subdivision, land development, building, land disturbance, or other
activity regulated by this Code.

"Aquifer" means a body of rock (crystalline, sand or gravel) that contains sufficient saturated permeable
material to conduct groundwater springs or to yield economically significant quantities of groundwater
to wells.

"Best management practices” means that combination of conservation measures, structures,
vegetation or management practices, that reduces or avoids adverse impacts of development on
adjoining site's land, water, or waterways and waterbodies.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 64/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Buffer” means a designated area between two uses deemed incompatible with each other, or along
the perimeter of a natural feature to be protected from an incompatible use, or along the perimeter of
that use, which will absorb otherwise preclude such incompatibility by some combination of
construction design, vegetative plantings, fences, and/or maintenance practices which shall be
permanently maintained.

"Buffer, riparian" see riparian buffer area.

"Caliper" means the diameter of new landscape plantings measured six inches aboveground.
"Canopy tree" see tree, canopy.

"Clean fill" means a nondecomposable, environmentally inert solid, such as rock, soil, gravel.

"Clearcutting” means the practices of wholesale complete removal of all trees, disturbing shrubs, or
other vegetation in the process. This definition does not include the selective removal of trees on a
building pad or normal maintenance of vegetation.

"Critical natural area (CNA)" means any site listed in the state natural areas inventory, as administered
by the State Office of Nature Preserves, Division of Parks and Recreation, or the Delaware Department
of Natural Resources and Environmental Control.

"Critical natural areas report” means a report analyzing the impact of a development or subdivision
proposal on a CNA located on the site, which shall include the following elements:

A. A statement that an entire lot or parcel is included in the critical natural areas investigation or a
description of a smaller area which is subject to the critical natural areas investigation;

B. A scaled plan of the site accurately depicting critical natural area boundaries. The CNA
boundary lines shall be identified with a metes and bounds description prepared by and bearing
the seal of a professional land surveyor registered in the state, or a professional engineer with a
background in civil engineering registered in the state. Where many survey traverses are
necessary to accurately describe the CNA boundary, the developer may have the surveyor or
engineer identify and prepare a metes and bounds description for the smallest polygon that
contains all the critical natural areas identified on the site. In such instances, however, the limits
of the polygon will be considered the CNA boundaries for plan review purposes;

C. A narrative description of the extent to which the subdivider or developer proposes land
disturbing activities within any critical natural areas which are shown on the scaled plan; and

D. Any measures that will be taken to minimize or mitigate the disturbance of critical natural areas.
"Detention/retention basin” means a natural or manmade structure designed as a temporary holding

basin for water. Water may be detained to minimize flooding downstream, or retained to increase
aquifer recharge.

"Drainage” means the process by which surface water (usually from rainfall) moves across the land
surface. See stormwater management.

"Drainage areas" means the delineated areas that currently contribute or are proposed to contribute
runoff to a specific location or point.

"Drainage facility” means any system of artificially constructed drains, including open channels and

separate stormwater sewers, used to convey stormwater, surface water, or groundwater, either
continuously or intermittently, to natural watercourses.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 65/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Drainageway" means a minor watercourse, seasonally or continually available for the passage of
water, of which functions include, but are not limited to: flood control, groundwater recharge, drainage,
and sedimentation and erosion control. The presence of a drainageway is determined by one or more
of the following three conditions:

A. The presence of certain specific soil types, (such as Codorus silt loam (Co), Comus silt loam
(Cu), Hatboro silt loam (Ha), Johnston loam (Jo), or Mixed alluvial land (Mv));

B. The land on either side of and within 50 feet of the centerline of any intermittent or perennial
stream shown on the United States Geological Survey (U.S.G.S.) 7.5 minute quadrangle
sheets;

C. The land on either side of and within 25 feet of the centerline of any swale identified by the
U.S.G.S. 7.5 minute quadrangle sheet as having an upstream drainage area of five or more
acres.

"Environmental report” means any study, report or application required by this Code, such as critical
natural areas, floodplains, riparian buffers, steep slopes, water resource protection areas and wetlands.

"Filling" means the depositing on land, whether submerged or not, of sand, gravel, earth or other
materials. Biodegradable materials and other materials subject to decomposition or significant settling
(such as garbage and other organic matter) shall not be considered filling.

"Flood fringe" means those portions of the floodplain, outside the floodway, subject to inundation by the
100 year recurrence interval flood and generally associated with standing or slowly moving water,
rather than rapidly flowing water. Flood fringe is determined by detailed study data and profiles found in
the FEMA flood insurance study.

"Flood protection elevation" means a point two feet above the water surface elevation of the 100-year
flood.

"Floodplain" means a relatively flat or low-lying land area adjoining a river, stream, or watercourse
which is subject to periodic partial or complete inundation. Specifically, those areas identified by the
Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) flood insurance rate maps (FIRM) as being subject
to periodic inundation by a 100-year storm, including the floodway, flood fringe and areas for which no
base flood elevations area available as depicted in the FEMA flood insurance rate maps (community
no. 10585) dated April 17, 1996 or as later amended.

“Floodway means the portion of the floodplain district required to carry and discharge the waters of the
100-year flood without increasing the water surface elevation at any point more than one foot above
existing conditions as demonstrated in a flood insurance study.

"Forest” means an area covered by a canopy of woody plants (trees) that qualifies as mature and/or
young. It may also be a woodland, woodlot, grove, or stand of trees meeting the specifications of the
forest type.

“Forest, mature" means an area or stand of trees whose total combined canopy covers an area of one
acre or more composed of canopies of trees having a DBH of at least 18 inches or greater covering at
least 75 percent of that area. Also, any stand or grove consisting of eight or more individual trees
having a DBH of at least 18 inches whose combined canopies cover at least 50 percent of the area
encompassed by the grove.

“Forest, young"” means an area or stand of trees whose total combined canopy covers an extra of one
acre or more, with canopy trees having a DBH of six inches and covering at least 60 percent of the
area. However, no trees kept or grown for commercial purposes shall be considered a young forest.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 66/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Forest management practices” means that combination of generally accepted methods for preserving,
promoting and protecting silviculture, which may include selective cutting, burning and removal of trees.

"Grading" means the excavating, filing (including hydraulic fill) or stockpiling of earth materials, or any
combination thereof, including the land in its excavated or filled condition.

"Groundwater" means a portion of the subsurface water that occurs beneath the water table in soils
and geologic formations that are fully saturated.

"Hydric soils" means soils which in their natural, undrained state are wet frequently enough at or near
the surface to periodically produce anaerobic conditions, thereby influencing plant species composition
and/or growth.

“Infiltration” means the passage or movement of water through the soil profile.
“Land grading” see grading.

“Landscape plan" means a plan associated with a subdivision, land development or parking facility plan
indicating the placement of trees, shrubs, growth cover and affiliated structures and improvements,
including specifications, species, quantities and installation as prepared by a state registered landscape
architect.

“Landscaping” means the design and installation of plant material such as lawns, groundcover, trees,
bushes, etc.

"Mitigation" means any action taken to lessen the specified undesirable impacts of a proposed land use
or land disturbance activity, including those which would adversely affect the health or longevity of a
natural feature, pose a visual intrusion or conflict, or otherwise be deemed incompatible with
surrounding properties.

“National geodetic vertical datum (NGVD)" means elevations referenced to mean sea level datum of
the 1929 or 1988 U.S. Geological Survey.

“Nondelineated floodplain” means an area subject to a 100-year flood, adjacent to a watercourse that is
identified by a blue line on the current U.S. Geological Survey (U.S.G.S.) topographic maps of the
county or in the detailed maps of the N.C.C. Soil Survey for which FEMA has delineated a floodplain.

"Public water supply well"” means a well from which the water is used to serve a community water
system by section 22.146 (public water systems) in the Delaware State Regulations Governing Public
Drinking Water Systems.

"Recharge areas"” means the recharge water resource protection areas are designated as having the
best potential for groundwater recharge. They were delineated using methodology described in a report
prepared by the Delaware Geological Survey entitled "Delineation of Ground-Water Recharge
Resources Protection Areas in the Coastal Plain of New Castle County, Delaware," dated January
1993 ("recharge resource area").

"Reforestation” means the replanting or planting of forest plant materials.

"Restoration” means the reasonable rehabilitation of the affected land for useful purposes and the
protection of the natural resources of the surrounding area, including surface water and groundwater.

"Riparian buffer area (RBA)" means where a parcel of land is adjacent to a perennial, lake, tidal
wetland or area draining greater than ten acres forming a transition zone between the aquatic and the
terrestrial environments is proposed for development or redevelopment, a RBA shall be designated.
The RBA shall include the waterbody and the adjacent area within at least 100 feet from the top of bank

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 67/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

of the waterbody. The RBA shall also include the floodplain or nontidal wetland plus the adjacent area
within a minimum of 50 feet of the resource.

Identification and calculation.

A. Streams (perennial, intermittent, mapped, and unmapped) with identifiable banks and beds,
lakes, and tidal wetlands or areas which drain greater than ten acres are subject to the
regulations of this section.

B. Initial identification of the watercourses/waterbodies shall be made using the U.S. Geological
Survey quadrangle maps or more accurate information, as available. Field verification to
determine evidence and location of channelized flow is required for a specific determination.

C. The width of existing impervious area such roadways, parking lots, structures, sidewalks, etc.,
shall not count towards the RBA measurements.

Exceptions. An RBA shall not be designated along industrial ponds, sewage lagoons, manmade
irrigation ditches, stormwater management basins and other artificial features with a similar water
quality or storage function.

One hundred (100) feet on either side of perennial and intermittent streams, lakes, and tidal
wetlands;

A. All of a nontidal wetland greater than twenty thousand (20,000) square feet in area, plus an
additional one hundred (100) feet of adjacent land;

B. A riparian buffer area shall not be designated along industrial ponds, sewage lagoons,
manmade irrigation ditches, stormwater management basins and other artificial features with a
similar water quality or storage function.

"Runoff" means that portion of precipitation or snow melt that has not evaporated or infiltrated into the
soil, but flows on land surface.

"Sanitary sewage disposal, on-lot" means a system in which sanitary sewage and wastewater is
collected from a single use or dwelling unit, by a system of pipes, and carried to a septic tank and tile
disposal field located within the boundaries of an individual lot.

"Septic system, individual" see sanitary sewage disposal, on-lot.

"Septic tank" means a multiple compartment, watertight receptacle which receives sewage from a
building and is designed and constructed so as to permit settling of solids from the sewage, digestion of
the organic matter and discharge of the liquid portion into a disposal area.

"Slope, steep” means the vertical change in elevation divided by the horizontal distance over which that
vertical change occurs. The steep slope area consists of two areas which are delineated and defined
as follows:

A. "Prohibitive slope" means prohibitive slopes of greater than 25 percent slope as based on a site
survey, where such slope exists in any continuous horizontal increment of 50 feet or more.

B. "Precautionary slope" means precautionary slopes of 15 to 25 percent slope as based on a site
survey, where such slope exists in any continuous horizontal increment of 50 feet or more.

These definitions do not include manmade steep slopes resulting from the implementation of an
approved plan.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 68/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Stormwater management" means the mitigation of the hydrologic impacts of lost natural runoff storage
by the use of constructed storage facilities.

A. For water quantity control, a system of vegetative, structural, and other measures that may
control the volume and rate of stormwater runoff which may be caused by land disturbing
activities or activities upon the land; and

B. For water quality control, a system of vegetative, structural, and other measures that control
adverse effects on water quality that may be caused by land disturbing activities or activities
upon the land.

"Surface water" means natural or artificial bodies of water greater than one acre in extent at the normal
annual water level, as depicted on U.S.G.S. topographic quadrangles and/or as determined by on-site
surveys by a registered surveyor, landscape architect or engineer. Excluded from this definition are
retention basins or other stormwater management facilities, farm ponds or other facilities associated
with agricultural operations, sewage lagoons and other facilities for which normal maintenance and
repair is necessary.

"Top of bank" means a point above the mean water surface of a watercourse that defines the maximum
depth of channel flow in the watercourse. It is either determined visually or computed as an elevation
using the peak rate of runoff from a two year storm event.

"Townsend Greenbelt" means the tracts of land located around the perimeter of Townsend Proper
consisting of undeveloped properties and agricultural land. Refer to figure 11-11.1 in TMC 24.36.120
for the exact mapped boundary designation.

"Townsend Proper" means the area of the town that is considered the downtown or center of town that
consists of the businesses, commercial facilities, industrial areas, and residential housing
developments previously constructed and in existence in the town prior to January 2000. Refer to figure
11-11.1 in TMC 24.36.120 for the exact mapped boundary designation.

"Tree, canopy” means a tree whose leaves would occupy the upper level of a forest in a natural
ecological situation. These trees are also called shade trees, and typically reach heights of 50--100 feet
at maturity.

"Tree, understory” means a tree whose leaves would occupy the intermediate level of a forest in a
natural ecological situation. They are also found as dominant species in old field succession. These
trees are also called ornamental trees.

"Variance" means relief from the standards of this section.

"Water resource protection area” means water resource protection areas are wellheads class A and
recharge areas. All such areas are as depicted on the three-map series "Water Resource Protections
areas for the City of Newark, City of Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware," prepared by the water
resources agency for the county that is dated 1993, or as amended.

"Water table"” means the level below the surface at which the ground is saturated by water.

"Waterbody" means any watercourse, tidal wetland or lake defined by a bank or shore in which water
can be found.

"Watercourse" means a stream channel (perennial, intermittent, mapped or unmapped) with banks and
a bed within which concentrated water flows.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 69/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

"Wellhead" means the wellhead water resource protection areas are surface and subsurface areas
surrounding public water supply wells or wellfields where the quantity or quality of groundwater moving
toward such wells or wellfields may be adversely affected by land use activity. Such activity may result
in a reduction of recharge or may lead to introduction of contaminants to groundwater used for public
supply ("wellhead"). Class A: The wellhead zone shall include the area within a 300 foot radius circle
around all public water supply wells which are classified as community water systems, as defined by
section 22.157 (public water systems), in the State of Delaware Regulations Governing Public Drinking
Water Systems.

"Wetland” means those areas inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a frequency
and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of
vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions; or areas that are defined and delineated
in accordance with the "Federal Manual for Identifying and Delineating Jurisdictional Wetlands" dated
January 10, 1989, and as may be amended from time to time; or as further defined and delineated by
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or the Delaware
Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control.

"Wetland Delineation and Report”" means an on-site method or process for identifying wetlands as
described in the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual, Technical Report: Y-87-1, from 1987
and as amended. The report shall be prepared by a person with professional experience and
knowledge in wetlands identification and shall analyze a site for the existence and extent of wetlands.

(UDC 2002, § 1101)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.36.030 Open Space Regulations And Allowable Uses

Table 11-2.1 lists uses that may be permitted in open space. Any use not listed shall be considered
prohibited.

(UDC 2002, § 1102)

24.36.040 Floodplains And Floodways

A. Intent. This section shall detail the requirements, allowable disturbances, and permitted
construction practices within all floodplains and floodways within the town.

B. Boundary Interpretation. Where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and
actual field conditions, a determination of the exact boundary of the area subject to inundation
by the base flood shall be made using the 100-year flood elevation information provided in the
flood insurance study for the flood fringe portions of the floodplain and using the best 100-year
floodplain elevation information available for general floodplain areas. For the floodway portion
of the floodplain the exact boundaries shall be determined by scaling the distances shown on
the floodway map and by utilizing the data in the applicable flood insurance study (FIS) for the
area. Where the boundary of the floodplain is disputed, the burden of proof shall be on the
applicant.

C. Floodway; Flood Fringe. There are two areas within the floodplain, the floodway and the flood
fringe.

1. No structure shall intrude into the floodway or floodplain except for piers needed to
support bridges, erosion control structures, dams for flood control or water supply, and
utility crossings.

2. No filling is permitted in floodways or floodplains.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 70/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

3. No structures designed for human habitation are permitted.

D. Standards For Beneficial Uses In Floodplains. All new construction, reconstruction, subdivision

proposals, substantial

improvements or

repairs,

prefabricated structures and other

developments shall be prohibited except where approved as essential to the beneficial use of
property. Refer to table 11-2.1 for permitted beneficial uses. Approval shall be at the discretion

of the town.

Table 11-2.1

USES IN REQUIRED OPEN SPACE

Y = Permitted N = Prohibited L = Limited Use | = Environmental Impact Assessment Report (see TMC
24.36.150)

General |Floo |Floo W Ripari |Draina |Wellhead/R | Steep |For
Use Open dwa |dplai etl an geway | echarge Slope |est

Space y n and Buffer |s Areas s s
Agricultural
Apiaries Y N Y Y Y Y
Clearing L N N L L L
hGaatrc?heeries farms/fish Y L L | L L N N N
Field crops Y L L N L Y L N N
Orchards Y N Y N L Y L Y N
Pasture Y L L N L N N Y N
Stables Y N N N N N N N L
Nursery Y N L N L Y Y Y N
Recreation and Amusement: Outdoor Recreation
Ball fields Y L N N Y Y N L
Day camps N N L N L Y L N L
Fishing areas Y Y Y Y Y Y L L L
Hunting areas L L L L L L L L L
Natural area Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Nature center Y N N N N Y Y Y Y
Picnic area/playground |Y N L N L Y Y Y Y
Pools/courts Y N N N N Y Y N L
rSahnczjczatisng and Archery L L L N L L L N L
Trails Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Water dependent Use N L L L L Y N N N

https:/townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 71/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

Industrial Uses: Utilities, Community/Region

Public/private roads Y N L I Y L L L
Parking lots L N N N L N N N
Essential access Y I L I L L L L
Sewer/water/Utilities Y I L I Y Y Y L
Sewage and  water

-Iglrzﬁgl]sgrtnping N N ! N N N N
Stations/dams

E))ae;?nn;[ion/retention Y N N L Y L N N
Temporary Uses

Public interest Event Y N N N Y Y N L

(UDC 2002, § 1103)
24.36.050 Wetlands

A. Wetland mitigation shall be that for which a permit has been issued by the United States Army

B.

Corps of Engineers. Permits from the state may also be required.

It is permissible to construct utility and access crossings within wetlands where no other
recourse is available. The proposed use must be authorized by the town and meet the
requirements of this Code, Army Corps of Engineers regulations, and the DNREC. No other
forms of construction are permitted in areas designated as wetlands.

. Any work in buffer areas shall meet the requirements of this Code, Army Corps of Engineers

regulations, and the DNREC.

(UDC 2002, § 1104)

24.36.060 Riparian Buffer Areas (RBA)

A.

B.

C.

Intent. This section shall detail the requirements, allowable disturbances, and permitted
construction practices within all riparian buffer areas within the town.

Waterbody Buffers. The waterbody buffers shall meet the following standards which are
intended to preserve and enhance existing vegetation and to re-vegetate disturbed areas. All
riparian buffer shall be mapped to delineate the resource. No vegetation shall be removed in the
RBA and existing native vegetation shall be preserved to the maximum extent possible. RBA
shall extend a minimum of 100 feet past each top of bank for all waterbodies or 50 feet past the
floodplain or nontidal wetland line (whichever is greater). All RBA areas shall be classified as old
field, disturbed land, or meadow, and planted in accordance with this section where native
vegetation is not present. The mapping of RBA's shall be supplied with an exploratory plan and
at subsequent plan submissions to meet the standards of this section.

Surface Waterbodies.

1. No septic systems shall be allowed within an RBA.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 72/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. All developments shall maximize the drainage amount conducted in natural swales
rather than storm sewers. A stormwater system's discharge to streams or watercourses
shall be by sheet flow through grassland or discharged from a stormwater management
facility having a wetland or aquatic bench.

3. Stormwater runoff from all parking areas shall be directed to a stormwater management
facility before it is discharged into an RBA.

(UDC 2002, § 1105)
24.36.070 Steep Slope Protection

A. Intent. The intent of this section is to protect hillsides and their related soil and vegetative
resources, thereby minimizing adverse environmental effects (refer to TMC 24.36.020 for all
applicable definitions). Specific objectives include the following:

1. Conservation and protection of precautionary and prohibitive slopes from inappropriate
development such as excessive grading, land-form alteration and extensive vegetation
removal.

2. Avoidance of potential hazards to life and property and the disruption of ecological
balance that may be caused by increased runoff, flooding, soil, erosion and
sedimentation, blasting and ripping of rock and landslide and soil failure.

3. Protection of the entire town from uses of land that may result in subsequent
expenditures for public works and disaster relief and adversely affect the economic well-
being of the town.

4. Encouragement of the use of precautionary and prohibitive slopes for open space and

other uses that are compatible with the conservation and protection of natural resources.

B. Applicability And Scope. This regulates the circumstances in which any use may occur on areas
of precautionary and prohibitive slopes.

C. Permitted Uses In Areas Of Precautionary And Prohibitive Slopes. The following uses and no
other are permitted in areas of precautionary and prohibitive slopes:

1. Agricultural uses not requiring cultivation or structures.

2. Game preserve, wildlife sanctuary, woodland preserve or similar conservation uses not
requiring structures.

3. Passive recreation.

4. Water supply wells with the approval of the town engineer and consistent with the
DNREC regulations.

5. Other uses within these areas may be permissible upon approval of the town via a
conditional use or variance application.
D. Prohibited Uses In Areas Of Precautionary And Prohibitive Slopes. The following uses and
activities are specifically prohibited and shall not be subject to variance:
1. Structures.
2. Cut and fill.

3. Soil, rock or mineral extraction.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 73/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
4. Removal of topsoil.
5. On-site sewage disposal systems.
6. Roads, driveways and parking lots.
E. Conditional Uses In Areas Of Prohibitive Slopes. The town is authorized to grant conditional

uses in the form of variances for the following uses, subject to recommendations of the town
engineer.

1. Agricultural cultivation and agricultural uses requiring structures.
Conservation uses requiring structures.

Passive recreation uses requiring structures.

Utility easements and rights-of-way.

Accessory structures.

U S

Individual driveways accessory to single-family detached dwellings only if the town
determines that no practicable alternative alignments exist.

F. Conditional Uses In Areas Of Precautionary Slopes. The town is authorized to grant conditional
uses in the form of variances for the following uses, subject to recommendations of the town
engineer.

1. District in which the property is located.

2. Recreation use, whether open to the public or restricted to private membership, such as
parks, camps, picnic areas and golf courses, when permitted in the district in which the
property is located. Not to include enclosed structures except toilet facilities, but
permitting small shelters usually found in developed outdoor recreational areas. Any
toilet facilities provided shall be connected to central water and sewage systems.

3. Stormwater management facilities.
4. Roads, driveways and parking lots.
5. Central sanitary sewer systems.

6. Accessory uses and structures.

G. Standards For Variances. The town, in considering a variance, shall consider the following:
1. Degree of modification proposed to the topographic, soil and vegetation resources.

2. Techniques and extent of mitigation proposed to offset potential adverse environmental
effects.

3. Effects on adjacent and neighboring properties.

H. Additional Standards For Variances. An affirmative decision shall not be issued by the town for
a variance unless there is evidence that:

1. Development is being proposed on areas of precautionary or prohibitive slopes only
because no other alternative location is practicable.

2. Earthmoving activities and vegetation removal will be conducted only to the extent
necessary to accommodate the proposed uses and structures and in a manner that will
not cause excessive surface water runoff, erosion, sedimentation and unstable soil
conditions.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 74/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

3. Mitigation techniques will be utilized, including but not limited to retaining walls, tree
wells, the establishment of ground covers and/or low spreading shrubs and the use of
erosion control fabric.

4. Proposed structures will be of sound engineering design and footings will be designed in
response to the site's slope, soil and bedrock characteristics.

I. Application Procedures For Variances. An application for a permit shall be filed with the town
who shall make an initial determination on the application. For a use other than those permitted
in this section, an application seeking approval for a variance shall be forwarded to the town, as
appropriate, along with required studies or information. The application for a variance shall be
accompanied by the following:

1. Plans drawn to a scale of at least one inch equals 50 feet depicting the following:
a. Location, dimensions and elevation of the property.
. Existing and proposed uses and development.
. Existing and proposed contours at two-foot intervals.

b

c

d. Location and boundaries of steep slopes and very steep structures.

e. Cross-sections and elevations of the property and proposed structures.
f

. Existing and proposed land cover characteristics of that portion of the property
within the area of precautionary or prohibitive slopes, indicating wooded areas,
open areas, groundcover types, any areas with impervious surfaces and
subsurface soil types.

2. Photographs showing existing uses, vegetation and topography of areas of
precautionary and prohibitive slopes.

3. Narrative report describing the slope, soil and vegetation characteristics of that portion of
the property within the area of the precautionary or prohibitive slopes. Such report shall
also describe:

a. Proposed types of structures and methods of construction, types of foundation
system to be employed and proposed landscaping, sewage disposal and water

supply.
b. Sediment and erosion control measures.

c. Engineering and conservation techniques intended to alleviate adverse
environmental effects that may be created by the proposed use.

(UDC 2002, § 1106)

24.36.080 Drainageways

A. In addition to the open space protection, the drainageway area protected shall be kept open to
provide continuous drainage corridors. Positive surface drainage in these areas shall be
preserved. The protected area may be regraded and reshaped to provide for stormwater
management and drainage.

B. The following standards shall govern the design of stormwater management or surface drainage
systems in drainageways in conjunction with the Delaware Department of Natural Resources
and Environmental Control (DNREC):

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 75/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

1. The drainage shall be designed to slow the time of concentration on the site and retain
maximum ground infiltration.

2. Where flows permit, the channels shall be designed as grassed swales, wetlands, or
mesic grasslands encouraging sheet flow, except in forests.

3. All permanent pool stormwater management ponds shall be designed to have aquatic
benches planted approved plant materials.

(UDC 2002, § 1107)
24.36.090 Critical Natural Areas (CNA)

The applicant is required to contact the DNREC for the determination of all potential CNA and shall
follow the state guidelines for developmental procedures.

(UDC 2002, § 1108)
24.36.100 Water Resources Protection Areas (WRPA)

Water resource protection areas are wellheads class A and recharge areas. All such areas are as
depicted on the three-map series "Water Resource Protections Areas for the City of Newark, City of
Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware," prepared by the water resources agency for the county
that is dated 1993, or as amended. These areas shall be protected as required by the following
sections to protect the town's water resources from contamination and pollution.

(UDC 2002, § 1109)
24.36.110 Wellheads Class A

A. Areas within 300 feet of the well shall be 100 percent open space.

B. The protection area around the well may be reduced to a 150 foot radius provided a
hydrogeolocial report, prepared by a state registered geologist and submitted to the satisfaction
of the Delaware Geological Survey and the DNREC, is prepared. The report must certify that:

1. The minimum 60-day time of travel from a point to the public water supply well is
maintained; and

2. The well draws from a confined aquifer.

C. The natural runoff flowing into wellhead areas shall be allowed and all new stormwater run-off
shall be diverted around the wellhead protection areas wherever practical.

D. The stormwater system's discharge to wellhead WRPA's shall be by sheet through grassland or
discharge from a stormwater management facility having a wetland or aquatic bench.
Stormwater runoff from all parking areas shall be directed to a stormwater management facility
before it is discharged into a wellhead WRPA.

E. Within the wellhead area, impervious surfaces shall be limited to the buildings and access
associated with the well and distribution and treatment facilities and their maintenance.

F. The minimum lot area for a proposed public water supply well and related facility drawing from a
confined aquifer shall be one acre and the minimum lot area for a public well drawing from an
unconfined aquifer shall be two acres.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 76/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

G. This section does not apply to wellheads constructed prior to August 2001. All existing
wellheads constructed prior to this date are considered as being "grandfathered" and the
regulations of the section do not apply.

(UDC 2002, § 1110)
24.36.120 Recharge Areas

Recharge areas are those areas with high percentages of sand and gravel that have "excellent"
potential for recharge as determined through a stack unit mapping analysis performed originally by the
Delaware Geological Survey.

A. Within Townsend Proper. Development within the environs of downtown (Townsend Proper, as
defined in TMC 24.36.020) may occur provided the gross percent impervious cover of the parcel
within the recharge area is either 50 percent or as dictated under 24 Appendix A of this Chapter
for maximum lot coverage (whichever is most stringent). In situations where the existing
impervious cover of a property is over 50 percent and the applicant desires to re-develop the
property, the gross impervious cover shall be equal to or less than the original impervious cover
percentage of the original site. In areas zoned as either Commercial (C) or Industrial (l) within
Townsend Proper, the applicant can seek relief by submitting an environmental study and report
certified by a state registered professional geologist or professional engineer with a background
in hydrogeology that indicates that additional development would not endanger the public or the
environment.

B. Within Townsend Greenbelt. New development within the environs outside of Townsend Proper
(Townsend Greenbelt, as defined in TMC 24.36.020) may occur provided the gross percent
impervious cover of the entire parcel and/or development within the recharge area to be
constructed is 30 percent or less.

C. Underground Storage Tanks. No underground storage tanks containing petroleum or any
chemicals shall be permitted in a designated recharge area.

D. Underground Recharge Systems. For all new construction, all structures shall be required to
discharge all roof drains into underground recharge systems. No aboveground discharge is
permitted in recharge areas by roof drains.

E. Figure 11-11.1. Refer to figure 11-11.1 for the town boundaries of the areas designated as
"Townsend Proper" and "Townsend Greenbelt."

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 77/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
Figure 11-11.1

(UDC 2002, § 1111)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.36.130 Boundary Determination For WRPA

A. All subdivision and land development plans depicting development or land disturbance
submitted for town review shall be evaluated for the existence of water resource protection
areas by scaling for distances shown on the water resource protection area map. If existing, the
boundaries of the areas shall be delineated on the plan by the applicant's engineer.

B. When there appears to be a conflict between the mapped boundary and actual site conditions,
the applicant may engage the services of professional practitioners set forth in this section to
prepare a report intended to determine more accurately the precise boundary of the water
resource protection area, which report shall be submitted to the town with the detailed findings
necessary to indicate the location of the boundary.

C. The plan showing the boundary conflict should indicate the following:

1. A detailed topographic layout of the subdivision and/or area to be developed prepared
by a land surveyor or engineer;

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 78/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

2. For floodplain and erosion-prone slopes boundary determinations, a revised surface
soils map of the subdivision and/or area prepared by a DNREC-licensed soil scientist
including a written report of the on-site field inspection and test boring data;

3. For reservoir watershed, wellhead and recharge boundary determinations, a site-specific
geological and hydrogeological analysis shall be performed by a state-registered
professional geologist or engineer with a background in hydrogeology and shall be
based upon through site investigation and testing; and

4. Evidence derived from a site-specific investigation which may include aquifer testing,
test borings, test pits, observation wells, groundwater elevations and topography surveys
as appropriate for the type of water resource protection area to clearly demonstrate that
the area in question does not meet the definition of a water resource protection area as
defined in this section.

D. The applicant is permitted to make a submission to the county with the advice of the Delaware
Geological Survey and the water resources agency, to adjust the boundary or area designation
based thereon. Such adjustments shall have the effect of exempting the subject parcel from the
use regulations of this section and shall have the effect of amending the limits of the water
resource protection area. The applicant will then be required to provide a notification sent by the
county indicating that they concur with the amended boundary location in order to be exempted
from the requirements of this section.

(UDC 2002, § 1112)
24.36.140 Uniform Standards And Criteria

The following standards and criteria shall be applicable to any limited use, special use or other use
requiring an environmental impact assessment permitted pursuant to this division. stormwater
management facilities shall be designed and constructed in accordance with DNREC "Delaware
Sediment and Stormwater Regulations," dated January 23, 1991 or as later revised.

(UDC 2002, § 1113)

24.36.150 Environmental Impact Assessment Report

If a proposed use requires an environmental impact assessment report, the applicant shall have such a
report certified by a professional engineer, geologist or other certified professional in the applicable
environmental discipline. Mitigation cannot be used where the conflict can be avoided or minimized.
The report shall contain the following criteria, given in order of preference:

A. Site Character. The report shall identify all potential on-site sensitive environmental concerns.

B. Avoidance. Alternative sites or routes shall be identified that would not damage the resource or
result in less resource damage. Reasons shall be provided explaining why using these sites is
impossible or infeasible versus that proposed.

C. Minimization. The applicant shall demonstrate that the plan minimizes the impact of the activity,
route, or use on the resource. The applicant shall also demonstrate that the areas impacted
shall be lowest quality and result in the least damage to the resource.

D. Mitigation. A mitigation plan shall be submitted indicating mitigation activities. On-site
replacement is the most acceptable form of mitigation. However, mitigation can include
restoration and enhancement after the use is abandoned. Mitigation by replacement on another
site shall be at a ratio of 2:1. Mitigation may also include enhancement; this ratio shall be 4:1.
Final town approval is required for all other forms of mitigation not consistent with this section.

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 79/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview
(UDC 2002, § 1114)

24.36.160 Clearing

With all natural resources, clearing shall be permitted only under the following conditions:

A. To prepare land for a use permitted by this chapter;

B. As a reforestation measure, or to enhance to improve the quality of existing vegetation or as a
means to eliminate dead, diseased, or hazardous tree stands;

C. Where a clearcutting operation is deemed permissible for one of the reasons stated in this
paragraph, it shall be consistent with the terms of TMC 24.36.170 and in accordance with the
State Department of Agriculture Division of Forest Services.

(UDC 2002, § 1115)

24.36.170 Reforestation Requirements

All open spaces to be reforested shall be planted according to the plant species listed in Table 11-16.
The area around each tree shall be mulched. The entire area may be mulched or seeded in a perennial
grass mix with a minimum 30 percent indigenous herbaceous forest, or grassland species. Canopy
trees shall be selected to provide a diversity of native plants. Plantings shall include a minimum of four
species. Where more than 100 canopy trees are required, a minimum of six species shall be provided;
no one species shall have less than five or more than 30 percent of the total trees.

A. Protected Resources. Protected resources shall not be disturbed with roadways, parking lots or
utility lines. The applicant must demonstrate no possible alternative to crossing the resource
exists and the route selected must be the least disruptive.

B. Riparian Buffer Areas. Stormwater outfall shall be permitted, provided that the discharge
velocity from the terminal end of the pipe or the associated energy dissipation practice does not
exceed two feet per second (fps) for the two year frequency storm event. In addition, best
management practices methods shall be used to convert concentrated flow to uniform, shallow
sheet flow, filter sediments, and control erosion.

Table 11-16
REFORESTATON REQUIREMENTS PER ACRE

No. of Plants Types of Plants
4" caliper canopy
4 3" caliper canopy
10 1 1/2" caliper canopy
6 1 1/2" caliper or 56 ft. understory trees
50 6 ft. whip canopy
30 bare root shrubs or 1 gallon pots

(UDC 2002, § 1116)
24.36.180 Roads, Parking Lots And Utilities

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE 80/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

A. Protected Areas. Protected resources shall not be disturbed with roadways, parking lots or utility
lines. The applicant must demonstrate no possible alternate to crossing the resource exists and
the route selected must be the least disruptive.

B. Riparian Buffer Areas. Stormwater outfall shall be permitted, provided that the discharge
velocity from the terminal end of the pipe or the associated energy dissipation practice does not
exceed two feet per second (fps) for the two year frequency storm event. In addition, best
management practice methods shall be used to convert concentrated flow to uniform, shallow
sheet flow, filter sediments, and control erosion.

(UDC 2002, § 1117)

24 - Appendices

24 - Appendix A Zoning District Regulations

24 - Appendix B Developmental Flowchart

24 - Appendix C Major Subdivision Checklist

24 - Appendix D Minor Subdivision Checklist

24 - Appendix A Zoning District Regulations

Appendix "A" Town of Townsend Zoning District Regulations

;ese R RI1A  |R1 [R2 |[R3 |R-AA |C Gener Eﬁ:;de
. | Residen |Residen |Resid | Resid | Resid | Resid | Comme | al
rvatio | ,. . . . i . . Suburb
n tial tial ential | ential |ential | ential |rcial Indust an
ry
43,56 12
0 sq ,500 10,000 9,000 (7,000 |, 7,000 (5,000 43,560 | .«
ft " sq. ft sq. ft. sq. ft. |[sq. ft. sq. ft. |sq. ft. sq. ft
Minimum
sq- ft. | sq. ft. . sq- ft. x
(corner | (corner (corner
lot) lot) lot)
100 100’ 85' 75' 50 * 50' 50' 100' o
Minimum 110"
lot width (Corner * *%
lot)
Minimum
front 50' 25' 25' 25' 25' * 25' 25' 50' *
yard
N 500 |10'each |10'each |19 10" |« 10 10' 200 |
Minimum each |each each
side yard | 100’ , , 25' 25' . 25' . 40' o
both |22 Poth |257both 1 s | oth both |22 POt | potn
Minimum 40 20" 20" 20" 20 * 20" 10" 40' "ok
rear yard
Rear
yard 40' 10' 10' 10' 10' * 10' 10' 40' *
setback

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

81/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM

Print Preview

Side
yard
setback

50'

10'

10'

10’

10'

10'

10'

20’

*%

Maximu
m lot
coverage

35%

35%

35%

35%

40%

35%

75%

80%

*%

Maximu
m
building
height

35'

35’

3%’

35'

35'

35'

35'

35’

*%

Accessory Structure

Rear
yard
setback

40'

5'

5'

5'

5'

*

10'

10'

40’

*%*

Side
yard
setback

50'

10'

10'

20’

*%

Maximu
m lot
CcoV.

35%

35%

35%

35%

40%

35%

75%

80%

*%

Maximu
m
building
height

35'

12'

12

12'

12'

35'

35'

3%’

*%

(Ord. of 04-05-2005, § 101)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020
Amended by Ord. 2022-002 on 4/20/2022

24 - Appendix B Developmental Flowchart

Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

82/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

TOWNSEND — SUBDIVISION & LAND DEVELOPMENT FLOW CHART

5] Distribution of Project
information by Town Manaper

4] Town Manazer Submits to Town
Council for Recommendation for
Planning Commission *  Planning Commission
»  Land Use & Development ) e
*  Town Engineer
* Townsend Fire Co.

2] applicant submits subdivision
andfor Land Development Plan to Town
= Application must be received
by 15" of Month Preceding
Council Meeting

3] Administrative Review for
Complatensss by Town Manager
= Only Complete Applications

Procesd after Town Manager
Review Committes

[12] pistribustion by
Town Manager

= Town Coundil

« planning
‘Commission

* Town Engineer

= Town Fire Ca.

[6] Planning Commission

[1a] Towm
Council Meeting

[20] Pan Recording
= Signatures
48] Distribution by Town 7 2 o Pian Preparer
Manager 'QM;“ o Applicant/Owner
© Town Engineer
o Town Council
= recorded by Applicant

*  Town Engineer
+  Townsend Fire co.

Rev. 3/19/2013

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24 - Appendix C Major Subdivision Checklist

Minor Subdivision or Land Development Submission Requirements

Name of subdivision or development

Name and address of the owner and applicant

]

Name and address of the engineer or surveyor who prepared the plan

Written and graphic scale, not exceeding 1"=50"

Sheet size of either 24" x 36" or 24" x 42"

North arrow

Plan legend

(A A R

Date of the original plan and all subsequent revision dates

Sheet number, if multiple sheets are used

A location map with a scale of no less than 1" = 500' indicating adjacent streets

Certification of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor

Certification of ownership

[ A A

Certification of plan approval

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

83/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

Tax parcel numbers

Zoning district of the subject tract

Source of title

B R

Survey datum and local benchmark

Total site gross and net acreage

Name of water supplier and the note
"Water supply is subject to the State Department of natural Resources and
Environmental Control and the Delaware Department of Health".

Sanitary Sewage disposal method

Number of existing and proposed lots or dwellings units

Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots

Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area

Location of existing and proposed building and structures

The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets

(R R .

Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection

Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards

Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks

Calculation of required off-street loading areas

Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways

(R R

Location and design of all proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking spaces
and access aisle dimensions and directional arrows indicating proposed traffic
circulation patterns

Existing and proposed building coverage

Existing and proposed impervious coverage

Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoining property owners

Location of any water bodies and watercourses

[ I A A

Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map panel number

Location of any wetlands areas delineated during a time of seasonal high ground
water tables. If no wetlands present on site, a letter of nonexistence for wetlands is
required

Location and identification of any historic structures

Location of all significant natural or manmade structures

Existing and proposed deed restrictions, easements or protective covenants

Grading plan indicating existing contours (at two-foot intervals), proposed grading,
spot elevations and finished floor elevations and top and bottom of wall elevations for
any retaining walls over two feet

Limit of existing tree masses and location, size and species of all individual trees over
six-inch caliper. A limit of disturbance line

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

84/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

A limit of disturbance line 0
A soil erosion and sediment control plan O
Stormwater management plan O
Solid waste management plan \
Landscape plan O
A listing of all existing nonconforming buildings, uses or structures O
Digital copies of the submitted application packet.

Once the plan has final approval, digital copies in CAD or other applicable engineering 0
software must be submitted to the Town Clerk and the Town Engineer

Final checklist requirements

Signature of Town Engineer Date
HISTORY

Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24 - Appendix D Minor Subdivision Checklist

Major Subdivision or Land Development Submission Requirements

Name of subdivision or development 0
Name and address of the owner and applicant 0
Name and address of the engineer or surveyor who prepared the plan |
Written and graphic scale, not exceeding 1"=50' 0
Sheet size of either 24" x 36" or 24" x 42" O
North arrow 0
Plan legend 0
Date of the original plan and all subsequent revision dates \
Sheet number, if multiple sheets are used 0
A location map with a scale of no less than 1" = 500' indicating adjacent streets 0
Certification of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor 0
Certification of ownership 0
Certification of plan approval |
Tax parcel numbers 0
Zoning district of the subject tract 0
Source of title 0
Survey datum and local benchmark 0

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

85/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

Total site gross and net acreage

Name of water supplier and the note

"Water supply is subject to the State Department of natural Resources and 0
Environmental Control and the Delaware Department of Health"

Sanitary Sewage disposal method 0
Number of existing and proposed lots or dwellings units 0
Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots \
Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area 0
Location of existing and proposed building and structures 0
The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets 0
Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection 0
Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards |
Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks 0
Calculation of required off-street loading areas 0
Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways Location and
design of all proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking spaces and access 0
aisle dimensions and directional arrows indicating proposed traffic circulation patterns
Existing and proposed building coverage |
Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoining property owners |
Location of any water bodies and watercourses 0
Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map panel number 0
Location of any wetlands areas delineated during a time of seasonal high ground
water tables. If no wetlands present on site, a letter of nonexistence for wetlands is O
required

Location and identification of any historic structures |
Location of all significant natural or manmade structures 0
Existing and proposed deed restrictions, easements or protective covenants 0
Grading plan indicating existing contours (at two-foot intervals), proposed grading,

spot elevations and finished floor elevations and top and bottom of wall elevations for 0
any retaining walls over two feet

ij_it of exi§ting tree masses and Iocat_ion, size and species of all individual trees over -
six-inch caliper. A limit of disturbance line

A soil erosion and sediment control plan 0
Stormwater management plan |
Solid waste management plan 0
Landscape plan 0
A listing of all existing nonconforming buildings, uses or structures 0

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

86/87



8/14/23, 9:41 AM Print Preview

Digital copies of the submitted application packet. Once the plan has final approval,
digital copies in CAD or other applicable engineering software must be submitted to
the Town Clerk and the Town Engineer

A traffic impact study, including mitigation measures if deemed necessary by the
study. The name, right-of-way width, cartway width, profiles, cross sections and
grading for all proposed streets

Type, location, size, material of construction, slope and profiles for all proposed
utilities

Location, size material of construction slope and profiles for all prosed storm sewers

Location, grade elevation and invert elevation for all catch basins, inlets and
manholes

Location of all proposed fire hydrants

Phasing lines for phased developments

Sidewalk locations, pedestrian ways, bikeways, walkways

Proposed passive and active recreation areas

Listing of any required variances

Lo | o

Wetland report

Floodplain study

Construction details for all proposed improvements (UDC 2002, §2003)

Final checklist requirements

DelDOT Pipe cover and lateral spreadsheet

(A N

Signature of Town Engineer Date

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book/print?type=ordinances&name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE

87/87



24 ZONING AND UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE

24.04 In General
24.08 Administration
24.12 Establishment of Zoning Districts
24.16 Vacant, Deteriorated Structures
24.20 Design Standards
24.24 Sign Regulations
24.28 Permitted Modifications
24.32 Land Development Requirements
24.36 Environmental Protection Regulations
24 - Appendices

Editor's Note: Printed as a chapter in this Code of Ordinances is the unified development code for the town
as compiled and adopted in January 2000 and as amended through amendmehts adopted in June 2020.

Charter References: Authority to adopt zoning regulations, 8 201.1.31.

State Law References: Authority to adopt zoning regulations; 22 Del. C. § 301 et seq.
24.04 In General

24.04.010 Enactment
24.04.020 Title
24.04.030 Enabling Legislation
24.04.040 Purpose
24.04.050 Interpretation
24.04.060 Definitions - Zoning And Unified Development Code
24.04.070 Applicability Oof Regulations
24.04.080 Preservation of Natural Features
24.04.090 Regulations Applicable To All Zoning Districts
24.04.100 Submission Requirements
24.04410 Violation And Penalties

24.04.010 Enactment
Thezoning and unified development code which is printed herein shall be applicable within the corporate
limitsiof the town.

24.04.020 Title
This zoning ordinance shall be known and cited as the "Unified Development Code of the Town."

(UDC 2002, §100)

24.04.030 Enabling Legislation

The enabling legislation is an authorization by the general assembly permitting the town as well as other
municipalities to adopt a zoning ordinance. 22 Del. C. § 301, permits the legislative bodies of cities and
incorporated towns to regulate such matters as the height, number of stories and size of buildings and other
structures, percentage of lot that may be occupied, the size of yards, courts and other spaces, the density of
population, and the location and the use of land for trade, industry, residence or other purposes.

(UDC 2002, § 101)
24.04.040 Purpose



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_ZONING_AND_UNIFIED_DEVELOPMENT_CODE
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04_In_General
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08_Administration
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12_Establishment_Of_Zoning_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16_Vacant,_Deteriorated_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20_Design_Standards
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24_Sign_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28_Permitted_Modifications
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32_Land_Development_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36_Environmental_Protection_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendices
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04_In_General
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.010_Enactment
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.020_Title
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.030_Enabling_Legislation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.040_Purpose
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.050_Interpretation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.060_Definitions_-_Zoning_And_Unified_Development_Code
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.070_Applicability_Of_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.080_Preservation_Of_Natural_Features
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.090_Regulations_Applicable_To_All_Zoning_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.100_Submission_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.110_Violation_And_Penalties
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.010_Enactment
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.020_Title
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.030_Enabling_Legislation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.040_Purpose

The purpose of the zoning ordinance of the town is to promote, in accordance with the present and future
needs of its citizens, the health, safety and morals, convenience, order, prosperity and general welfare of
the present and future inhabitants of the town. These interests may be promoted by restricting the heights,
number of stories and size of buildings and other structures; the percentage of the lot that may be occupied;
the size of yards, courts and open spaces; the density of development; and the location, use and extent of
use of buildings, structures and land for resident, trade, industry and other purposes by creating districts for
said purposes and by establishing boundaries for such districts; by providing for the establishment of a
board of adjustment and by imposing penalties for violation of the zoning ordinance. This chapter is adopted
S0 as to lessen congestion in the streets, to secure safety from fire, panic and other dangers; provide adequate
light and air; prevent the overcrowding of land; to avoid the undue concentration of population; to facilitate
the adequate provision of transportation, water supply, drainage, sanitation, parks, recreation, education

(UDC 2002, § 102)

24.04.050 Interpretation

This chapter shall be interpreted, whenever an administrator,
conformance with the purposes intended to be served by its
supporting definitions is to protect both individual property o
impacts, which might otherwise be the result of a
interfere with or abrogate or annul any ease
between parties provided, however, that this i
premises or upon the height of buildings or othe
provisions of this chapter shall geve
property in the jurisdiction g 5 che i pning district, the said property shall
be classified as (P), "pres i

(UDC 2002, § 103)

ot intended by this chapter to
easements, or other agreements
s upon the use of buildings or
ts set forth in this chapter, the

"Adult bookstore" means an establishment having, as a substantial or significant portion of its stock in trade,
books, magazines or other periodicals which are distinguished or characterized by their emphasis on matter
depicting, describing or relating to specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas, as defined in
this section (see below), or an establishment with a segment or section devoted to the sale or display of
such material.

"Adult entertainment establishment™ means an enclosed building used for presenting material and/or
conduct distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to
specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas, as defined in this section, for observation by patron
therein. This includes bars, restaurants, movie theaters, theaters, peep shows, strip halls, special cabarets,
physical culture establishments, photographic studios, or any other normally permitted use where "specified
sexual activities" are displayed, or where "specified anatomical areas" are exposed to customers.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.050_Interpretation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.060_Definitions_-_Zoning_And_Unified_Development_Code

1. For the purpose of this definition, the term "specified sexual activities" is defined as:

1. Human genitals in a state of sexual stimulation or arousal,

2. Acts of human masturbation, sexual intercourse or sodomy;

3. Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttock or female breast.
2. For purposes of this definition, the term "specified anatomical areas" is defined as:

1. Less than completely and opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region buttocks and

female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola.
2. Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state even if completely and opaquely covered.

"Alteration" means a change in the appearance of building, structure, site, or object which is not otherwise
covered by the definition of demolition, or any other change for which a permit is required.

"Apartment™ means a multifamily dwelling unit contained in a building comprised of tw
units.

re dwelling

"Basement" means a story partly underground and having more than one-h
above the grade.

ceiling height

"Board of adjustment” means the officially established board of ent of the town.

5 the aggre & maximum horizontal cross section areas excluding
, of all build

of a building permitted on a lot. Building heights
the lowest ground elevation to the highest point of

Cellar" means a story partly underground and having more than one-half of its clear ceiling height below
grade.

"Certificate of zone compliance™ means a certificate issued by the board of adjustments upon completion
of construction, alteration or change in occupancy of a building. Said certificate shall acknowledge
compliance with all requirements of this article, such adjustments thereto granted by the board of
adjustment, construction in accordance with the plans and specifications filed with the board of adjustment
and all applicable town regulations.

"Church™ means a building or group of buildings including customary and secondary buildings designed
or intended for public worship, organized religious services, and accessory uses associated therewith.



"Demolition™ means the razing or destruction, whether entirely or in significant part, of a building or
structure, site or object. Demolition includes the removal of a building, structure or object from its site, the
removal or destruction of the facade or surface, or alteration to such an extent that repair is not feasible or
S0 costly so as to be prohibitive, rendering the property unfit for use.

"Density, residential gross" means the total number of dwelling units which may be developed or are
developed on a tract of land before requirements for streets, infrastructure and open space are provided.
Residential gross density is determined by dividing the number of dwelling units by the total tract area.

"Density, residential net" means the resulting number of units which may be developed on a site after the
requirements for streets, infrastructure and open space have been provided. Residential net density is
determined by dividing the total number of dwelling units by the net buildable area of the tract.

"Developer" means a person, firm or corporation filing an application for developmen
section.

ined by this

"Development™ means any new or expanded use of a building, structure, land

automobiles including, for example: drive-in and drive-thru
similar operation within drive-thru windows.

"Dwelling" means a building, or portion of a bui
cooking and sanitary facilities, excluding com

"Dwelling, attached" means two or more dwelli i re or attached structures, each
which could have a single lot, whieh all. cludes two-family dwellings.

"Dwelling, multifamily" me 2 k i velling unit with either direct access
to the outside, or thrg : / i eparate kitchen facility and living quarters in each
unit.

"Dwellingesi

4. It is permanently mounted on a solid foundation or pier foundation system and anchored, and in
each case in accordance with BOCA.

5. All wheels, axles, transportation lights and towing apparatus, if any, shall be removed from the
dwelling when it is placed on the foundation in accordance with paragraph C of this definition.

6. All utilities shall be permanently connected in accordance with the town plumbing and mechanical
codes.

7. It has a storage area in a basement located beneath the living area, in an attic area, in a closet area,
in an attached or detached garage or enclosed structure constructed on a permanent foundation and
having an area of not less than 160 square feet or any combination thereof. The total storage area
must not be less than 15 percent of the gross floor area of the dwelling unit. It shall have a weather-
resistant exterior covering material comparable in appearance, quality and durability to materials



used on the dwelling, such as brick, stone facing, treated lumber, masonry or masonry veneer,
which shall extend to the ground.
8. The siding of all dwellings shall be continuous so as to enclose any joining of two or more sections.
9. It complies with all pertinent sections of the building code and the state fire and safety codes.

"Dwelling unit" means one or more rooms physically arranged so as to create an independent housekeeping
establishment for occupancy of one family with separate facilities for all of the following: sanitation, living,
sleeping, cooking and eating.

"Family" means one or more persons, related by blood or marriage, occupying a dwelling unit and living
as a single nonprofit housekeeping unit.

"Farm" means the land, buildings, structures and machinery which are primarily ada
agricultural purposes.

"Farm building" means any building used for storing agricultural equipme oduce, housing
livestock and poultry and processing dairy products. The term "farm buildi

"Flood fringe™ means those portions of the floodplain, outside th j i tion by the
100-year flood and generally associated with standing or slo flowing
water. The extent of the flood fringe is determined by detaile FEMA
flood insurance study.

"Floodplain™ means a relatively flat or low-lyi
is subject to periodic partial or complete inund
Emergency Management Agencys (FEMA) f
mundatlon by a 100 -year storm i

er, stream, or watercourse which
areas identified by the Federal
as being subject to periodic
eas for which no base flood

n accessory building for storage purposes only and used by the owner or tenant
ch no business, service or industry is conducted.

"Garden ap ent" See apartment.

"Gross floor area" means the sum of the total horizontal areas of every floor of every building on a lot. The
measurement of gross floor area shall be computed by applying the following criteria:

1. The horizontal square footage is measured from the outside face of all exterior walls.

2. Cellars, basements, penthouses, attics, covered or uncovered porches, balconies and decks,
enclosed storage or mechanical areas, mezzanines and similar structures shall be included as GFA
wherever at least seven feet are provided between finished floor and ceiling.

3. Nodeduction shall apply for horizontal areas void of actual floor space, for example, elevator shafts
and stairwells.



"Home occupation" means a business, profession, occupation or trade located entirely within and accessory
to a residential dwelling which does not change the essential character of the residential use and which is
not evident from the exterior of the dwelling.

"Impervious surfaces" means areas that do not allow significant amounts of water to penetrate.

"Junk yard" or "salvage yard" means any outdoor establishment or place of business, which is maintained,
used, or operated for storing, keeping, buying or selling junk or salvage.

"Lot means a parcel of land whose boundaries have been established by a legal instrument such as a
recorded deed, court order, or a recorded plot which is recognized as a separate legal entity for purposes of
transfer of title and possessing frontage on at least one street improved to meet the town standards for street
construction.

"Lot area" means the area of a lot taken at its perimeter exclusive of any portion withi
street right-of-way.

lic or private

"Lot, corner" means a lot at the junction of and fronting on two or more i
"Lot coverage™ means the percentage of the lot area which is cov

"Lot line" means a line, including a property line or lease line,
or other public space.

"Lot line, front" means the street lot line from whi€h,a i case of a corner lot, the lot shall

ion of four or more lots.
ent or multifamily development containing five or more units.
6. Wetlands or floodplain disturbance or stream encroachment.

"Manufactured home means a one-family dwelling unit fabricated in an off-site manufacturing facility for
installation or assembly at the building site, bearing a seal certifying that it was built in compliance with
the Federal Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Code.

"Minor land development means any development not qualifying as a major land development as herein
defined.

"Mobile home means a transportable one-family dwelling larger that 320 square feet, designed to be used
as a year-round residence. This definition does not include motor homes or recreational vehicles.



"Motor vehicle service establishment means a building or use which is intended to be used for fuel sales,
servicing, repairs, maintenance, or cleaning of motor vehicles.

"Net lot area" See lot area.

"Nonconforming building or use" means a building or a use of land or a building existing at the effective
date of the ordinance from which this section is derived which does not conform to the requirements of this
article.

"Nonconforming lot" means a lot legally existing at the effective date of the ordinance from which this
section is derived which does not conform to the requirements of the zoning district in which it is located,
such as lot area, coverage, width, setbacks, etc.

"Office" means a building or portion of a building wherein services are performed involvi
administrative, data processing, professional or clerical operations.

"Open space" means land area to be left open and undeveloped as a natural res
and buffer yards as defined in this section.

"Parking space" means an open space on a lot or in a garage,
vehicles, the area of which is not less than nine feet x 18 feet,
alley, driveway or vehicular access way.

"Residential professional s i office which is operated from a residential property

and which is_limited to gdici , dentistry, architecture, engineering and similar

aterial or articles, including scrap metallic or nonmetallic items, whole
ipment, paper, glass, containers and structures, which is separated for industrial

"Sign" mea object, device, display or structure, or part thereof, situated outdoors or indoors, which
is used to advertise, identify, display, direct or attract attention to an object, service, event, or location by
any means, including words, letters, figures, design, symbols, fixtures, colors, illumination or projected
images and as further defined in this section.

"Special exception” means a form of permitted use, authorized by this article, under the jurisdiction of the
board of adjustment. The board of adjustment is empowered to grant permission for special exceptions,
consistent with the public interest, in compliance with the standards and procedures established in this
article.

"Story" means that portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the
next floor above it, or if there is no floor above it, then the space between the floor and the ceiling next
above it.



""Story, first" means the ground floor story of a building, provided its floor level is not more than four feet
below the mean lot level adjacent to the foundations.

"Story, half" means a story under a sloping roof at the top of the building, the floor of which is not more
than two feet below the wall plate.

"Street" means a strip of land comprising the entire area within the right-of-way, intended for use as a
means of vehicular and pedestrian circulation to provide access to more than one lot. However, the
establishment of a common driveway for access purposes for no more than three separate parcels contiguous
to one another shall not be considered a street as this term is defined.

"Street, arterial” means a street, which serves, or is designed to serve as a connection between uses which
generate heavy traffic volumes, or between other arterial streets.

"Street, collector" means a street, which serves or is designed to serve as the connecti m local streets

to the arterial streets system.

"Street, cul-de-sac™ means a short, independent, local street having onl
terminating in a circular turn-around or other approved termination.

"Street line" means a property line of a lot that coincides, wit
a street lot line.

"Street, local" means a street, which serves or is designed to serve access to abutting properties.

"Structure” means any man-made object having location on land or in the water,

whether or not affixed to the land.

"Structure, permanent” means a8 he g hed to another structure in a
fixed position.

"Structure, temporar

"Townhouse" means a single-family attached dwelling unit, with a single unit going from ground to roof,
and with individual outside access.

"Use" means the specific purposes for which the land or building is designed, arranged, intended, or for
which it is or may be occupied or maintained.

"Yard" means an unoccupied space open to the sky on the same lot with a building or structure, the depth
of which is determined by the specific requirements of the zoning district in which it is located.

"Yard, front" means a yard extending the full width of the lot between street line and the principal building
erected thereon, the depth of which is equal to or exceeds the required setback.



"Yard, rear" means a yard extending the full width of the lot between the rear lot line and the principal
building.

"Yard, side" means a yard between the principal building and the side lot line extending from the street line
to the rear lot line.

(UDC 2002, § 104)
24.04.070 Applicability Of Regulations

1. No building shall hereafter be erected and no existing building shall be moved, structurally altered,
rebuilt, added to, enlarged, nor shall any building or land be used for any purpose other than those
included among the uses listed as permitted uses in each zone by this article a eeting the

requirements set forth in 24 Appendix A of this chapter, entitled Schedule a and Bulk
Requirements. No yard contiguous to any building shall be encroached reduced in any

manner, except in conformity to the area and bulk requirements, of requirements,
and aII other regulatlons designated in this article for the zoning i ch building or

(UDC 2002, § 200)
24.04.080 Preservation Of Natural Features

(UDC 200

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.04.090 Requlations Applicable To All Zoning Districts

1. No lot shall have erected upon it more than one principal residential building.

2. No yard, setback or open space provided on a lot for the purpose of complying with the provisions
of this section shall be considered to provide a yard, setback or open space for any other lot.

3. Every principal building shall be built upon a lot, which possesses frontage upon a street improved
to meet the town's requirements for street construction.

4. All yards facing on a street shall be considered front yards and shall conform to the minimum front
yard requirements for the zone in which it is located. Corner lots shall provide the minimum front
yard requirements for the respective zone for both front yards.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.070_Applicability_Of_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.080_Preservation_Of_Natural_Features
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.090_Regulations_Applicable_To_All_Zoning_Districts

5. Where a building lot obtains frontage on a street, which the comprehensive plan or the official map
of the town indicates is proposed for right-of-way widening, the required front yard setback area
shall be measured from the proposed right-of-way line.

6. No front yard shall be used for open storage of boats, trailers, recreation vehicles or equipment

except for passenger automobile parking on driveways. Boats, trailers, recreation vehicles or

equipment shall be stored in side or rear yards only.

The overnight parking of trucks or commercial vehicles in a residential area shall be prohibited.

8. Accessory buildings or structures shall be located so as to conform to the required setbacks for the
zone in which the structure is located. Accessory buildings or structures shall be located to the rear
of the required front yard.

9. The provisions of this section shall not apply to customary local utility distribution or collection

~

lines such as water, gas, telephone, or electric service. All facilities, such as p g stations,
repeater stations and electric substations that require a structure abovegrade s ubject to the
provisions of this section.

10. An ornamental fence or wall not more than 3 1/2 feet in height ma or enclose any
front or side yard to a depth from the street line to the required d .

11. At the intersection of two or more streets, no hedge, fence, i t or tree) or
other such fixture which is higher than two feet above ¢ ision shall
be permitted in the triangular area formed by the inte j each 20

feet distant from said intersection along said street line.

(UDC 2002, § 202)
24.04.100 Submission Requirements

cation of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor.

>ertification of ownership.

3. Certification of plan approval.

14. Tax parcel numbers.

15. Zoning district of the subject tract.

16. Source of title.

17. Survey datum and local benchmark.

18. Total site gross and net acreage.

19. Name of water supplier and the note "Water supply is subject to the State Department of
Natural Resources and Environmental Control and the Delaware Department of Health."”

20. Sanitary sewage disposal method.

21. Number of existing and proposed lots or dwelling units.

22. Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots.

23. Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.100_Submission_Requirements

24.
25.
26.
217.
28.
29.

30.
31.
32.

33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.

39.
40.
41.
42.

plan
1.

N

'—‘¢°9°.\‘.°’.¢"':'>S*>

O

Location of existing and proposed building and structures.

The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets.

Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection.

Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards.

Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks.

Calculation of required off-street parking spaces and number of existing and proposed
spaces.

Location of off-street loading areas.

Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways.

Location and design of all proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking space and
access aisle dimensions and directional arrows indicating proposed traffic circulation
patterns.

Existing and proposed building coverage.
Existing and proposed impervious coverage.
Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoi
Location of any water bodies and watercourses.
Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map
Location of any wetlands areas delineated duri i nd water

OWnNEers.

otective covenants.
intervals), proposed grading, spot
om of wall elevations for any

Existing and proposed deed res
Grading plan indicating existin
elevations and finished floor el
retalnlng Walls over.two feet.

of all individual trees over six

inal approval digital copies in CAD or other applicable engineering
ust be submitted to the Town Clerk and the Town Engineer.

ent shall contain all of the information required for minor subdivision/land development

nd the additional following information (if applicable):

A traffic impact study, including mitigation measures if deemed necessary by the study.
The name, right-of-way width, cartway width, profiles, cross sections and grading for all
proposed streets.

Type, location, size, material of construction, slope and profiles for all proposed utilities.
Location, size, material of construction slope and profiles for all proposed storm sewers.
Location, grate elevation and invert elevation for all catchbasins, inlets and manholes.
Location of all proposed fire hydrants.

Phasing lines for phased developments.

Sidewalk locations, pedestrian ways, bikeways, walkways.

Proposed passive and active recreation areas.

Listing of any required variances.



11. Wetland report.

12. Floodplain study.

13. Construction details for all proposed improvements.

14. Final Checklist by Town Engineer (Appendix D - Major Development Checklist).

15. Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT) Pipe cover and lateral spreadsheet.

(UDC 2002, § 203)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.04.110 Violation And Penalties
Any person that shall violate the provisions of this article, or do any act or thing prohibite efuse to do
any act or thing required to be done, or refuse or fail to comply with an order of the bui official or an

order of the board of adjustment, shall upon conviction thereof, be subject for ation to a forfeit
fine not to exceed $100.00. In default to the payment of such fine imposed, s y be subject to
imprisonment not exceeding 30 days. Whenever such person shall ha tified by the
building official or by service of a summons in prosecution, or in a t the person

separate offense punishable by a like fine or penalty.
(UDC 2002, § 902)
24.08 Administration

24.08.010 Generally
24.08.020 Board Adjustment
24.08.030 Amendments
24.08.040 Commission
24.08.050 orming Uses

24.08.010 Generally

council to enforce the provisions of this chapter and to

for any building or for the use of any premises which would violate any

icle. It shall also be the duty of all officers and employees of the town
reporting any apparent violation in new construction, reconstruction

e methods of administering this chapter and the procedures to be followed in

its shall be as follows:

ises shall be used, no excavation for any building shall occur, and no building

ucturally changed, altered, or occupied or used until a certificate of zoning compliance

shall have been issued by the town council, stating that the building or proposed use of a

building or proposed use of land complies with the provisions of this chapter.

2. It shall be the duty of the town council to keep a record of all applications for certificate of
zoning compliance, all certificates issued, all building permits, together with any notations
of any special conditions involved.

3. No building shall be erected, constructed, altered, moved, converted, extended or enlarged
without the owner first obtaining a building permit from the town council. No such permit
shall be issued until the applicant obtains a certificate of zoning compliance. Routine
maintenance that does not result in any change to the building will not require a building
permit. If the erection, construction, alteration, move, reconstruction, conversion,
extension or enlargement is such as to alter the outside dimension of the building, or to


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.04.110_Violation_And_Penalties
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08_Administration
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.010_Generally
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.020_Board_Of_Adjustment
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.030_Amendments
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.040_Planning_Commission
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.050_Nonconforming_Uses
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.010_Generally

increase lot coverage, no such permit shall be issued until the applicant obtains a certificate
of zoning compliance.

2. Construction Prior To Ordinance Adoption. Any building permit issued pursuant to any ordinances
which provided for the erection of a building or structure shall continue in full force and effect,
provided that the holder has substantially undertaken construction on the date of the ordinance from
which this chapter derives.

3. Expiration Timeline. Applicant shall have 18 months to record development plans after the date of
Town Council final approval.

(UDC 2002, §§ 900, 905)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.020 Board Of Adjustment

appointments for a term of two years. Initial appoi
member for three years and one member for two years
i . Vacancies shall be filled for
nt. If at any time a member of the
board of adjustment experiences a con t, that member must step down

while the other members reach a decisio
2. Powers And Duties.

justment shall have the following

here it is alleged there is an error in any order,
ination made by an administrative official in the
es and the laws of the state and any amendment

apter as will not be contrary to the public interest where owing to special

nditions or exceptional situations, a literal interpretation of the provisions of this
chapter will result in unnecessary hardship or exceptional practical difficulties to
the owner of property so that the spirit of this chapter shall be observed and
substantial justice done, provided such relief may be granted without substantial
detriment to the public good and without substantially impairing the intent and
purpose of the chapter.

4. In exercising the above-mentioned powers, the board of adjustment may reverse
or affirm, wholly or partially, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or
determination appealed from and may make such order, requirement, decision or
determination as ought to be made, and to that end shall have all powers of the
officer from whom the appeal is taken. Notices of such decision shall be given to
all parties in interest.

3. Meetings Of The Board Of Adjustment. A meeting shall be held at the call of the chair and at such
other times as the board may determine. Such chair or, in his absence, the acting chair may
administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings of the board shall be open



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.020_Board_Of_Adjustment

to the public and the board shall keep the minutes of its proceedings, indicating the vote of each
member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote. The board shall keep a record of its
examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be filed in the office of the board and
shall constitute a public record.

4. Appeals.

1. Appeals to the town council may be made by any person aggrieved of by any officer,
department or board or bureau of the municipality affected by a decision of the board of
adjustment. Such appeals shall be made within a reasonable time, as provided by the rules
of the board, by filing with the officer from whom the appeal is made and with the board
of adjustment a notice of appeal specifying the ground thereof. The officer from whom that
the appeal is taken shall transmit to the board all appeals constituting the record upon which
the action appealed from was taken.

2. Anappeal stays all proceeding in furtherance of the action appealed fr
from whom the appeal was taken certifies to the board that by re

ss the officer
acts stated in the

certificate, a stay would in his opinion cause imminent peri operty. In such
case, proceedings shall not be stayed by the board or by t t jurisdiction
on the application on notice to the officer from who n due cause
shown.

3. The board of adjustment shall fix a reasonab i ation or

torney. Public notice of the
t 15 days prior to the hearing in a
shall specify the time, place, and
an five days nor more than ten
shall be given to all property
peal. The board shall provide
60 days of the hearing.

newspaper of general circulatio
nature of the hearing. The heari
days after final publicati

0 Amend Regulations, Etc. The town council may from time to time
epeal or add any regulations, limitations, restrictions of this article,
No such amendment, change, modification, repeal or addition shall be
a public hearing is held thereon by the town council at which parties in interest
have an opportunity to be heard. Failure to give such notice shall not invalidate

ted to the Planning Commission for approval or disapproval or recommendation, and the
Planning Commission shall have 60 days after formal submission of the proposed amendment or
change for consideration and report. In the case of an unfavorable report by the Planning
Commission, such amendment or change shall not become effective except by a favorable vote of
three-fifths of the town council.

2. Petition To Be Accompanied By Necessary Information. The Planning Commission is hereby
granted the authority to require as a consideration of such proposal, other than one originating
within the council, that petition be submitted accompanied by such maps, charts, sketches, and
other information as the Planning Commission deems necessary for the proper and effective
consideration of such proposal, and to refuse to consider any proposal, and to refuse to consider
any proposal not complying with such requirement.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.030_Amendments

3. Public Hearing Required. No proposed change, amendment, modification or repeal of any zoning
regulation, restriction or boundary shall become effective until after a public hearing in relation
hereto shall have been held by the council, at which interested parties and citizens shall have an
opportunity to be heard. At least 15 days' notice of the time and place of such hearing shall be
published in a newspaper of general circulation.

4. Protests To Be Filed With Town Secretary. In the event of a protest against such changes, a petition
signed by the owners of 20 percent or more, either of the area of the lots included in such proposed
change or the properties immediately adjacent thereto extending 200 feet from such proposed
change, such amendment shall not become effective except for a favorable vote of three-fifths of
all members of council. All protests under this paragraph must be filed with the town secretary at
least one working day prior to the hearing date of the said proposal.

5. Failed Proposals. If, after due consideration, a proposal is denied, such propo hall not be
eligible for reconsideration for a period of one year after final action by the t uncil, except
upon a favorable vote of four-fifths of the town council.

(UDC 2002, 88 904A-904E)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.040 Planning Commission

1. Planning Commission. The Planning , ion i ablished in the manner prescribed
by law. This commission shall consist of
of the Board of Adjustment. All membe
three years. Any memb :

Planning Commissio eVi ¢ i and to advise the board of adjustment
changes in the zoning ordinance on a yearly basis.
ity of updating the zoning map and developing a

-----

hed to and made a part of this chapter, which shall be designated the "the
Said map and all notations, references and other data shown thereon are

(UDC 20

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 16-03 on 4/6/2016
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.08.050 Nonconforming Uses

1. Continuance. Except as otherwise provided in this article, the lawful use of land or buildings
existing at the date of the adoption of the ordinance from which this paragraph is derived may be
continued although such use or building does not conform to the regulations specified by this
section for the zone in which such land or building is located.

2. Expansion And Enlargement.

1. A nonconforming use of a building, structure or land may not be extended or enlarged.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.040_Planning_Commission
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1596502454_Ordinance-No-16-03-Planning-Commission.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.08.050_Nonconforming_Uses

2. A nonconforming use shall be considered terminated when the building, structure or
improvements are destroyed in excess of 50 percent of its fair market value, as established
by an appraisal prepared by a professional appraiser qualified to do business in the state.

3. A nonconforming building or structure may be extended or enlarged only when:

1. Any new extension or enlargement conforms to the requirements of this chapter.

2. Ifthe proposed extension or enlargement exceeds 50 percent of the gross floor area
of the existing building or structure, then the entire site and buildings must be
brought into conformance with this chapter.

3. Alteration of a building within an existing footprint is permitted, provided that the
alteration does not increase the degree of nonconformity.

3. Restoration.
1. Restoration of a nonconforming building or structure destroyed less than S@percent of its
fair market value, as established by an appraisal prepared by a proféssional appraiser
qualified to do business in the state, shall be permitted, provided:

1. The restoration commences within six months of the date of destruction.
2. The commencement of restoration shall mean theg@acquisition ofi@building permit
and commencement of construction within sixamonths from the date of destruction.
2. Restoration of a nonconforming building or struettre’destroyed in excess of50,percent of
its fair market value, as established by an appraisal prepared by a professional appraiser
qualified to do business in the state, shall not be'permitted, except in conformance with this

chapter.

3. The replacement or repair of pgrtions of a nonconforming building or structure declared
by the town building code official, tolbesa hazard or unsafe shall be permitted provided the
repairs or replacement do not increase the gress floor areas of the building or increase the
degree of nonconformity with the\ setback requirements and further provided that the
portions declafed unsafe do not exceeds50 percent of the*fair market value of the whole
structureg@s established by an appraisal prepared by'a professional appraiser qualified to

do buSiness in the state.

4. Abandonment; Discontinuance. A nonconforming use shall be considered abandoned or
discontinued when therefoccurs a cessation of any use or activity by an apparent act or a failure to
gct on‘the part of the temant or ownerto reimstate such use within a period of three months.

5. "Reversion.“Noynoncenferming use shall, after being changed into a conforming use, be changed
back to a nonconforming.

6., Changes Of Zoning. Whenever boundaries of a zoning district are changed so as to transfer an area
from one zone 0 another'of different classification, the foregoing paragraph E shall also apply to
any nonconforming use.

(UDC 2002, 88.600-605)
24.12 Establishment Of Zoning Districts

24.12.010 Generally
24.12.020 Preservation District (P)
24.12.030 Residential District (R)
24.12.040 Residential District (R-1)
24.12.050 Residential District (R-1A)
24.12.060 Residential District (R-2)
24.12.065 Residential District (R-3)
24.12.070 Commercial District (©)
24.12.080 Industrial District ()
24.12.090 Residential Active Adult District (R-AA)



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12_Establishment_Of_Zoning_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.010_Generally
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.020_Preservation_District_(p)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.030_Residential_District_(r)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.040_Residential_District_(R-1)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.050_Residential_District_(R-1A)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.060_Residential_District_(R-2)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.065_Residential_District_(R-3)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.070_Commercial_District_(c)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.080_Industrial_District_(i)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.090_Residential_Active_Adult_District_(R-AA)

24.12.100 Suburban Reserve (SR)

24.12.010 Generally

1.

Zoning Districts Divided. The town is hereby divided into zoning districts of such number and
character as are necessary to achieve compatibility of uses within each district, to promote the
comprehensive plan for the town, and to serve the other purposes of this chapter described in TMC
24.04.040. The town is hereby divided in to the following districts: Preservation (P), Residential
(R), Residential 1 (R-1), Residential 1A (R-1A), Residential 2 (R-2), Residential 3 (R-3),
Residential Active Adult (R-AA), Suburban Reserve (SR), Commercial (C) and Industrial (I).

Map Of Zoning Districts. Zoning districts established by this article are bounded and defined as
shown on the official map of the town, which together with all explanatory matesials thereon is
hereby made a part of this Code. The location and boundaries of zoning distrie e set forth and
indicated on said map or maps, entitled "Official Zoning Distri of Townsend."

ADOPTED AS THE OFFICI NG MAP|
TOWN OF TQ : R TOWN OF

New Case Cointy Deioware | § B TOWNSEND

TOWNSE, Castle County
g Delaware

Official Zoning Map
Zoning Districts

-

R, Residerial-12 500 55

-1, Rexidnciod-0 000 5F

R1A, Resigontialh10,000 SF

7N
/%

Y
o
T

-
e
\.%?f\’\”\ ‘\ 8

+ o 500 1,000 2,000
Sources

Y - PretNag, 0 thow
srvecaion of O Man Street ard 000 Cakdwedl Commer
Roed on 02042018,

Wntar Bodies, Streams, Radlroads - FirstMap,

35 & Mapsing Serdces, cowriooded

O8Z2018.
Note e
ha as-e g by e - Pt ERSITY
T [TV s e 0f SN OF
4 4 bk 4 naye e = ME.
[ g
B e e e T
i iy P, o 8 50 b s g
oy s e o o yares W P04
ey ot e Pioks Ao @t

Last Edit - 080082018

Interpretation Of Zoning District Map. In interpreting the official zoning map of the town, the
following shall apply:

1. Addistrict name or letter on the zoning map indicates that the regulations pertaining to that
district designated by the name or letter extend throughout the entire area of the town
bounded by the district boundary lines within which the name or letter is indicated, except
as otherwise provided by this article.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.100_Suburban_Reserve_(SR)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.010_Generally
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ADC/files/ordinance/1605710902_Pages%20from%20Ordinance-No.-16-08-Adopt-Zoning-Map.pdf

2. Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of various districts as shown on
the zoning map, the following rules shall apply:

1. Boundaries shown following, or approximately following, streets, alleys, or right-
of-way easements shall be construed to follow the centerline of such street or right-
of-way easements.

2. Boundary lines shown as following, or approximately following, lot lines, section
lines, survey or other property lines, or municipal boundaries shall be construed as
co-terminus to said lines.

3. Where a zoning boundary divides a property and less than 50 feet of that property
is in a different zoning district, the entire property shall be considered to be within
the district containing the largest area of the parcel.

4. Boundaries shown as following or approximately following t
streams, rivers, or other continuously flowing watercourses s construed as
following the channel centerline of such watercourses. vent of a natural
change in the location of such streams, rivers or ot ses, the zoning
boundary shall be construed as moving with the

nterline of

(UDC 2002, §§ 300-302)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 4/2016
Amended by Ord. on 12/20/2017
Amended by Ord. on 4/4/2018

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020
24.12.020 Preservation District (P

areas including but not limited to
icultural lands and areas of special environmental,
ational value. It is the intention of this district to
atural beauty of the town and to enhance the local

open space,
historic, cultu

eneral agricultural, including the cultivation of field crops, orchard groves or
urseries for the propagation of plants, turf, trees and shrubs.

. Passive recreational uses, whether public or private.

e following uses may be permitted as when authorized by a special exception by the
board of adjustment:

1. Accessory farm buildings, including barns, stables, sheds, tool rooms, ships, bins,
tanks and silos.

2. Active public and private recreational uses, including unlighted ball parks, parks,
playing fields, and playgrounds. This paragraph shall not be interpreted to permit
commercial theme parks, carnivals or similar activities.

3. Swimming pools or game courts, including structures for keeping and storing of
recreational and related maintenance equipment, and those structures necessary for
proper operation of recreational lands, parks and open spaces, including
concession stands.

4. Single-family detached dwelling unit provided such dwelling unit is used as a
residence in conjunction with a farm or the cultivation of field crops.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1596503682_Ordinance-No.-16-08-Adopt-Zoning-Map.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1596506493_Ordinance-No.-17-06-Zoning-Change-for-0-and-600-Main-Street.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597704236_Ordinance%2018-02%20-%20Re-zone%200%20South%20Street.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.020_Preservation_District_(p)

3. The uses permitted in paragraph B,2 may be approved only when the following
requirements are met:

1. The proposed use will result in no negative impacts nor materially reduce the
quality of any adjoining open spaces, passive recreation areas or lands zoned
preservation.

2. When applicable a land development plan, as herein defined, shall be submitted.

3. The proposed use does not violate any town ordinances and otherwise conforms to
the requirements of this section.

4. Areaand bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, offstreet parking, loading and
signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, 88§ 401, 402)
24.12.030 Residential District (R)

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintai i together with

2. Permitted Uses And Regulations.
1. Ina Residential (R) District, no building, stru
the following purposes:
1. Single-family detached
2. Garden, orchard or nurs reenhouse.
y stations, treatment plants and

ercial basis for public recreation purposes.
ng uses are permitted when accessory to a principal

arages and detached workshops.

orage of boats trailers, motor homes and recreational vehicles when not stored
a front yard, when owned by the occupant.

The keeping of not more than six domestic animals, or nonvenomous insects and
reptiles outdoors and only for noncommercial use.

In a Residential (R) District the following uses are permitted when approved as a special
exception by the board of adjustments pursuant to the foIIowmg requwements



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.030_Residential_District_(r)

1. Home occupaJon/home-based business (major and minor/no impact). A home
occupallon/home-based business is defined as any ac[vity carried out for gain by
a resident and conducted in the resident's dwelling.

2. Home OccupalJons are separated into (1) Minor home occupallons and (2) Major
home occupallons. Minor home occupallon/no impact home-based business and
major home occupalon/major home-based business shall be permiJed when in
accordance with the following standards:

4. A. Minor home occupation. Minor home occupations shall meet all of the following

reguirements:




1. The business acllvity shall be compal_ble with the residen(al zoning of
the property and surrounding uses.

2. Theuse is carried on en[rely by the inhabitants of the dwelling, and shall
employ no employees other than family members residing in the dwelling.

3. The use does not involve any customer, client, or pallent visits, whether
vehicular or pedestrian, to the dwelling.

4. Such use involves no pickup, delivery, or removal funcl]ons to or from
the premises in excess of those normally associated with the residen(al
use.

5. There shall be no display or sale of retail goods and no stockpiling or
inventory of a substan’al nature.

6. There shall be no outside appearance of a business use, in
limited to, parking, signs or lights.

7. The business activity may not use any equipment
noise, vibrallon, glare, fumes, odors
interference, including interference with
which is detectable in the neighborhe

8. The business activity may not erate_any solid wa
discharge, in volume or type, which is not. normally ass ed with
residential use in the neighborhood.

9. The business acllvity shall only 2d within the dwelling and the
floor area devo uch use sha exceed 20 percent of the total floor
area of the pringipal tésiden al structute.

10. Such business uSe s involve a egal activity.

ing, but not

ess which creates
or_electronic
ion receplion,

B. . Major he ion. A home_ e€cupation that does not meet one or more of the

criteriali tion A. 3 all be defined as a major home occupation/major

homethas i ajor_ho occupations shall be permitted only by special

exceptioni g districts e major home occupations are permitted and when

other applice his Section and Ordinance should probably reword to fit
send ance wording be met.

bited e occupallons. Home occupations shall not include the following uses,
11 be classified as commercial or instructional uses:

1) Animal shelter, commercial kennel or veterinary office;

(2) Rooming or boarding home;

(3) Bed and breakfast;

(4) Funeral home;

(5) Restaurant;

(6) Qutdoor café;

(7) Club or lodge;

(8) Medical or dental clinic (two or more doctors or den(]sts);




(9) Retail shop;

(10) Rental business;

(11) Furniture stripping;

(12)  Auto or small engine repair;

(13) Pain[ng of vehicles, trailers, or boats;

(14) Manufacturing, repairing or other mechanical work
connecJon with the home occupal]on performed in any outdo

(15) Private school with organized classes: private
building or groups of buildings, the use of whi
elementary, secondary or higher educalon
part of its funding from any government

(16) Welding shop; or

(17)  Other uses of si

D. [Home occupation—Minor, jor prohibi he Town Manager or his/her
designee shall determine whethe

ere the town manager or his designee determines that the proposed use
a major home occupation, the use shall be permitted only as a special exception
d shall require review and approval by the board of adjustment in accordance
ith the provisions in (Add Townsend Ordinance)., Special Exceptions; conditions
governing; procedures, and the criteria of this section. The board of adjustment
may atach such reasonable conditions and safequards as it deems necessary to
implement the purposes of this Ordinance. Following approval, the town zoning
officer shall issue a certificate of zoning compliance.

(3) An approved certificate of zoning compliance for a home occupation shall
not be transferable to another property or to another type of home occupation. The
certificate of zoning compliance issued shall only be valid for the use and on the
property for which it was originally issued. In the event that a property with an
existing home occupation is sold, leased, or rented to someone other than the
original permit holder, the new owner, lessee or renter, shall be required to obtain
a_cer[ficate of zoning compliance, demonstrating full compliance with the
requirements of this ordinance and any other applicable regulations.




(4) Per the (need to add the applicable Townsend ordinance), a town official
shall be permiJed to inspect the home occupations to ensure that the requirements
of this Seclon and other applicable town regulations are being carried out.

E. General standards applicable to home occupations. The following standards shall apply
to all home occupaons, whether major or minor:

(1) As long as all other criteria is met, more than one home occupation shall
be permitted per lot or dwelling in the case of minor home occupations.

(2) The practice of a home occupation shall be conducted entirely within the
dwelling which is the bona fide residence and under ownershi e principal

same lot as the dwelling.

(3) All applicants for a home occupati to obtain an
approved certificate of zoning complianc i e with the
requirements of subsection D. above wi peral]on
of the use.

(4) There shall be ne
accessory building and

ppearance of the dwelling, any
cause the premises to differ from
its residential character , materials, show windows, or
special lighting visible 0 mises to attract customers or
client blic_disp any @ roduct, information and/or

fined as hazardous by DNREC, or through applicable regulations.

(7) Deliveries from major commercial suppliers which may be disruptive to
the neighborhood shall not be made between the hours of 8:00 p.m. prevailing time
and 8 a.m. prevailing time.

(8) There shall be no unenclosed exterior storage of material or refuse
resulting from the home occupation. All home occupations shall meet applicable
outdoor storage standards set forth in this ordinance.

(9) All commercial vehicles shall be parked on the same lot as the home
occupation, and only one commercial vehicle may be parked outside of a garage,
enclosed structure, or screened parking space within the lot boundaries. Such a
commercial vehicle shall have no more than two axles. There shall be no storage
of tractor-trailers on the lot on which the home occupation is located.




10. The business activity may not generate any solid waste or sewage discharge,
in volume or type, which is not normally associated with residential use in the

neighborhood.

11. Such business use shall not involve any illegal activity.

F. Standards applicable to minor home occupations. In addition to other applicable criteria
of this Ordinance, the following standards shall apply to minor home occupations:

(1) No employees shall be permitted, except the inhabitants of the dwelling in
which the home occupation is located.

(2) A minor home occupation shall be permitted in an g type.

(2) The area used fe
600 square feet of the
accessory structure.

n shall not exceed 30 percent or
rincipal residential structure or

) Where employees or customer visits are anticipated, off-street parking
hall be provided in a sufficient capacity to prevent interference with normal
residential parking in the neighborhood. (We may want to add additional verbiage

around parking)

(7 Beauty salons and barber shops may be permitted as a major home
occupation provided that no more than two stylist or barber chairs are provided,
and all other provisions of this ordinance are met.

(8) Instructional services may be permitted as a major home occupation
provided that a maximum of three students may be instructed at any one time.

4.5.When subdivision and/or land development process is considered, pursuant to the

requirements of TMC 24.20.100 in a Residential (R) District a minimum of ten percent of



the gross tract area shall be dedicated to public use as open space for the purpose of active
and passive recreation.

5.6. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards, offstreet parking, loading and
signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, §§ 405, 406)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 15-03 on 3/4/2015

24.12.040 Residential District (R-1)

istrict with
ols, churches,
compatible with

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to establish and maintain a single fami
modestly sized lots, together with compatible neighborhood uses such
community centers, recreational areas and accessory uses inciden
residential neighborhoods.

2. Permitted Uses And Regulations. In Residential (R-1) Districts
shall be same as those contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragr

(UDC 2002, 88 408, 409)
24.12.050 Residential District (R-1A)

a single family district, together
mmunity centers, recreational

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is
with compatible nelghborhood uses su
areas and accessory uses in

is district is to establish and maintain a single-family residential district
average lot in the section of the town existing at the time of the original

esidential neighborhoods.

And Regulations. In Residential (R-2) Districts the permitted uses and regulations
e as those contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

(UDC 2002, 88 414, 415)

24.12.065 Residential District (R-3)

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to accomplish the same objectives as in the R, R-1, R1-A
and R2 districts while affording a greater variety of dwelling and lot types. The purpose of this
district is to establish and maintain a multi-family residential district with lot sizes reflecting the
average lot in the section of the town existing at the time of the original adoption of the zoning
ordinance for the town, together with compatible neighborhood uses such as schools, churches,
community centers, recreational areas and accessory uses incidental to and compatible with
residential neighborhoods.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1596495297_Ordinance-15-03-Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.040_Residential_District_(R-1)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.050_Residential_District_(R-1A)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.060_Residential_District_(R-2)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.065_Residential_District_(R-3)

2. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1.

In Residential (R-3) Districts the permitted uses and regulations shall be same as those
contained in TMC 24.12.030 paragraph B.

2. Townhomes meeting the following requirements.

3. Building scale and character standards:
1. To maintain Townsend's small-town charac

4. The following requirements sha

1. Minimum Yard Requirements:

Minimum lot area: 2,200 sqg. ft.
Minimum lot width: 20 ft.
Minimum lot depth: 110 ft.
Maximum height: 40 ft.
Minimum front yard setback, principal dwelling 20 ft.
Minimum front yard setback, open front porch, steps 6 ft.
Minimum side yard setback: +2-#15 ft. (20 ft for corner |
Minimum rear yard setback: 20 ft.
Maximum lot coverage: N/A50%
10 Maximum of 7 units within a building footpri

©oNoO~wWNE

that address the overall appearance of t
elements, all exterior design elemen
ensure that large buildings reduce th
visible from the street or pedestrian ro
human scale (i.e., the re 1
that use the building).

and visible from the prlmary street
S|m|Iar entry feature shall be located at the ground
ach townhouse dwelling unit to offer overhead
r from inclement weather. Entrance doors are

buildings, design elements shall occur at a minimum interval of 20 feet.
ing design elements shall be included:
arying roof lines and forms:
1. Roof lines shall be varied through combinations of roof heights and styles
that create variation and visual interest.
2. Guidelines:
1. Provide offsets or breaks in roof elevations of two (2) feet or
greater in height.
2. Incorporate the roof pitch and materials of adjacent buildings into
carport or garage roofs.

2. Building facade colors and materials:

1. Atleast two variations in color and materials shall be used in the treatment
of the building facade.
2. Guidelines:
1. Decorative patterns on exterior materials may include
scales/shingles, wainscoting, ornamentation, and similar features.

3. Bays, porches or balconies:



1. Guidelines:
1. Incorporate smaller-scale forms such as bays, recessed or
projecting balconies or porches and dormers into the design to
visually reduce the height and scale of the building and to
emphasize the definition of individual units.
4. Wall offsets.

1. Awall offset is defined as a projection or recess of a facade wall of at least
two feet in depth. Wall offsets shall be incorporated onto those building
facades having a length of at least 20 feet or greater. Wall offsets shall be
a minimum of six feet in length.

5. Windows.

1. Decorative window features, such as arched wind

decorative pedlments and/or wmdow shutters that ar

transoms,

fronting on streets.
2. Guidelines:
1. Windows of varied shape,
2. The use of recessed wi
frames to add three-
facade.
6. Front yards.
1. Landscaped fra g and safe transition from public
create a unique identity, buffer
imum of 50 percent of the open

e sodded with a drought-resistant grass.

onstructed of concrete or decorative pavers shall
e exterior entrance of each townhouse dwelling unit.
imum 2 spaces per unit. Ref to Bivisien-3Section



Illustration

Varying roofl forms & facade colors

Frajecting pu

Nustration - Example of Build

Ilustration

Recessed Dalvonies &
parches

Hlustration - Example of Building Scale and Character Standards



Illustration 3

Wall offsets & changes In

facade ok & materialy

ding Scale & Cha

Mustration - Example ¢

-
—
o

_— 51
A

Recessed laliconies &

por ches

Iustratién - Example of Building Scale and Character Standards

Illustration 4

3. Parking for Apartments and Townhomes.

1. No on-street parking permitted.

2. All parking spaces, aisles, and turning areas shall be located entirely within the served
property's lot lines and shall not encroach on any road, driveway, or other public right-of-
way. No parked vehicle shall overhang any road, sidewalk, access driveway, or public
right-of-way.

3. When the number of required off-street parking spaces results in a fractional space, the
fractional space shall be counted as one (1) parking space. If several uses occupy a single
parcel or building, the off-street parking and loading requirement shall be the additive total
for all these parcel's or building's uses;



4. In regard to parking requirement for apartments the following shall mandate available
spaces: 1.5 per 1 bedroom dwelling unit, 2 per 2 or 3 bedroom dwelling unit, 3:252.5 per
4 bedroom dwelling unit, 4.5 per 5+ bedroom dwelling unit; +-.25 additional guest parking

space per 5-dwelling-units.
(UDC 2002, § 414)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.12.070 Commercial District (C)

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to provide sufficient land area in appropr cations for
a variety of commercial activities providing a diversity of goods and services oth the needs
of the local community as well as adjacent areas of the county. These are be concentrated
primarily along certain existing thoroughfares where a general mixtu ial and service
activities already exist. The Commercial (C) Districts of the t racterized by
extensive warehousing, frequent or heavy truck traffic, ope I nuisances
such as excessive noise, odor and dust normally associ industry.
Land uses, businesses and buildings and structures ¢ i e in the

Commercial (C) Districts should be developed to prese
pedestrian-oriented character of the town's,center areas.

2. Permitted Uses And Regulations.
1. InaCommercial (C) District, no

or altered which is to be arranget
of the following :

ity structures and uses, such as electrical substations, relay stations,

wage treatment plants and pumping stations.

ndertaker and funeral parlors.

A single-family detached dwelling unit, when such unit is associated with a

permitted office or business or commercial use and occupied by the proprietor or

an employee of the said business.

10. A multifamily dwelling is permitted on any floor above the first floor in accordance
with the regulations of this section pertaining to required area and bulk regulations
and other requirements of a residential district, provided that the first floor is used
in its entirety for a permitted office, business, or commercial use.

11. Offices for professional services and administrative functions.

12. Financial institutions, banks and loan companies.

13. Barbershops and beauty parlors.

14. Retail food stores such as bakeries, restaurants, coffee shops, candy, convenience
grocery stores, meat market, and delicatessens, excluding the preparation of goods
for sale off the premises.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.070_Commercial_District_(c)

15. Drive-in restaurants and fast-feedfast-food establishments.

16. Retail stores, which shall be limited to the sale of gifts, antiques, flowers, jewelry,
newspapers, hobbies, stationary, art supplies, consumer electronics, hardware,
clothing, drug stores, beverage or liquor stores, and books, excluding adult
bookstores and adult entertainment centers.

17. Repair and servicing, indoors or off-site, of any article for sale which is permitted
in this district.

18. Hotels, motels, bed and breakfasts, and motor lodges and tourist homes.

19. Animal hospital, veterinary office, or enclosed kennel, provided that such facility
is at least 300 feet from a residential district boundary.

20. Painting shop, upholstering shop (but not furniture manufacturing), furniture sales,
tire sales and service.

21. Automobile, truck, motorcycle or bus sales, service storage airs (but not
junk or salvage yards) and provided that major repair age of damaged
vehicles shall be inside a completely enclosed buildi

22. Wholesale establishments.

2. InaCommercial (C) District the following uses are aprincipal
use permitted in TMC 24.12.060 paragraph B:

2. Storage of merchandise, equipment or i ock in
connection with a permitted business es 4
3. Areaand bulk regulations and r S ds, offstreet parking, loading and
signs are contained in 24 Appe of this chapter.

4. Buffer Yards.

al'dwelling, land use or district.
all be no less than 25 feet.

ergreen trees, not less than six feet in height at the time of planting,

nted in a double staggered row of ten feet on center between plantings

e same row and five feet on center between plantings in adjacent

staggered rows.

3. Groupings of appropriate understory plantings in the form of deciduous
and evergreen ornamental and flowering shrub plantings, not less than 36
inches in height and planted at a maximum spacing of three feet on center.
Shrub plantings may be provided in the form of a hedge row or in informal
groupings, however, in either case, the total number of plantings may not
be less than the length of the buffer yard divided by the required spacing.

(UDC 2002, §§ 417, 418)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 12-01 on 2/1/2012

24.12.080 Industrial District (1)



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700880_Ord.%2012-01%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.080_Industrial_District_(i)

1. Purpose. The purpose of this district is to provide sufficient land area in appropriate locations for
certain types of businesses and manufacturing uses that must be separated from other land uses
because of negative impacts and externalities that cannot be made compatible with other uses.
Industrial parks, which contain modern and well-maintained buildings that are extensively
landscaped, are the type of development which is encouraged by Industrial (I) District zoning. In
order to reserve lands for appropriate future industrial development and to avoid conflicts with
other uses, residential uses in this district are proscribed.

2. Permitted Uses And Regulations.

1. Permitted Principal Uses. In an Industrial (I) Zoned District no building or premises shall
be used and no building shall be erected or altered which is arranged, intended or designed
to be used except for one or more of the following purposes:

1. Manufacturing, assembling, converting, finishing, cleaning, cooki
any other manufacturing or industrial processing of goods, a
that fuel used for such processing or manufacturing shall

2. Any process involving cleaning, distribution,
production, warehousing, or testing, except fo
concrete asphalt materials, corrosive acids,
fuel such as coke, coal or petroleum p
natural gas, freight terminal, radio br
agricultural uses, raising of minks or
stations or public garage, paint or bod
salvage yard, explosi
gelatin, paint, oils, fi
compounds or soap, tan

e, ore smel

baking, or
ces provided
as, or electricity.
processing,

on, automobile reclamation,
ireworks or explosive powder,
products, alcohol, bleaching
e oil refining, rubber treatment
r offal reduction or dumping,

animal rendering.

ackaglng storage, warehousing, transshipment and
aterial, subject to other provisions of this section.
istrative offices.

uilding materials, sales and storage yards provided they are stored inside a fully
enclosed building.

rmitted Accessory Uses. In an Industrial (1) District the following uses are permitted
when accessory to a principal use permitted in TMC 24.12.070 paragraph A,1:

1. Food service facilities incidental to, and located within any of the permitted uses
within this district, primarily for service to employees of such permitted uses,
provided:

1. There shall be no entrance directly from the street to such facility.

2. No sign relating to such facility shall be visible from outside the building.

3. Facilities shall be so located and constructed to protect occupants of such
buildings from noise, traffic, odors, and interference with privacy.

2. Recreation facilities intended primarily for the use of the employees of such uses
permitted in this district.



3. Area And Bulk Regulations. Area and bulk regulations and requirements for buffer yards,
offstreet parking, loading and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and other sections of
this chapter.

4. Buffer Yards.

1. Whenever an industrial building, land use or district adjoins a residential dwelling,
land use or district, a planted landscaped buffer shall be provided along all property
lines which adjoin the residential dwelling, land use or district.

The depth of the buffer yard shall be no less than 50 feet.

3. The buffer yard shall contain a combination of native materials and, at a minimum,
contain the following:

1. Deciduous canopy trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper at the time of

planting, at a maximum spacing of 30 feet on center.

2. Evergreen trees, not less than six feet in height at t

planted in a double staggered row of ten feet on
in the same row and five feet on center b
staggered rows.

3. Appropriate understory plantings i

ornamental and flowering shru

N

of planting,
etween plantings
gs in adjacent

in height
lantings
may be provided in the form i
however, in either case, the tota antings may not be'less than
e required spacing.

r wall to be erected behind the
e industrially zoned side of the

apply to admlnlstratlve or office buildings, or other bqumgs which do

processing or manufacturing operations.

ermitted within this district shall comply with the limitations and

ents set forth by the following performance standards including
pansion of existing industrial uses:

1. Humidity, Glare Or Heat. Any operation producing excessive humidity in
the form of steam or moist air, or producing intensive glare or heat, shall
be performed within an enclosure and in such manner as not to be
perceptible at or beyond any lot line. Exposed sources of light shall be
shielded so as not to create a nuisance across lot lines.

2. Vibration. Any industrial operation or activity, which shall cause, at any
time and at any point, perceptible earth borne vibration along the nearest
adjacent property line, is prohibited. Vibrations shall be measured using
the most current methods and techniques available.

3. Radioactivity Or Electromagnetic Disturbance. No activities shall be
permitted which emit dangerous radioactivity at any point, or
electromagnetic disturbance affecting the operation at any point of any
equipment other than that of the creator of such disturbance.

4. Liquid Or Solid Wastes. No discharge shall be permitted at any point into
any public sewer, private sewage disposal system or stream, or into the


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations

ground except in accord with standards approved by the State Department
of Natural Resources and Environmental Control or standards equivalent
to those approved by such department for similar uses, or any materials of
such nature or temperature as to contaminate any other supply or otherwise
cause the emission of dangerous or offensive elements.

6. Performance Standards Procedures. An application for a building permit or a certificate
of zoning compliance for a use subject to performance standards shall be submitted to the
board of adjustment in duplicate and shall be referred by the board of adjustment to the
town council. The applicant shall submit in duplicate a plan of the proposed machinery
operations and products in accordance with rules prescribed by the town council specifying
the type of information required in such plans and an affidavit by the applicant
acknowledging the understanding of the applicable performance standard agreement
to conform with same at all times. No applicant will be required | any secret
processes and any information requested will be treated as confi The fee for such
application shall include the cost of special reports required applications as
described below.

7. Expert Consultation. If there is any reasonable
performance standards, the board of adjustment

advise
whether such proposal will conform to the a cified
herein. Such consultant shall make such report t
receipt of said application. A ca
8. Decision Of The Board Of Adj
but in no event more than 30 da
adjustment shall deci

urnished to the applicant.
lar meeting of the town council,
onsultants report, the board of
building permit or certificate

: orm of a written report. The issuance
f zoning compliance shall be conditioned on the
onforming to the applicable performance standards
service of the consultant deemed reasonable and

ions that comply with applicable federal law.
2. Permitted Uses.
1. In a Residential Active Adult (R-AA) District, no building, structure or land may be used
except for one of the following purposes:
1. Detached single-family dwelling units.
2. Condominiums.
3. General-purpose community centers, recreation areas, clubhouses and related
facilities.
4. Assisted living facilities.
5. Open spaces, conservation areas and facilities.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.090_Residential_Active_Adult_District_(R-AA)

Any such use shall be deed-restricted in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations
to provide for an age-restricted, active adult community such that each residential unit shall
be owned or operated or lived in by at least one resident who is 55 years or older.

2. All provisions of the Federal Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601 et seq.) shall be complied
with by the applicant to the satisfaction of the town.

3. The form and wording of the proposed deed restrictions shall be submitted to the town for
review, as part of the application for preliminary site plan and/or subdivision approval. The
wording shall be reviewed, modified as necessary, and finally approved by the town and
incorporated within a developer's agreement between the developer and the town as a
condition of any approval granted by the town for an active adult, age restricted housing
development.

4. All dwelling units that are to be part of the age restricted comm all be deed-
restricted to contain all necessary living arrangements on the firs his shall include
at least one bedroom and full sanitary facilities, including s allation, on the
first floor of the dwelling.

5. Notwithstanding the minimum lot size requiremen
Code, an active adult community shall be permi
per acre.

6. Area and bulk regulations and requirements
and signs are contained in 24 Appendix A and o

of this chapter.

(UDC 2002, §§ 423, 424)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/

24.12.100 Suburban Re

h sewer and water in the future and rezoned when
ent. The district is also designed to permit limited
does not foreclose ultimate sewering of the area. The preservation of
pen space and agricultural land is encouraged in this district and such

which preserves available farmland and consolidates development in such a way

0 minimize the impact on the land.

ncentives shall be developed for open space development to preserve land that can be
farmed.

4. A number of special provisions apply to this district that are intended to be an incentive for
agriculture to continue, even as residential development occurs, by maximizing the
contiguous farmland and providing farm operators additional revenue sources.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.16 Vacant, Deteriorated Structures

24.16.010 Findings
24.16.020 Definitions - Vacant, Deteriorated Structures
24.16.030 Authorization



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.12.100_Suburban_Reserve_(SR)
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16_Vacant,_Deteriorated_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.010_Findings
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.020_Definitions_-_Vacant,_Deteriorated_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.030_Authorization

24.16.040 Emergency Situation
24.16.050 Costs Of Improvements Or Demolition To Be Lien And A Debt

24.16.060 Expenditure Of Public Funds
24.16.070 Securing Open Areas Of Buildings And Structures
24.16.080 Unlawful Actions

24.16.010 Findings
Vacant structures constitute blight that effects the quality of life of the citizens of the town as well as being
public health and safety hazards.

(UDC 2002, § 425)

24.16.020 Definitions - Vacant, Deteriorated Structures
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meaniags ascribed to them
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

"Blighted property™ means a structure is deemed blighted if it has been permitted to degrade to a point that
is detrimental to the safety, health, welfare or general aesthetics of thestirreunding neighberhood.

"Emergency situation" means a property or structure is in suchg@ndition as to cause an immediate danger
to the public health and safety of the community.

"Vacant" means no one resides in it for a period of 45 days. A commercidl or industrial structure iS deemed
vacant if it is not used for the commercial or indgStrial use to which'was previously utilized or for any other
permissible use for a period of 45 days.

(UDC 2002, § 425A)
24.16.030 Authorization

1. The town is autherized to initiate the making of improvements to the exteriors of vacant buildings
or structures in‘aceordanceamith this section, Furthermore, the town also has the authority to order
thedemelition of'a vacant butlding in‘the event'that the structure is not salvageable and poses a risk
to safety. The town'may also authorize'work’on a vacant structure if the appearance has a substantial
impact on the property values of other buildings or structures within the vicinity of such vacant
building or structure.

2. Exterior improvements,‘authorized herein, may include, but are not limited to: Repairs to or
replacement oflany of the structural components of such building or structure, sidewalks in the
right-of-way or on the lot which this building or structure is located, steps, porches, railing,
columns, windoews, doors, exterior painting, brick pointing and roofing, and any other repairs or
replacements deemed appropriate to protect and secure the structural integrity of the building or
structure and to prevent further damage that would render the building or structure unsafe. In the
event that the building is not salvageable and/or poses a safety risk, the town has the authority to
order the demolition of the building. The costs incurred by the town shall be recorded by lien in
accordance with these provisions.

3. When exterior improvements have been authorized by the town council, the town shall provide
notice to the record owner of the subject building or structure and to any record lienholder that such
exterior improvements will be undertaken and the date of commencement of the same. For purposes
of this paragraph, the mailing of a certified letter, return receipt requested, at least 30 days prior to
the commencement of the exterior improvements, to the last known address of the record owner or
lienholders and notifying same of the address of the property to be improved, the tax parcel number,
the condition of the property and the legal right of the town to obtain a judgment against the owner
and a lien against the property after completion of the exterior improvements, shall be deemed to


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.040_Emergency_Situation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.050_Costs_Of_Improvements_Or_Demolition_To_Be_Lien_And_A_Debt
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.060_Expenditure_Of_Public_Funds
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.070_Securing_Open_Areas_Of_Buildings_And_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.080_Unlawful_Actions
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.010_Findings
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.020_Definitions_-_Vacant,_Deteriorated_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.030_Authorization

be sufficient notice. In the event that the owner makes no attempt to remedy the situation in 30 days
after sending the notice, the town then has the right to exercise its authority to perform exterior
improvements and/or demolition to said building. After 30 days has expired all costs generated by
the town, including legal fees, engineering fees, and construction costs by the town's contractor for
the exterior work on the vacant house shall be recorded by lien in accordance with these provisions
and will be the direct responsibility of the owner.

4. The town has the option of filing an action in a justice of the peace court to compel the owner to
make the necessary improvements to the property or to demolish the structure. This action can be
brought 30 days after notice as set forth in paragraph B. All costs of such a proceeding including
court costs, legal fees, engineering fees and expert witness fees shall be the responsibility of the
owner and shall be entered as a lien on the property.

5. Liens are recorded in a lien book maintained by the town. Liens may be transferre he superior
court of the state.

(UDC 2002, § 425B)
24.16.040 Emergency Situation

If there exists an emergency situation the town has the authority te c i ements to
eliminate the emergency or to demolish the property withe r before
commencing improvements or demolition. The town shall ma ner as
soon as possible. The town shall advise the owner of the nature 0 within

a reasonable period of time.
(UDC 2002, § 425C)

or the full amount so expended. Whenever exterior
esaid, the expenditure of public funds for exterior

intain an action of law in debt against the owner to recover the sums of money
interest at a rate of 18 percent accrued annually, costs and legal fees.

24.16.060 Expenditure Of Public Funds

1. When the town expends public funds for the purpose of exterior improvements and/or demolition
to any vacant building or structure deemed unsafe and after such notice has been given, the town
may enter a lien for the amount so expended in a lien book maintained by the town. The lien may
be transferred to the superior court of the state.

2. The amount of the lien shall include the total cost of the improvements, all court costs, all legal
fees, and engineering fees, and all interest accrued thereon, on the lands and premises on which
such work of exterior improvements and/or demolition was performed.

(UDC 2002, § 425E)


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.040_Emergency_Situation
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.050_Costs_Of_Improvements_Or_Demolition_To_Be_Lien_And_A_Debt
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.060_Expenditure_Of_Public_Funds

24.16.070 Securing Open Areas Of Buildings And Structures

1. Violations. It shall be unlawful for any owner, agent, or person in control of any building or
structure which is vacant and open or otherwise unsafe to fail to secure and board up the open areas
of any such building. If, after a reasonable time, the building or structure is not secured, but rather
it remains vacant and open otherwise, unsafe, an authorized agent or employee of the town may
enter upon the premises, building or structure and secure or board up the open areas of such building
or structure, or cause the same to be done. If the authorized agent or employee of the town is denied
entrance to the premises, building or structure for purposes of securing and boarding up the open
areas of such building or structure, he may, upon a showing of probable cause, obtain a warrant
from a justice of the peace for purposes of entering and securing and boarding up the subject
building or structure.

2. Cost Incurred. The owner of the subject building or structure shall be jointl
to the town for the full amount so expended in securing and boarding it
person in control of such building or structure shall reimburse the tow.
town in so securing or boarding up such building or structure. T
law in debt or assumpsit's against such owner to recover th
lawful interest, costs and legal fees.

3. Reimbursement Of Town At Time Of Sentencing Of
guilty, whether by trial or by admission, of violating pro
such person, at the time of sentencing for such violation,
incurred by the town in securing and i
regarding which such person shall be fo
to make full restitution to the town for s
the court may impose.

verally liable
owner, agent or

reas of any building or structure
he peace shall order such person

(UDC 2002, § 425F)
24.16.080 Unlawful A

)0.00 or by a term of imprisonment of not more than 60 days or both.
y a building or structure is vacant and boarded up for a period in excess of 45 days
utes a separate offense.
ithin the discretion of the town to grant an extension of time to permit a vacant building
to remain boarded up in excess of 45 days, but no more than six months, if active rehabilitation of
the structure is on going and the following requirements are met:
1. The owner of the property must submit a written letter to the town stating specific work
taking place or to take place, including a time table of each aspect of the rehabilitation.
2. All necessary building permits must be acquired, or if previously acquired, must be active.
3. The work being performed must be continual throughout the entire period the building
remains boarded.

(UDC 2002, § 425G)
24.20 Design Standards



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.070_Securing_Open_Areas_Of_Buildings_And_Structures
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.16.080_Unlawful_Actions
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20_Design_Standards

24.20.010 Streets And Rights-Of-Way

24.20.020 Parking Regquirements
24.20.030 Loading Requirements
24.20.040 Stormwater Management
24.20.050 Grading And Erosion Control
24.20.060 Utilities
24.20.070 Landscaping
24.20.080 Fences
24.20.090 Lighting
24.20.100 Open Space

24.20.010 Streets And Rights-Of-Way

1. Street Design Objectives.

1. New streets constructed as a part of a subdivision or landfdevelopment proposal or
extensions and reconstruction of existing streets shall be désigned to achieve,the following
objectives:

1. Support the current and future need for safe’and convenient vehicular €irculation.

2. Support the current and future need far safe, convenient and accessible pedestrian
circulation.

3. Integrate new streets intg the town's existinggStreet network by extending and,
respecting the existing grid eharacter of theitown's historic street pattern.

4. Limit the need for excessive'grading, stormwater management and disturbance of
environmentally sensitivie areas.

2. Street Network.

1. Whenéverpassible, new development shall incorporate the extension of the town's
existing streets and rights-of-way.

20 Where topography, site size\and shape permits, new development shall to the
greatest extent possible utilize a grid system of streets, consisting of a formal block
layoutaright-anglediintersections and through streets to expand upon the town's
historic street pattern..Dead-end streets shall be avoided whenever possible.

3.5, Where dead-end streets cannot be avoided, the right-of-way of such streets shall
be extended to the property boundary to support future extension.

4. All developments shall include a minimum of two access points to a collector or
arterial street.

5./ When a vehicular connection is not provided, because of physical or environmental
restraints, between residential developments, a pedestrian connection must be
provided.

2. Cul-De-Sac Streets.

1. Cul-de-sac streets may be used only when, due to physical or environmental constraints, a
thru street connection cannot be achieved.

2. Inany case, a cul-de-sac street may provide access for no more than five dwelling units.

3. Cul-de-sacs shall not exceed two hundred and fifty (250) to five hundred (500) feet in
length depending on the density and topography. Length by density is to be approved by
the Town Engineer. Inside diameter of cul-de-sacs is to be no less than 100” with grass or
landscaping in center.

3. Right-Of-Way And Cartway Widths.

1. The minimum right-of-way width and cartway widths for new streets shall be according to

the following schedule:


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.010_Streets_And_Rights-Of-Way
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.020_Parking_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.030_Loading_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.040_Stormwater_Management
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.050_Grading_And_Erosion_Control
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.060_Utilities
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.070_Landscaping
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.080_Fences
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.090_Lighting
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.100_Open_Space
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.010_Streets_And_Rights-Of-Way

Street type Right-of-way width Cartway width

Acrterial Pursuant to DelDOT Requirements Minimum 28 feet
Collector Pursuant to DelDOT Requirements Minimum 32 feet
Local (Cul-de-sac) Pursuant to DelDOT Requirements See paragraph B,3

2. When a subdivision or land development obtains frontage on a streét, possessing
insufficient right-of-way or cartway width the applicant shall be required to dedicate one-
half of the necessary additional right-of-way or cartway width, measured from the existing
centerline of the street, to meet the ultimate right-of-way and<cartway width requirements
of paragraph C,1.

1. Turnarounds, independent of the parking baygareas, must be providediat the end of
the streets to permit maneuvering of service and emergency type vehicles. Circular
turnarounds are preferred; alternate désigns reflecting the number of dwelling units
and length of street must have the Planning Commission’s approval.

The number of dwelling units on any non=collector street shall not exceed 50.

3. Any subdivision greatef than,35 dwelling ‘units must be designed in a manner to
provide a collector street systems, Collector streets will be designed in accordance
with the following:

1. Ascollector street serving a.community af 35 or more dwelling units shall
have a minimum/right-ef-way widthyof sixty (60) feet and a street width
of 30 feet, gutter line togutter line.

2. Acollector street serving a community of 300 dwelling units or more shall
notdave lots fronting on it.

N

4. StreetAlignment:
1 ““HorizontalFAlignment. To ensure adequate sight distance, the minimum centerline radii for
horizontal ctrves shall be as follows:
I Local'street: 150 feet.
2.\ Collector street: 300 feet.
3. | Arterial street: 500 feet.
2. Vertical Alignment. Vertical curves shall be utilized at changes of grade exceeding one
perceént and shall be designed to provide the following minimum sight distance:
1. Local street: 100 feet.
2. Collector street: 200 feet.
3. Arterial street: 400 feet.
5. Street Grades.
1. The minimum centerline grade for all streets shall be one half of a percent (0.5%).
2. The maximum centerline grade for local streets shall be ten percent. The maximum
centerline grade for collector of arterial streets shall be six percent.
3. Where the grade of any street at the approach to an intersection exceeds seven percent, a
leveling area shall be provided having not greater than four percent grade for a distance of
25 feet measured from the nearest right-of-way line of the intersecting street.
6. Intersections.
1. Streets shall be laid out to intersect as nearly as possible at right angles. No street shall
intersect another at an angle of less than 60 degrees.
2. Multiple intersections involving the junction of more than two streets are prohibited.




3. Clear sight triangles of 75 feet measured along street centerlines from their point of
intersection shall be provided at all street intersections and no buildings or structures shall
be permitted within said sight triangle.

4. To the fullest extent possible, intersections shall be located not less than 800 feet apart,
measured centerline to centerline. Streets entering opposite of another street shall be laid
out directly opposite one another or with a minimum off-set of 150 feet between their
centerline.

5. The minimum curb radii at street intersections shall be 15 feet for intersections involving
only local streets and 25 feet for intersection involving collector roads and radii as deemed
suitable by DelDOT for arterial roadways.

7. Driveways.

1. Driveways may be constructed no closer than 50 feet from any intersectio

2. The maximum width of any driveway shall be 30 feet.

3. Sites with a frontage of 50 feet or less shall have no more than iveway for every
street on which the site obtains frontage. In no case shall more than two
driveway openings on any street.

8. Sidewalks.

1. All streets in the town shall be equipped with si

2. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in . Si in areas
of high pedestrian traffic, adjacent to schools a ly and
along major streets shall be of greater width, as

3. Developers shall be required ta : i repair damaged sidewalks along
all roadways upon which their d

4. All street intersections, driveway sidewalks s be complaint with
the Americans with.Disabilities A

9. : depressed curbs, handicap ramps
andards and specifications.
10. d street names shall be coordinated with the post

of Public Safety and Emergency Communications
shall be subject to the review and approval of the
st be submitted pursuant to TMC 24.08.030 paragraph

1. General Parking Provisions.

1.

Parking spaces shall be provided for all new development, including new construction and
expansion of existing buildings, structures, or uses according to the requirements of this
article. Parking areas shall be paved with a durable all-weather surface and provided on the
same lot as the use for which they are intended to serve. Adequate vehicle access and
maneuvering areas shall be provided for all parking areas. Areas reserved for parking
space, drive aisles and access ways shall not be used for any other purpose. All parking
spaces shall be clearly striped, except for parking spaces designated for single-family
detached or semidetached dwellings.

The collective provision of parking areas for two or more buildings or uses shall not be less
than the total parking required for the individual buildings or uses calculated separately.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.020_Parking_Requirements

3. All parking areas and driveways serving commercial and industrial uses shall be adequately
illuminated during the hours between sunset and sunrise when the use is in operation.
Adequate shielding shall be provided for nonresidential parking lot lighting to protect
adjacent residential districts from glare of such lights and from automobile headlights.

4. For the purpose of these regulations, an parking area shall be a minimum of nine feet wide
and 18 feet long, exclusive of drive aisles. All parking spaces shall be connected to a public
street or alley by an all-weather driveway with a durable surface. Vehicular drive aisles
and access ways shall be sufficiently designed to afford vehicle access and maneuvering
without requiring another automobile to be moved. Drive aisles shall be a minimum of 24
feet in width for two-way traffic and 18 feet for one-way traffic.

5. Parking spaces shall be adequately dralned to ellmlnate standing water and prevent

residential dlstrlcts excluded). Parking shall be maintained in a clean,
condition at the expense of the owner or lessee and shall not b or sales, repairs,
dismantling or servicing of any vehicles, or storage of equip i
6. All parking must be off-street or a parking lot be provid
i i i | be located
, or other
way, or

entirely within the served property's lot lines and shall n

public right-of-way. No parked vehicle shall overh
public right-of-way.

1. The establishment of any parking areas having

shall be subject to the following i

1. Parking areas shall be use ‘ dic parking of private passenger

automobiles (noncomme

trailer parklng shaII be allowed in front yards.
3. i i ial Areas.
i 3 g from any residential district pursuant to the

additional driveway shall be permitted for each additional 100 feet of lot width.
All parking spaces, aisles, and turning areas shall be located entirely within the served
property's lot lines and shall not encroach on any road, driveway, or other public right-of-
way. No parked vehicle shall overhang any road, sidewalk, access driveway, or public
right-of-way.
4. Parking Requirements.
1. Residential. 2 parking spaces off-street.
2. Commercial (office).
1. Bank/financial: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
2. General: 4 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
3. Government: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
4. Medical: 4 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
3. Commercial (retail/service).



N GA~WLN

9

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
4. Industrial Uses.

2.

5. Institutional/governmental Uses

1.

11.

12.

Auto, boat, truck and heavy machinery sales: five spaces minimum + one space
for each 1,000 square feet of floor area and ground floor area devoted to sales,
service and display.

Bed and breakfast: one per guest room.

Fitness/health club: one space for each 1,000 gross square feet.

Funeral homes: eight spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

Furniture and carpet stores: five + one per 1,000 gross square feet.

General: four spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

Hardware, paint and home improvements: four per 1000 gross square feet.
Hotel/motels: one per room + spaces for restaurants, lounges, meeting rooms,
banquet facilities, etc.

Motor vehicle service: four spaces for every bay + one/employee.
Personal service: four spaces per 1,000 gross square feet.
Restaurants: nine space for each 1,000 gross square feet.
Restaurants (fast-food/take-out) 15 spaces for each 1
Roadside stand: one space per 250 square feet. o

Building materials: two for each 1,0 . imum).

,000 gross square feet.
Industrial/manufacturi employee on largest shift of
employment + one-hal feet.

Clubs and.a

aces for each 1,000 gross square feet.
ach bay + ten spaces for each 10,000 gross square

ost office: five spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet.

Schools, elementary and junior: two spaces for each classroom and spaces + one
space for every five seats or 7 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet
whichever is greater, for assembly areas.

High school and post-secondary institutions: ten spaces for each classroom + one
space for every five seats or 7 1/2 spaces for each 1,000 gross square feet
whichever is greater, for assembly areas.

Group homes, institutional uses residential monasteries and convents: one space
for each three-fourths bedroom.

6. Recreation Uses.

1.
2.
3.

Bowling alleys: four spaces for each lane + two per pool table.

Skating rinks: one space for each 100 square feet of floor area.

Theaters: one space for every four seats or ten per 1,000 square feet gross square
feet whichever is greater.



5. Buffering And Landscaping Requirements For Parking Areas. All parking areas containing five or
more spaces shall be buffered from street views and from adjoining residential areas by planted
landscaped buffer and shall contain additional interior landscaping as specified below:

1. A continuous hedge, consisting of evergreen plantings a maximum of three feet on center
and 36 inches in height.

2. Deciduous shade trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper, planted on the perimeter of
parking areas at a maximum of 30 feet on center.

3. Deciduous shade trees, not less than 3 1/2 inches in caliper distributed throughout.

(UDC 2002, 88 501A-501E)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.030 Loading Requirements

1. Required Number Of Loading Bays.
1. For retail stores, shopping centers, supermarkets, r
number of off-street loading spaces shall be as

3. One additional loading b i 0,000 gross square feet not
exceeding a maximum

2. For office buildings, automobi d hotels, the number of loading

into a public thoroughfare or right-of-way while the truck or van is being
oaded. If the outdoor loading area is covered, but not totally enclosed,
um height of the outdoor loading bay area shall be fourteen (14) feet.

aneuvering Space. Adequate off-street truck maneuvering space shall be
rovided on lot and not within any public street right-of-way or other public lands.

(UDC 2002, §§ 502A, 502B)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.040 Stormwater Management

1. Plan.
1. Adevelopment resulting in a net increase of impervious surface or disturbance greater than
5,000 sg. ft. on any lot shall be required to prepare and submit a stormwater management


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.030_Loading_Requirements
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.040_Stormwater_Management

plan, indicating the methods and means by which post-development rate of stormwater
runoff from the site will be reduced to the pre-development run-off condition.

2. The developer may utilize on-site detention or retention systems constructed above or
below ground or may install such off-site improvements necessary to accommodate the
increase in run-off.

1. High density developments with post-development impervious surfaces of 50% or
more must include half of the total impervious area(s) with pervious surfaces, such
as permeable pavers.

3. All stormwater management facilities shall be designed in accordance with the State of
Delaware Sediment and Stormwater Regulations and will be subject to the review and
approval of the Town Engineer.

4. Storm sewers.

1. All storm sewer piping, inlets, catchbasins, culverts and es shall be
designed and constructed pursuant to DelDOT standards cifications.

2. Storm sewers shall be constructed within public or within an
appropriate easement.

5. Digital copies of the stormwater plans must be sub

(UDC 2002, § 503A)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.050 Grading And Erosion Control

1. Grading Plans. All propesais;for develop a by a grading plan, indicating
existing contours atg ; d gradmg finished floor elevatlons

2signed to be consistent with the following design standards:
inimum grade for paved surfaces shall be one half of a percent (0.5%).
aximum grade for parking areas shall be five percent.
Maximum grade for residential driveways shall be ten percent.
Minimum slope of drainage swales shall be between one and two percent
depending on the inclusion of an underdrain, and the design must be approved by
the Town Engineer.
5. Minimum slope of lawn areas shall be two percent.
6. Maximum slope for lawn areas shall be 3:1.
3. Site grading which exceeds a 3:1 slope shall be protected by temporary erosion control
matting and planted with an appropriate ground cover.
4. Site grading shall be designed in accordance with the regulations of the Americans with
Disability Act Accessibility Design Guidelines (ADAAG).
3. Retaining Walls.
1. Grading plans shall indicate the top-of-wall and bottom-of-wall elevations for all retaining
walls.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.050_Grading_And_Erosion_Control

2.

Design calculations and construction details must be submitted for retaining walls over
three feet in height.

4. Erosion Control. All grading plans shall contain appropriate soil erosion and sediment control
measures in accordance with the applicable regulations of the State of Delaware Sediment and
Stormwater Regulations.

(UDC 2002, §§ 504A-504D)

HISTORY

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020
24.20.060 Utilities

1. Sanitary Sewer. All proposed sanitary sewer systems shall be designed in_ac¢cordance with the
standards and specification of the county.

2. Water. All proposed water systems shall be designed in accordage with“the, standards and
specifications of the local water provider.

(UDC 2002, 88 505A, 505B)
24.20.070 Landscaping

1. Landscape Plan. When required pursuant te,the requirements of TMC 24.12.060 paragraph B,
TMC 24.12.070 paragraph B,4, TMC 24.20.020, paragraph<E\TMC 24.20.030 paragraph B or
paragraph B, a landscape plan, prepared by a landseape architect licensed in the state, must be
submitted indicating the logation, species|(€ommon.and betanical names), size and condition of all
proposed plantings.

2. Street Shade Trees.

1.

All development propgsals shall be required to plant street shade trees along all proposed
streets\inthe towng The provisions shall apply for both residential and nonresidential
development.

When development occurs on.an existing street, where currently no shade trees exist, the
prowisions of this paragraph shall also apply.

Street shade treesishall be planted at a maximum spacing of 40 feet on center and shall be
a minimum caliperef 3 1/2 inches.

Street shade trees shall be planted in an appropriate manner as approved by the Town
Engineer. When an adequate tree lawn is not provided, shade trees may be planted behind
the sidewalk.

The use of Delaware native species for street shade tree is required. Recommended species

include the following:
Acer rubrum Red maple

Acer sacrum Sugar maple

Celtis occidentalis Common hackberry

Carpinus caroliniana American hornbeam



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.060_Utilities
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.070_Landscaping

Crataegus crusgalli "inermis” Thornless cockspur hawthorn
Gleditsia triacanthos "inermis" Thornless honey locust
Platanus acerifolia London plane tree
Quercus rubra Northern red oak
Quercus shumardii Shumard oak
Tilia Americana Linden
Betula lenta Birch
Hickory
Juniperus virginiana Cedar
Magnolia grandiflora Magnolia

Buffer Yards. Thedise of native species for bufferyards and fandscaping for all parking and loading
areas is requiréd.

Scenic Corridors.\Major subdivisions and land development plans shall be required to provide a
scenic corridor along allarterial andheollectar roads, and along roads designated as scenic. Scenic
corridors ‘'shall be comprised of open " space and shall meet the following criteria:

Scenic Corridor Standards

Buffer Width Landscape Requirements

50' Existing forest to be preserved

100" to 150' 6 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage
151" to 200' 5 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage
201" to 400 3 plant units per 100 linear feet of street frontage
400' or greater 1 plant unit per 100 linear feet of street frontage




Minimum of 30 acres preserved for agricultural use

600" or greater (no landscaping required)

(UDC 2002, 88 506A, 506B)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.080 Fences

1. Regulations.
1. An ornamental fence or wall not more than four feet in height may project i
any front or side yard to a depth no to encroach the right of ways.
2. Ornamental fences or walls may project into or enclose other requir;
fences and walls do not exceed a height of six feet.
3. Razor wire, barb wire or similar fence material is prohibi

or enclose

s, provided such

(UDC 2002, § 507)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.090 Lighting

1. Street Lighting.

1. All new streets sal shall be equipped with

e currently no street lighting exists,

ant to DelDOT standards and specifications.
e area that needs it. Fixtures that shield the light

ated during the hours that a particular site is occupied or in operation.
illumination levels in parking areas, driveways, pedestrian and vehicular

axterior lighting shall be oriented and shielded to protect adjacent residential areas.

All new street lights shall only light the area that needs it. Fixtures that shield the light
source to minimize glare and light trespass and use a low-color-temperature bulb, but
facilitates better vision at night shall be used when possible

(UDC 2002, 88 508A, 508B)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 15-05 on 5/20/2015
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.20.100 Open Space

1. Requirements.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.080_Fences
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.090_Lighting
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1596496272_Ordinance-No.-15-05-Street-Lighting.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.20.100_Open_Space

1. All major subdivisions shall contain open space designated as community area open space.
In designating community area open space or landscaped surfaces as part of a subdivision
or land development plan, the following criteria and standards shall be adhered to by the
applicant:

1.

(UBE 2002, § 509)
HISTORY

All residential development proposals containing ten or more dwellings shall be
required to dedicate to public use a minimum of ten percent of the gross tract area
for the purpose of passive and active recreation.

Active open space shall be separate parcels of land exclusive of streets, turn-
arounds, residential lots, wetlands, wildlife habitats and migration corridors, and
stormwater management.

Except for recreation activities, open space shall be substantially free of structures
and paved areas.

A landscape plan/open space management plan specifying thedlandscaping/open
space management requirements shall be required for allssubdivisions involving
the creation of community area open space. NarrowgOr fragmented small open
spaces shall be avoided unless necessary for a pragtical function.

A minimum of 50 percent of the required opéh space shall be suitable for active
recreation purposes as herein defined. Thefopen space dedication shall be designed
either as a single consolidated parcel@r as a system of .open spaces and Whenever
possible shall be interconnected with ‘Qpen spaceparcels contained inadjoining
development. Active open space lots shall be afminimum of one-acre contiguous
lot exclusive of connective paths.

Open spaces dedicated to the pablic under the provisions of this division shall be
made open and accessible to all*residents of the town.

Pursuant to.the desire ofthe town couneil and subject to the review and approval
of thestown'solicitor, ownership@nd maintenance responsibility of the open space
may be transferred in fee simple to the town"or to a maintenance organization or
homeowners' @ssociation.

The design.af recreation facilities contained in an open space area shall be subject
to the reviewand approval of the Town Engineer.

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.24 Sigh Regulations

24.24.010 Purpose
24.24.020 Sign Specifications And Types
24.24.030 Applicability
24.24.040 Administration
24.24.050 General Sign Regulations Applicable In All Districts
24.24.060 Signs Permitted In Preservation And Residential Districts
24.24.070 Signs Permitted In Commercial And Industrial Districts
24.24.080 Dimensional Standards
24.24.090 Nonconforming Signs
24.24.010 Purpose

Signs perform the important functions of identifying properties, businesses, services, residences, events and
other matters of interest of the public. However, it has been determined that it is necessary to control signs
in the town to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the town by:


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24_Sign_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.010_Purpose
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.020_Sign_Specifications_And_Types
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.030_Applicability
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.040_Administration
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.050_General_Sign_Regulations_Applicable_In_All_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.060_Signs_Permitted_In_Preservation_And_Residential_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.070_Signs_Permitted_In_Commercial_And_Industrial_Districts
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.080_Dimensional_Standards
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.090_Nonconforming_Signs
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.010_Purpose

=

Limiting hazards to pedestrian and vehicular traffic;

Preserving property values;

3. Preventing unsightly and detrimental development that has a blighting influence upon residential,
business and industrial areas;

Controlling the size of signs to prevent one sign from obscuring another;

Specifying certain sign design requirements in an effort to maintain the rural/small town character
of the town.

N

o &

(UDC 2002, § 700)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.020 Sign Specifications And Types

1. Sign Area.
1. The area of a sign shall mean the area of all lettering, w
logos and symbols, together with the background

bracing which are solely incidental to displa

letters, designs or symbols.
2. Where the sign consists of indivi
awning, wall or window, the aré
all of the letters, designs or sym
3. Where a sign consists of an iden
calculation of signgarea

the sign.
3. Sign Types.

onducted elsewhere than on the lot upon which the sign is located.
ign with action or motion, flashing, or color changes requiring electrical

business, commodity, service, industry, or other activity which is sold, offered, or
conducted, other than incidentally, on the premises upon which a sign is located, or to
which it is affixed.

5. Directory Sign. A sign on which the names and location of the occupants or the use of a
building is given, including office building and church directories.

6. Freestanding. A self-supporting sign resting on, or supported by means of poles or
standards, erected on the ground.

7. ldentification Sign. A sign whose copy is limited to the name of the building, institution,

or person and/or to the activity or occupation being identified.

Incidental Sign. A directional sign of a public service nature which contains no advertising.

9. Marquee Sign. Any sign attracted to or supported by a marquee structure.

o


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.020_Sign_Specifications_And_Types

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.
16.

17.

Off-premises Sign. A sign structure advertising an establishment, merchandise, service, or
entertainment, which is sold, produced, manufactured, or furnished at a place other than on
the property on which said sign is located; a sign which advertises or otherwise directs
attention to an activity not on the same lot where the sign is located, e.g. billboards, outdoor
advertising, subdivision directional sign.

On-premises Sign. A sign which advertises or otherwise directs attention to an activity on
the same lot where the sign is located.

Painted Wall Sign. Any sign which is applied with paint or similar substances on the face
of the wall.

Parallel Wall Sign. A sign mounted parallel to a wall or other vertical building surface, but
does not extend beyond the edge of any wall, roof line, or other surface to which it is

mounted, and does not project more than ten inches from the surface to whi is mounted
Projecting Wall Sign. Any sign mounted to a wall or other vertical other than a
parallel sign, but does not project more than seven feet from t ce to which it is
mounted, nor project above the wall, roof line, or surface to whi nted, nor in any

way interfere with normal pedestrian or vehicular traffic

does that building wholly or partly support.
Temporary Sign. A sign that advertises comm
real estate for sale or lease, or other special ev
types of signs shall be consider 1

1. Banner Sign. A tempora
possessing characteristic
plastic, orfabric of any

g either with or without framing,
rnamentation applied to paper,

gn giving the name of principal contractors,
1gineers and lending institution responsible for

rtable Sign. Any sign not permanently attached to the ground or other permanent
ucture, or a sign designed to be transported, including, but not limited to: signs
esigned to be transported by means of wheels; signs converted to A- or T-frames;
menu and sandwich board signs; balloons used as signs, umbrellas used for
advertising; signs attached to or painted on vehicles parked and visible from the
public right-of-way, unless said vehicle is used in normal day-to-day.

6. Real Estate. Temporary sign that advertise the sale, lease, or rent of the property
on which the sign is placed. Open house signs for property that is for sale shall be
considered real estate signs.

7. Special Event Signs. On-premises window signs, banners, or commemorative flags
which advertise a grand opening or other special event.

8. Street Banner Sign. Any banner sign which is stretched across and hung over a
public right-of-way.

9. Subdivision Sign. An on- or off-premises directional sign advertising to the public
the name of the subdivision project and the nature of the product offered.

10. Window Sign. Any sign affixed to or visible through a window and intended to be
viewed from the outside.



(UDC 2002, § 701)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.030 Applicability
Any sign erected after the effective date of the ordinance from which this section is derived shall conform
to the following regulations.

(UDC 2002, § 702)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.040 Administration

1. Sign Permits. It shall be unlawful to erect, construct or significantly which requires
a building permit without first filing with the town an application i
permit.

2. Signs Not Requiring Sign Permits:

1. Government signs (i.e. traffic signs, parking si

Legal notices.

2
3.
4. Government flag or insignia.
5. Public service and informatio
telephones, or similar public co

vailability of public restrooms,
three square feet in area.

6.
7. do not exceed three inches in
8 duct name is an integral component of the vending

ot placed in the front yard of a property.

2gate area of incidental signs on a property does not
area in excess of four square feet shall be included
permitted sign area.

yns, not exceeding one square foot.

efer the application back to the applicant in any instance where insufficient
as been submitted.

aking application, be paid to the town, in accordance with the respective fee schedule adopted
by the town from time to time.
(UDC 2002, § 703)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.050 General Sign Requlations Applicable In All Districts

1. Prohibited Signs.
1. Animated signs.
2. Beacon lighting.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.030_Applicability
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.040_Administration
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.050_General_Sign_Regulations_Applicable_In_All_Districts

Flashing, moving or reflective signs.

Illuminated temporary sings.

Revolving or rotating signs.

Roof signs.

Trailer signs.

Vehicular signs.

Billboards.

2. No S|gn shall be placed in such a position as to endanger traffic on a street by obscuring a clear
view or by confusion with official street signs or signals.

3. No sign shall be placed in such a position as to obstruct or endanger pedestrian using the public
sidewalk.

4. No sign, other than official street signs, street banner signs (when authorized by t
political signs may be erected within any public right-of-way unless authorize

5. No sign shall be erected or maintained so as to prevent free ingress and e
window or fire escape.

6. Property owners shall assume the cost of relocating any sign withi

street that is widened.

All signs shall be constructed of durable materials in go

8. Iluminated Signs.

PO 0N O W

~

on which the sign is erected and
one-half foot-candle of light s
property. lllumination of signs s
2. Translucent covers.must conceal

irectly illuminated. No more than
the boundary of any adjacent
al electrical code.

1. Yard reg . i i , business sign or advertising sign
i ard setback or within the required buffer zone when
one adjoining a residential district.

ict adjoining a residential district.
ated within 660 feet of the right-of-way edge along the Harriet Tubman
)ad Byway, or any other scenic byway.

d no earlier than 30 days before the date of election. All political signs
ithin seven days after the election date.

1. The town shall have the authority to require the removal and/or demolition of signs under
the following circumstances:
1. When it is determined that the sign has deteriorated to the point of becoming a
danger to the public.
2. When a sign is erected without an approved building permit.
3. When a sign is erected which does not comply with the requirements of this
section.
4. A nonconforming sign which has not been removed or brought into conformity.
2. In all of the above circumstances the removal procedure will be initiated by a letter to the
owner or lessee by the building inspector requiring removal within 30 days.
3. Owner or lessee's remedial action for each circumstance:
1. Deteriorated/hazardous sign: rehabilitation/repair of sign within 30 days.



2. No sign permit: obtain a permit within 30 days.
3. Prohibited sign or nonconforming sign: sign brought into conformity within 30

days.
(UDC 2002, § 704)
HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009
Amended by Ord. 09-04 Revised on 12/2/2009

Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020
24.24.060 Signs Permitted In Preservation And Residential Districts

1. Official Signs. Official street and traffic signs, and any sign required by law.
2. Professional Home Office Signs. Professional home office name signs, loc he same property
as the home office, indicating the name, profession or activity of t f the dwelling,
provided that the area of any one side shall not exceed two squar

or services, provided that the areas on any one side of
square feet and ten feet in helght and provided that not ne such sign shall be erected
standing sign, each institutional
ot exceeding ten square feet.

than ten dwelling units, one

ing 15 square feet in area and

building is permitted one wall sign for p
4. Residential Signs. For re5|dent|al deve
freestandlng |dent|f|cat|o

vate ownership of roadways or other
ided that the total area of any one side of such sign

a on any one side of such signs on any one street frontage of any property
e ownership shall not exceed nine square feet.

hat the area of any one side of any such sign shall not exceed 35 square feet, and
hat not more than two such signs shall be erected within any such subdivision.

aintained on the premises where the work is being performed during the period in
uch work is being performed, provided that the area of any one side of such sign shall not
exceed 12 square feet, and provided that not more than one such sign shall be erected on any
property in single and separate ownership, and provided that such sign shall be removed upon
completion of work.
8. Open House Signs (on- and off-premises). There shall be a maximum of one on-premises open
house sign for each property.
1. Signs shall not exceed four square feet per side, and not be illuminated.
2. Signs shall not exceed four feet in height.
9. Public Auction, Disposal Signs. Signs which advertise public auctions for disposal of real estate,
property, or merchandise.
1. Signs shall not exceed nine square feet in area, at a maximum height of four feet, and shall
be placed only on the property where the stated auction is being conducted.


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700629_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.060_Signs_Permitted_In_Preservation_And_Residential_Districts

2. Signs may be erected not earlier than 30 days prior to the advertised auction, and shall be
removed within five days of the auction.
10. Political Signs. Political signs pursuant to TMC 24.24.060 paragraph J.

(UDC 2002, § 705)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.070 Signs Permitted In Commercial And Industrial Districts
For any one lot located in the Commercial or Industrial districts, the following number and type of signs
are permitted:

1. One freestanding business or identification sign per street frontage. Gas stati
additional freestanding sign per street frontage for advertising gas prices
2. One of the following types of signs for each side of a building which
located on the same property:
Awning sign.
Identification sign.
Marquee sign.
Painted wall sign.
Parallel window sign.
Permanent window sign.
Projecting wall sign.
3. InC|dentaI signs for the convenience and 3
areas, telephones, rest
advertising.
One of the following

permitted one

r a parking lot

N s wNE

ple, signs identifying parking
in size and containing no

annot create an obstruction to pedestrians or traffic sight distances.
be illuminated.

must be removed at the end of each day.
6. A permlt is required in which the owner assumes liability for the sign.
8. Billboards, as defined in this article, are specifically excluded from the town.

(UDC 2002, § 706)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009
Amended by Ord. 09-04 Revised on 12/2/2009

24.24.080 Dimensional Standards

1. Freestanding signs shall not exceed 35 square feet in area (16 square feet for signs advertising gas
prices), and must be setback a minimum of ten feet from the curbline of the frontage street or


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.070_Signs_Permitted_In_Commercial_And_Industrial_Districts
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700629_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.080_Dimensional_Standards

outside edge of the cartway. In no case may a freestanding sign be located within a public right-of-
way. The maximum height for freestanding signs, including supports, is 12 feet. Multi-use or multi-
tenant buildings where the freestanding sign is to be shared by two or more uses or tenants, the
maximum sign area calculated in paragraph A may be increased by 25 percent for each additional
use/tenant in excess of one use/tenant.

2. The maximum area of a marquee sign, painted wall sign, parallel wall sign or awning sign shall be
100 square feet. However, the total area of painted wall signs, parallel wall signs, signs affixed to
awnings and any signs affixed to the inside or outside of windows, may not exceed 25 percent of
the area of the wall, including windows and floor area and cornices, to which they are attached.

3. The maximum area of a projecting sign shall be 30 square feet.

1. The sign shall not project more than seven feet from the surface to which it is mounted, nor
project over the wall, roof line, or surface to which it is mounted.

2. The outer-most portion of a projecting sign shall project no closer t
curbline or shoulder of a public street.

3. There shall be a minimum clearance of ten feet between the
and a public sidewalk or walkway.

feet from a

projecting sign

4. Special event signs, banners, portable signs or commemorati i nouncing a
grand opening, going out-of-business sale or other speci i with the
following standards.

1. The area of the special event sign, banner, por i i Il not
exceed 25 square feet.

2. The property or business shall di ent sign, banner, portable sign or
commemorative flag at any one

3. A special event sign, portable si tive flag for a business shall be

itted size © eet banner shall be determined on a case-by-case basis
own council.

panners shall not be posted earlier than one month prior to the advertised
ent and must be removed within five days after the day of the event.
(UDC 200

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 09-04 on 12/2/2009

24.24.090 Nonconforming Signs

1. Signs legally in existence at the time of the adoption of the ordinance from which this section is
derived which do not conform with the requirements of this article shall be considered
nonconforming signs.

2. All such nonconforming signs shall be removed or altered so as to be in conformity with the
standards contained herein at such time when:

1. The town receives an application for a sign permit in cases where the nonconforming sign
is to be significantly altered. Changes to the sign copy or the replacement of a sign panel


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.24.090_Nonconforming_Signs

of an existing establishments nonconforming sign shall not be considered a significant
alteration. If more than 50 percent of a sign is damaged, it shall be repaired to conform
with this article.
2. The property in which the nonconforming sign is located submits a subdivision or land
development application requiring municipal review and approval.
3. The property in which the nonconforming sign is located undergoes a change of land use
requiring the issuance of either a certificate of occupancy.
3. To determine the legal status of existing signs, in each of the three cases listed in paragraph B the
applicant shall submit the following information to the town building inspector:
1. Type of existing sign located on the property.
2. The area and height of all signs.
3. For freestanding signs, the distance of the outermost portion of the sign is ck from the
curbline or shoulder.
4. Type of sign illumination.
5. The material of which the sign is constructed.
6. The building length along public street frontage.
4. Prior to the events listed in paragraph B, nonconforming si i ired up to 50
percent, the sign copy may be changed, or sign panels ch actions
do not increase the dimensions of the existing sign, n
nonconformity.
5. Under the following conditions, nonconforming signs
paragraph B:
1. The nonconforming sign posse
2. The nonconforming sign is of a
design.
3. Forachan

mpt from the provisions of

irtue of its architectural value or

(UDC 2002, § 708)

HISTORY
Amended. b

Height Modifications
Variances
Temporary Uses

cupolas and
(UDC 2002, § 800)

24.28.020 Variances
The board of adjustments shall have the power to grant the following variances:

es not used for human occupancy.

1. A modification in the area and bulk requirements in any district so as to relieve practical difficulties
or particular hardships in cases where by reason of size, shape or narrowness of a parcel of property
or by other exceptional or extraordinary situation or condition the use or development of the
property would not conform to strict application of the regulations set forth in this article. Such
grant of variance shall conform as nearly as possible with the spirit, intent and purpose of this


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/code/documents/1597700478_Ord.%2009-04%20Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28_Permitted_Modifications
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.010_Height_Modifications
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.020_Variances
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.030_Temporary_Uses
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.010_Height_Modifications
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.020_Variances

article. Only for reasons of demonstrable and exceptional hardship upon the owner of such property
will such modifications be permitted.

2. Modifications in parking and loading requirements of this article may be permitted whenever the
character or use of any building is such as to make the full provision of parking and loading facilities
unnecessary.

(UDC 2002, § 801)
24.28.030 Temporary Uses

1. Itisrecognized that it may be in the interest of the town and in accordance with the purpose of this
article to permit temporary activities for a limited period of time, which activitiesymay not be
permitted by other provisions of this article. If such uses are of such a nature andqare so located that
at the time of application they will:

1. In no way exert a detrimental effect upon use of land and activities'narmally permitted in
the zoning district in question.

2. Contribute materially to the welfare and well beiag of the public or te the lawful
improvement or development of land.

2. Upon proper application to and favorable finding by thétown council, the board of adjustiment may
be directed to issue a permit for such a period of time specified by the'town council.

(UDC 2002, § 802)

24.32 Land Development Requirements

24.32.010 Inspection Fee Escrow
24.32.020 Performance Guaranty
24.32.030 Sunsetting Provision Of. Recorded Subdivision 'Of Land Development Plans

24.32.010 Inspection Fee Escrow

1. PriOr to the construction of any improvements approved by the town and prior to final approval of
major subdivision or Site plan or approval of minor subdivision or minor site plan, the applicant
shall depositiand maintain with the town a fund of not less than five percent of the estimated cost
of the required on- andQffssite improvements, as determined by the town engineer, to cover costs
of inspection of improvements. The minimum escrow deposit required at any one time shall be
$200.00.

2. It at any timedduring the inspection of the construction of said improvements it becomes evident
that the eserow deposit is or will be insufficient to cover the costs thereof, the applicant shall make
such additronal deposits in amounts to be determined by the town engineer based upon the
estimated costs required to properly review and inspect the on- and off-site improvements.

3. The engineering, legal and planning escrows as set forth in the aforesaid provisions are minimum
amounts representing an estimate of the anticipated costs for such services based on the hourly rates
of the respective professional. The hourly rates to be charged each applicant for the services of such
professionals shall be the same as those set forth in the contracts between the town and said
professionals. All legal, engineering and planning review fees set forth under the applications for
use and bulk variances, appeals, interpretations and miscellaneous applications are nonrefundable
minimums. In all other cases, if the actual cost is less than the minimum, the applicant shall receive
a refund of the difference for all development applications; if actual costs for such proposed
services exceed the minimum deposits, the applicant shall be responsible to pay to the town the
difference between the actual amount and the amount deposited.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.28.030_Temporary_Uses
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32_Land_Development_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.010_Inspection_Fee_Escrow
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.020_Performance_Guaranty
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.030_Sunsetting_Provision_Of_Recorded_Subdivision_Of_Land_Development_Plans
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.010_Inspection_Fee_Escrow

(UDC 2002, § 1000)

24.32.020 Performance Guaranty

1.

4,

General Requirements.
1. No final application for development (whether for an entire tract or a section thereof) shall

be approved by the board until the satisfactory completion and performance of all required
improvements have been certified by the town engineer. As a condition of final approval

for any application for development, all applicants shall submit a performance guarantee,

and upon completion and approval of the improvements, a two-year maintenance guaranty

for all required on- and off-site improvements. The form and amount of the aforementioned
guaranties must meet the satisfaction of the town solicitor and engineer.

2. A performance guaranty estimate shall be prepared by the applic

equirements for
improvements and their estimated cost. The performance and guaranties shall

conform to such approved estimate in the manner calcula

then receive the approval as to form, amount and exe
approval of the application. No plans will be signed or
performance guaranty has been approved.

Bonding And Cash Requirements. The peffe
to the town and shall be in the form o
performance bond in which the owner s

be made payable and deposited
of credit or certified check or a
or letter of credit to be provided
d to do business in the state.
same to be deposited in the
name of the tow ine i ' i | requirements and to be returned
i or, in the event of default on the part of the owner,
to be used by ense of obtaining completion of all requirements.

Inspection And

) installation under the supervision of the town engineer

tory completion. The obligor shall reimburse the municipality for all
on fees paid to the municipal engineer for the foregoing inspection of
vided that the municipality may require of the developer a deposit for
rtion of the reasonably anticipated fees to be paid to the municipal engineer for

or those inspections are not on deposit. The project may be immediately shut down

/ the municipal engineer if sufficient fees for inspections have not been deposited in

accordance with this section.

2. In no case shall any paving work be done without permission from the town engineer. At
least two working day's notice shall be given to that town engineer prior to any construction
so that the engineer or a qualified representative may be present at the time the work is to
be done.

3. Streets should not be paved with a wearing course until all heavy construction is completed.
Shade trees shall not be planted until all grading and earthmoving is completed. The
seeding of grass and the placing of surveyor's monuments shall be among the last
operations.

4. The town engineer's office shall be notified prior to each of the following phases of work
so that they or a qualified representative may inspect the work:

1. Road subgrade.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.020_Performance_Guaranty

Curb and gutter forms.
Curbs and gutters.
Road paving.
Sidewalk forms.
Sidewalks.
Drainage pipes and other drainage construction.
Street name signs.
Monuments.
10 Stormwater basins.
11. Topsoil, seeding and planting.
5. Anyimprovement installed contrary to the plan or plat approval by the town shall constitute
just cause to void the municipal approval.
6. Any improvement installed without notice for inspection shall constit
1. Removal of the uninspected improvement;
2. The payment by the developer of any costs for materi
3. The restoration by the developer of any imp
material testing; and/or
4. The issuance of a stop-work order by t
any dispute.

©CoNoO~wWN

e thereafter, it being recognized
times during construction and to
r and his contractor, if any.

application for development

that the responsibility to mainta
provide proper utilities and imp
5. Conditions And Acceptal

drainage syste approval obligate the town in any way
to exercise j i S age system or other improvement. No improvement
( and until all of the following conditions have been

ply with the reqmrements of this chapter

ion for development shall have been approved by the town.

e filed with the town a maintenance guaranty in an amount equal to
percent of the cost of installing the improvements. The maintenance
shall run for a period of two years from final acceptance of the improvement. The

anty shall be identical to the procedures and requirements for a performance guaranty
forth in this chapter.

An as-built plan and profiles of all utilities and roads three black-and-white prints plus a Mylar copy to be
sent to the town engineer, with certification signed and sealed by a state licensed professional engineer as
to the actual construction as approved by the town engineer, shall be provided.

(UDC 2002, § 1001)

24.32.030 Sunsetting Provision Of Recorded Subdivision Of Land Development Plans
The following regulations concerning expiration of recorded and approved plans are applicable to major
subdivisions, minor subdivisions, and land development plans.



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.32.030_Sunsetting_Provision_Of_Recorded_Subdivision_Of_Land_Development_Plans

1. Plans recorded after adoption of these regulations. Construction of development or improvements
shown on an approved record plan for a major subdivision or major land development shall
commence within five (5) years of the date of recordation of the first record plan for the subdivision
or land development plan.

2. Plans recorded before the adoption of these regulations. Construction of development or
improvements shown on a record plan for a major subdivision or major land development shall
commence within five (5) years from the 3rd of June, 2020; except that

1. The sunsetting provisions shall apply to all major and subdivision and major land
development plans; except that:
1. Any major subdivision or major land development plan that was unbuildable
immediately prior to the adoption of these regulations for any reason; and,
2. Any re-subdivision plan and any minor subdivision or minor la

section, shall remain unbuildable and shall remain e
this section.

3. Land disturbances of less than one thousan
any building or structure, buffer yard,
from this section.

4. Construction has not commenced withi
reviewed by the Planning Commission
record major subdivision or land devel
subsequent adoption of, or.a

rd plan shall be resubmitted and
itions of approval of the original

en have five (5) years from the date of such notice
5 and commence construction.

for approval. The new plan approved and recorded pursuant to this
all have the effect of superseding the original record major subdivision or land
ent plan. The owner shall then have five (5) years from the date of notice made
uant to this subsection to obtain building permits and commence construction.

a rezoning of the property occurred simultaneously with the approval of the preliminary
record plan and the Planning Commission has determined that a new revised record plan
is required, the zoning of the property shall revert to the previous zoning district. The
processing of the revised record plan shall require full compliance with the then current
rezoning procedures.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.36 Environmental Protection Regulations

24.36.010 Intent
24.36.020 Definitions - Environmental Protection Regulations
24.36.030 Open Space Regulations And Allowable Uses



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36_Environmental_Protection_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.010_Intent
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.020_Definitions_-_Environmental_Protection_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.030_Open_Space_Regulations_And_Allowable_Uses

24.36.040 Floodplains And Floodways

24.36.050 Wetlands
24.36.060 Riparian Buffer Areas (RBA)
24.36.070 Steep Slope Protection
24.36.080 Drainageways
24.36.090 Critical Natural Areas (CNA)
24.36.100 Water Resources Protection Areas (WRPA)
24.36.110 Wellheads Class A
24.36.120 Recharge Areas
24.36.130 Boundary Determination For WRPA
24.36.140 Uniform Standards And Criteria
24.36.150 Environmental Impact Assessment Report
24.36.160 Clearing
24.36.170 Reforestation Requirements
24.36.180 Roads, Parking Lots And Utilities

24.36.010 Intent
The intent of this section is to provide clarification on the environmental constraints and requirements for
development in environmentally sensitive areas.

(UDC 2002, § 1100)

24.36.020 Definitions - Environmental Protection Requlations
The following words, terms and phrases, when used inthis,article, shall' have the meanings ascribed to them
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates‘a different meaning:

"Applicant" means a person,firm or government ageney who._executes the necessary forms to obtain
approval or a permit for_amy zoning, subdivision, \land development, building, land disturbance, or other
activity regulated by this Code.

"Aquifer" means a body. of,rock (erystalline, sand ar gravel) that contains sufficient saturated permeable
material togeonduct groundwaier springs-or tolield economically significant quantities of groundwater to
wells;

"Best management practices" means that combination of conservation measures, structures, vegetation or
management practices, that reduces or avoids adverse impacts of development on adjoining site's land,
water, or waterways and waterbodies.

"Buffer means a designated area between two uses deemed incompatible with each other, or along the
perimeter.ofia natural feature to be protected from an incompatible use, or along the perimeter of that use,
which will"abserb otherwise preclude such incompatibility by some combination of construction design,
vegetative plantings, fences, and/or maintenance practices which shall be permanently maintained.

"Buffer, riparian” see riparian buffer area.

"Caliper" means the diameter of new landscape plantings measured six inches aboveground.
"Canopy tree" see tree, canopy.

"Clean fill" means a nondecomposable, environmentally inert solid, such as rock, soil, gravel.

"Clearcutting™ means the practices of wholesale complete removal of all trees, disturbing shrubs, or other
vegetation in the process. This definition does not include the selective removal of trees on a building pad
or normal maintenance of vegetation.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.040_Floodplains_And_Floodways
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.050_Wetlands
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.060_Riparian_Buffer_Areas_(RBA)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.070_Steep_Slope_Protection
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.080_Drainageways
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.090_Critical_Natural_Areas_(CNA)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.100_Water_Resources_Protection_Areas_(WRPA)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.110_Wellheads_Class_A
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.120_Recharge_Areas
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.130_Boundary_Determination_For_WRPA
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.140_Uniform_Standards_And_Criteria
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.150_Environmental_Impact_Assessment_Report
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.160_Clearing
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.170_Reforestation_Requirements
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.180_Roads,_Parking_Lots_And_Utilities
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.010_Intent
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.020_Definitions_-_Environmental_Protection_Regulations

"Critical natural area (CNA)" means any site listed in the state natural areas inventory, as administered by
the State Office of Nature Preserves, Division of Parks and Recreation, or the Delaware Department of
Natural Resources and Environmental Control.

"Critical natural areas report" means a report analyzing the impact of a development or subdivision
proposal on a CNA located on the site, which shall include the following elements:

1. A statement that an entire lot or parcel is included in the critical natural areas investigation or a
description of a smaller area which is subject to the critical natural areas investigation;

2. A scaled plan of the site accurately depicting critical natural area boundaries. The CNA boundary
lines shall be identified with a metes and bounds description prepared by and bearing the seal of a
professional land surveyor registered in the state, or a professional engineer with a background in
civil engineering registered in the state. Where many survey traverses are nece accurately
describe the CNA boundary, the developer may have the surveyor or engin ify and prepare

CNA boundaries for plan review purposes;
3. A narrative description of the extent to which the subdivi
activities within any critical natural areas which are s

ed as a temporary holding basin
or retained to increase aquifer

"Detention/retention basin" means a natural or
for water. Water may be detained to minimi
recharge.

"Drainage" means the process b i oves across the land surface.

ally” constructed drains, including open channels and
water, surface water, or groundwater, either continuously
to natural watercourses.

atercourse, seasonally or continually available for the passage of water, of
but are not limited to: flood control, groundwater recharge, drainage, and
control. The presence of a drainageway is determined by one or more of the

The presence of certain specific soil types, (such as Codorus silt loam (Co), Comus silt loam (Cu),

Hatboro silt loam (Ha), Johnston loam (Jo), or Mixed alluvial land (Mv));

2. The land on either side of and within 50 feet of the centerline of any intermittent or perennial stream
shown on the United States Geological Survey (U.S.G.S.) 7.5 minute quadrangle sheets;

3. The land on either side of and within 25 feet of the centerline of any swale identified by the U.S.G.S.

7.5 minute quadrangle sheet as having an upstream drainage area of five or more acres.

"Environmental report” means any study, report or application required by this Code, such as critical natural
areas, floodplains, riparian buffers, steep slopes, water resource protection areas and wetlands.



"Filling" means the depositing on land, whether submerged or not, of sand, gravel, earth or other materials.
Biodegradable materials and other materials subject to decomposition or significant settling (such as
garbage and other organic matter) shall not be considered filling.

"Flood fringe™ means those portions of the floodplain, outside the floodway, subject to inundation by the
100 year recurrence interval flood and generally associated with standing or slowly moving water, rather
than rapidly flowing water. Flood fringe is determined by detailed study data and profiles found in the
FEMA flood insurance study.

"Flood protection elevation™ means a point two feet above the water surface elevation of the 100-year flood.

"Floodplain™ means a relatively flat or low-lying land area adjoining a river, stream, or watercourse which
is subject to periodic partial or complete inundation. Specifically, those areas identified by, the Federal
Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) flood insurance rate maps (FIRM) as bein to periodic
inundation by a 100-year storm, including the floodway, flood fringe and areas f no base flood
elevations area available as depicted in the FEMA flood insurance rate maps 0. 10585) dated
April 17,1996 or as later amended.

"Floodway means the portion of the floodplain district required t i ters of the

It may also be a woodland, woodlot, grove, or s i specifications of the forest type.

"Forest, mature" means an area or stand of trees e tota i nopy covers an area of one acre
or more composed of canopies of trees having a DB i or greater covering at least 75

"Forest, young" mea > total combined canopy covers an extra of one acre
or more, with canopy i [ i hes and covering at least 60 percent of the area.
However, no ia ses shall be considered a young forest.

means that combination of generally accepted methods for preserving,
re, which may include selective cutting, burning and removal of trees.

geologic at are fully saturated.

"Hydric soils®®means soils which in their natural, undrained state are wet frequently enough at or near the
surface to periodically produce anaerobic conditions, thereby influencing plant species composition and/or
growth.

"Infiltration” means the passage or movement of water through the soil profile.
"Land grading" see grading.

"Landscape plan" means a plan associated with a subdivision, land development or parking facility plan
indicating the placement of trees, shrubs, growth cover and affiliated structures and improvements,
including specifications, species, quantities and installation as prepared by a state registered landscape
architect.



"Landscaping” means the design and installation of plant material such as lawns, groundcover, trees,
bushes, etc.

"Mitigation™ means any action taken to lessen the specified undesirable impacts of a proposed land use or
land disturbance activity, including those which would adversely affect the health or longevity of a natural
feature, pose a visual intrusion or conflict, or otherwise be deemed incompatible with surrounding
properties.

"National geodetic vertical datum (NGVD)" means elevations referenced to mean sea level datum of the
1929 or 1988 U.S. Geological Survey.

"Nondelineated floodplain” means an area subject to a 100-year flood, adjacent to a watercourse that is
identified by a blue line on the current U.S. Geological Survey (U.S.G.S.) topographic maps«ef the county
or in the detailed maps of the N.C.C. Soil Survey for which FEMA has delineated a flo

"Public water supply well" means a well from which the water is used to serve ity water system

Water Systems.

"Recharge areas" means the recharge water resource protectio
potential for groundwater recharge. They were delineated usi
by the Delaware Geological Survey entitled "Delineation of Gr
Areas in the Coastal Plain of New Castle County, Delaware,"
area").

y 1993 (“"recharge ‘resource

"Restoration" means the reasonable ilitati C | purposes and the protection
of the natural resources of the i r e groundwater.
"Riparian buffer area \ land is adjacent to a perennial, lake, tidal wetland

or area dralnlng greate ’ i fransition zone between the aquatic and the terrestrial
) pment, a RBA shall be designated. The RBA shall

al “identification of the watercourses/waterbodies shall be made using the U.S. Geological

Survey quadrangle maps or more accurate information, as available. Field verification to determine
evidence and location of channelized flow is required for a specific determination.

3. The width of existing impervious area such roadways, parking lots, structures, sidewalks, etc., shall
not count towards the RBA measurements.

Exceptions. An RBA shall not be designated along industrial ponds, sewage lagoons, manmade irrigation
ditches, stormwater management basins and other artificial features with a similar water quality or storage
function.

One hundred (100) feet on either side of perennial and intermittent streams, lakes, and tidal wetlands;



1. All of a nontidal wetland greater than twenty thousand (20,000) square feet in area, plus an
additional one hundred (100) feet of adjacent land,;

2. A riparian buffer area shall not be designated along industrial ponds, sewage lagoons, manmade
irrigation ditches, stormwater management basins and other artificial features with a similar water
quality or storage function.

"Runoff" means that portion of precipitation or snow melt that has not evaporated or infiltrated into the soil,
but flows on land surface.

"Sanitary sewage disposal, on-lot" means a system in which sanitary sewage and wastewater is collected
from a single use or dwelling unit, by a system of pipes, and carried to a septic tank and tile disposal field
located within the boundaries of an individual lot.

"Septic system, individual" see sanitary sewage disposal, on-lot.

"Septic tank™ means a multiple compartment, watertight receptacle which recei from a building

matter and discharge of the liquid portion into a disposal area.

"Slope, steep" means the vertical change in elevation divide hich that
vertical change occurs. The steep slope area consists of two i i ined as
follows:

1. "Prohibitive slope" means prohibitive ¢
survey, where such slope exists in any cc
2. "Precautionary slope" means precautio
survey, where such sle ists i

percent slope as based on a site
ent of 50 feet or more.
cent slope as based on a site

These definitions d @ steep slopes resulting from the implementation of an

"Surface water" means natural or artificial bodies of water greater than one acre in extent at the normal
annual water level, as depicted on U.S.G.S. topographic quadrangles and/or as determined by on-site
surveys by a registered surveyor, landscape architect or engineer. Excluded from this definition are
retention basins or other stormwater management facilities, farm ponds or other facilities associated with
agricultural operations, sewage lagoons and other facilities for which normal maintenance and repair is
necessary.

"Top of bank™ means a point above the mean water surface of a watercourse that defines the maximum
depth of channel flow in the watercourse. It is either determined visually or computed as an elevation using
the peak rate of runoff from a two year storm event.



"Townsend Greenbelt" means the tracts of land located around the perimeter of Townsend Proper consisting
of undeveloped properties and agricultural land. Refer to figure 11-11.1 in TMC 24.36.120 for the exact
mapped boundary designation.

"Townsend Proper" means the area of the town that is considered the downtown or center of town that
consists of the businesses, commercial facilities, industrial areas, and residential housing developments
previously constructed and in existence in the town prior to January 2000. Refer to figure 11-11.1 in TMC
24.36.120 for the exact mapped boundary designation.

"Tree, canopy" means a tree whose leaves would occupy the upper level of a forest in a natural ecological
situation. These trees are also called shade trees, and typically reach heights of 50--100 feet at maturity.

"Tree, understory” means a tree whose leaves would occupy the intermediate level of a forest in a natural
ecological situation. They are also found as dominant species in old field succession. ees are also
called ornamental trees.

"Variance" means relief from the standards of this section.

"Water resource protection area™ means water resource protection ar nd recharge
areas. All such areas are as depicted on the three-map series "W r the City
of Newark, City of Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaw
for the county that is dated 1993, or as amended.

"Water table" means the level below the surface

"Waterbody" means any watercourse, tidal wetls i ank or shore in which water can
be found.

"Watercourse" means a stream ia : unmapped) with banks and a

jere the quantity or quality of groundwater moving
d by land use activity. Such activity may result in

of rec of contaminants to groundwater used for public supply
ead"). Class 1ead zone shall include the area within a 300 foot radius circle around all
water supply i e classified as community water systems, as defined by section 22.157

with the "Fe anual for Identifying and Delineating Jurisdictional Wetlands" dated January 10, 1989,
and as may bé amended from time to time; or as further defined and delineated by the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or the Delaware Department of Natural Resources
and Environmental Control.

"Wetland Delineation and Report" means an on-site method or process for identifying wetlands as
described in the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual, Technical Report: Y-87-1, from 1987
and as amended. The report shall be prepared by a person with professional experience and knowledge in
wetlands identification and shall analyze a site for the existence and extent of wetlands.

(UDC 2002, § 1101)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf

24.36.030 Open Space Regulations And Allowable Uses

Table 11-2.1 lists uses that may be permitted in open space. Any use not listed shall be considered
prohibited.

(UDC 2002, § 1102)
24.36.040 Floodplains And Floodways

1.

2.

Intent. This section shall detail the requirements, allowable disturbances, and permitted
construction practices within all floodplains and floodways within the town.

Boundary Interpretation. Where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and
actual field conditions, a determination of the exact boundary of the area subject to inundation by
the base flood shall be made using the 100-year flood elevation information providédiin the flood
insurance study for the flood fringe portions of the floodplain and using the bestd00-year floodplain
elevation information available for general floodplain areas. For the fléodway portion of the
floodplain the exact boundaries shall be determined by scaling the distances shown on the floodway
map and by utilizing the data in the applicable flood insurance study (FIS) for the area. Where the
boundary of the floodplain is disputed, the burden of proof shall'be on the applicant.

Floodway; Flood Fringe. There are two areas within _the floodplain, the floodway ‘and, the flood
fringe.

1. Nostructure shall intrude into the floodway or flaadplain ex€eptfor piers neededto support
bridges, erosion control structurgs, dams for floedseontrol or water supply, and utility
crossings.

2. No filling is permitted in floodways or floedplains.

3. No structures designed for human habitationare permittech

Standards For Beneficialgdses In Floodplains. Allsnew eenstruction, reconstruction, subdivision
proposals, substantial improvements or repairsy prefabricatedystructures and other developments
shall be prohihited except where approved as essential to the beneficial use of property. Refer to
table 11-2.1 for permitted beneficial uses. Approval shall be at the discretion of the town.

Table 11-2.1

USES IN REQUIRED OPEN SPACE

Y = Permitted N = Prohibited L = Limited Use | = Environmental Impact Assessment Report

(see TMC 24.36.150)
Ejne Ripar Stee
Flood |Floodp |Wetl |ian Drainage | Wellhead/Re | p Fore
Use Open lai i h I
Spac way ain and |Buffe |ways charge Areas | Slo |sts
r pes
e
Agricultural
Apiaries Y N N N Y Y Y Y |Y



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.030_Open_Space_Regulations_And_Allowable_Uses
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.040_Floodplains_And_Floodways

Clearing L N N N
Game

farms/fish Y L L I
hatcheries

Field crops Y L L N
Orchards Y N Y N
Pasture Y L L N
Stables Y N N N
Nursery Y N L N

Recreation and Amusement: Outdoor Recreation

Ball fields Y N L N
Day camps N N L N
Fishing areas |Y Y Y Y
Huntingareas | L L L L
Natural area |Y Y Y Y
Nature center |Y N N N
Picnic

area/playgrou | Y N L N
nd

Pools/courts |Y N N N
Shooting and

Archery L L L N
ranges

Trails Y Y Y Y




Water
dependent N L L L L Y N N [N
Use

Industrial Uses: Utilities, Community/Region

Public/private

Y N N L I Y L L L
roads

Parking lots |L N N N N L N N N

Essential
access

Sewer/water/
Utilities

Sewage and
water
Treatment
Plants/pumpi
ng
Stations/dams

Detention/rete

; . Y N N N L Y L N N
ntion basins

Temporary Uses

Public interest

Y N N N N Y Y N L
Event

(UDC 2002, 8 1103)
24.36.050 Wetlands

1. Wetland mitigation shall be that for which a permit has been issued by the United States Army
Corps of Engineers. Permits from the state may also be required.

2. It is permissible to construct utility and access crossings within wetlands where no other recourse
is available. The proposed use must be authorized by the town and meet the requirements of this
Code, Army Corps of Engineers regulations, and the DNREC. No other forms of construction are
permitted in areas designated as wetlands.

3. Any work in buffer areas shall meet the requirements of this Code, Army Corps of Engineers
regulations, and the DNREC.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.050_Wetlands

(UDC 2002, § 1104)
24.36.060 Riparian Buffer Areas (RBA)

1. Intent. This section shall detail the requirements, allowable disturbances, and permitted
construction practices within all riparian buffer areas within the town.

2. Waterbody Buffers. The waterbody buffers shall meet the following standards which are intended
to preserve and enhance existing vegetation and to re-vegetate disturbed areas. All riparian buffer
shall be mapped to delineate the resource. No vegetation shall be removed in the RBA and existing
native vegetation shall be preserved to the maximum extent possible. RBA shall extend a minimum
of 100 feet past each top of bank for all waterbodies or 50 feet past the floodplain or nontidal
wetland line (whichever is greater). All RBA areas shall be classified as old field, disturbed land,
or meadow, and planted in accordance with this section where native vegetation i resent. The
mapping of RBA's shall be supplied with an exploratory plan and at subse an submissions
to meet the standards of this section.

3. Surface Waterbodies.

1. No septic systems shall be allowed within an RBA.
2. All developments shall maximize the drainage a
than storm sewers. A stormwater system's di
sheet flow through grassland or discharged fro
a wetland or aquatic bench.
3. Stormwater runoff from all parki d to a stormwater management
facility before it is discharged i

(UDC 2002, § 1105)
24.36.070 Steep Slope Pro

1. sides and their related soil and vegetative resources,

fects (refer to TMC 24.36.020 for all applicable

precautionary and prohibitive slopes from inappropriate
as excessive grading, land-form alteration and extensive vegetation

e caused by increased runoff, flooding, soil, erosion and sedimentation, blasting
g of rock and landslide and soil failure.

4. Encouragement of the use of precautionary and prohibitive slopes for open space and other
uses that are compatible with the conservation and protection of natural resources.
2. Applicability And Scope. This regulates the circumstances in which any use may occur on areas of
precautionary and prohibitive slopes.
3. Permitted Uses In Areas Of Precautionary And Prohibitive Slopes. The following uses and no other
are permitted in areas of precautionary and prohibitive slopes:
1. Agricultural uses not requiring cultivation or structures.
2. Game preserve, wildlife sanctuary, woodland preserve or similar conservation uses not
requiring structures.
3. Passive recreation.


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.060_Riparian_Buffer_Areas_(RBA)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.070_Steep_Slope_Protection

4. Water supply wells with the approval of the town engineer and consistent with the DNREC
regulations.
5. Other uses within these areas may be permissible upon approval of the town via a
conditional use or variance application.
4. Prohibited Uses In Areas Of Precautionary And Prohibitive Slopes. The following uses and
activities are specifically prohibited and shall not be subject to variance:

1. Structures.

2. Cutandfill.

3. Soil, rock or mineral extraction.

4. Removal of topsoil.

5. On-site sewage disposal systems.

6. Roads, driveways and parking lots.
5. Conditional Uses In Areas Of Prohibitive Slopes. The town is authorized to

in the form of variances for the following uses, subject to recommendatio

Agricultural cultivation and agricultural uses requiring struct
Conservation uses requiring structures.
Passive recreation uses requiring structures.
Utility easements and rights-of-way.
Accessory structures.
Individual driveways accessory to single-fa

ditional uses
e town engineer.

ogakrwhE

6. Conditional Uses In Areas Of Precauti
uses in the form of variances for the
engineer.

1. District in which the property is

2. Recreation us

Is authorized to grant conditional
recommendations of the town

e town, in considering a variance, shall consider the following:
modification proposed to the topographic, soil and vegetation resources.
es and extent of mitigation proposed to offset potential adverse environmental

ects on adjacent and neighboring properties.
8. Additional Standards For Variances. An affirmative decision shall not be issued by the town for a
variance unless there is evidence that:

1. Development is being proposed on areas of precautionary or prohibitive slopes only
because no other alternative location is practicable.

2. Earthmoving activities and vegetation removal will be conducted only to the extent
necessary to accommodate the proposed uses and structures and in a manner that will not
cause excessive surface water runoff, erosion, sedimentation and unstable soil conditions.

3. Mitigation techniques will be utilized, including but not limited to retaining walls, tree
wells, the establishment of ground covers and/or low spreading shrubs and the use of
erosion control fabric.

4. Proposed structures will be of sound engineering design and footings will be designed in
response to the site's slope, soil and bedrock characteristics.



9. Application Procedures For Variances. An application for a permit shall be filed with the town
who shall make an initial determination on the application. For a use other than those permitted in
this section, an application seeking approval for a variance shall be forwarded to the town, as
appropriate, along with required studies or information. The application for a variance shall be
accompanied by the following:

1. Plans drawn to a scale of at least one inch equals 50 feet depicting the following:

Location, dimensions and elevation of the property.

Existing and proposed uses and development.

Existing and proposed contours at two-foot intervals.

Location and boundaries of steep slopes and very steep structures.

Cross-sections and elevations of the property and proposed structures.

ISZCAIE I

soil types.

2. Photographs showing existing uses, vegetation and top
and prohibitive slopes.

3. Narrative report describing the slope, soil and v
the property within the area of the precauti
also describe:

1.

(UDC 2002, § 1106)
24.36.080 Drainagewa

the drainageway area protected shall be kept open to
e corridors. Positive surface drainage in these areas shall be preserved.
regraded and reshaped to provide for stormwater management and

e drainage shall be designed to slow the time of concentration on the site and retain

maximum ground infiltration.

2. Where flows permit, the channels shall be designed as grassed swales, wetlands, or mesic
grasslands encouraging sheet flow, except in forests.

3. All permanent pool stormwater management ponds shall be designed to have aquatic
benches planted approved plant materials.

(UDC 2002, § 1107)

24.36.090 Critical Natural Areas (CNA)
The applicant is required to contact the DNREC for the determination of all potential CNA and shall follow
the state guidelines for developmental procedures.

(UDC 2002, § 1108)



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.080_Drainageways
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.090_Critical_Natural_Areas_(CNA)

24.36.100 Water Resources Protection Areas (WRPA)

Water resource protection areas are wellheads class A and recharge areas. All such areas are as depicted on
the three-map series "Water Resource Protections Areas for the City of Newark, City of Wilmington, New
Castle County, Delaware," prepared by the water resources agency for the county that is dated 1993, or as
amended. These areas shall be protected as required by the following sections to protect the town's water
resources from contamination and pollution.

(UDC 2002, § 1109)
24.36.110 Wellheads Class A

1. Areas within 300 feet of the well shall be 100 percent open space.

2. The protection area around the well may be reduced to a 150 foot radius provided
report, prepared by a state registered geologist and submitted to the satisfacti the Delaware
Geological Survey and the DNREC, is prepared. The report must certi

1. The minimum 60-day time of travel from a point to the
maintained; and
2. The well draws from a confined aquifer.

3. The natural runoff flowing into wellhead areas shall r run-off
shall be diverted around the wellhead protection area .

4. The stormwater system's discharge to wellhead WRP nd or
discharge from a stormwater manageme or aquatic bench. Stormwater
runoff from all parking areas shall be management facility before it is
discharged into a wellhead WRPA.

5. Within the wellhead area, impervious
associated with the wel distribution & heir maintenance.

6. The minimum lot area fora and related facility drawing from a
confined aquif: A : : a for a public well drawing from an

to the buildings and access

ucted prior to August 2001. All existing wellheads
being "grandfathered" and the regulations of the

reas with high percentages of sand and gravel that have "excellent" potential for
through a stack unit mapping analysis performed originally by the Delaware
Geologica

1. Within Townsend Proper. Development within the environs of downtown (Townsend Proper, as
defined in TMC 24.36.020) may occur provided the gross percent impervious cover of the parcel
within the recharge area is either 50 percent or as dictated under 24 Appendix A of this Chapter for
maximum lot coverage (whichever is most stringent). In situations where the existing impervious
cover of a property is over 50 percent and the applicant desires to re-develop the property, the gross
impervious cover shall be equal to or less than the original impervious cover percentage of the
original site. In areas zoned as either Commercial (C) or Industrial (1) within Townsend Proper, the
applicant can seek relief by submitting an environmental study and report certified by a state
registered professional geologist or professional engineer with a background in hydrogeology that
indicates that additional development would not endanger the public or the environment.

2. Within Townsend Greenbelt. New development within the environs outside of Townsend Proper

(Townsend Greenbelt, as defined in TMC 24.36.020) may occur provided the gross percent


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.100_Water_Resources_Protection_Areas_(WRPA)
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.110_Wellheads_Class_A
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.120_Recharge_Areas
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=code#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations

impervious cover of the entire parcel and/or development within the recharge area to be constructed
is 30 percent or less.

3. Underground Storage Tanks. No underground storage tanks containing petroleum or any chemicals
shall be permitted in a designated recharge area.

4. Underground Recharge Systems. For all new construction, all structures shall be required to
discharge all roof drains into underground recharge systems. No aboveground discharge is
permitted in recharge areas by roof drains.

5. Figure 11-11.1. Refer to figure 11-11.1 for the town boundaries of the areas designated as
"Townsend Proper" and "Townsend Greenbelt."

Figure 11-11.1

3 GREENGTLY

aw

(UDC 2002, § 1111)



HISTORY
Amended by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24.36.130 Boundary Determination For WRPA

1. All subdivision and land development plans depicting development or land disturbance submitted
for town review shall be evaluated for the existence of water resource protection areas by scaling
for distances shown on the water resource protection area map. If existing, the boundaries of the
areas shall be delineated on the plan by the applicant's engineer.

2. When there appears to be a conflict between the mapped boundary and actual site conditions, the
applicant may engage the services of professional practitioners set forth in this section to prepare a
report intended to determine more accurately the precise boundary of the water resource protection
area, which report shall be submitted to the town with the detailed findings necessary to indicate
the location of the boundary.

3. The plan showing the boundary conflict should indicate the following:

1. A detailed topographic layout of the subdivision and/or areat@'be developed prepared by
a land surveyor or engineer;

2. For floodplain and erosion-prone slopes boundarysdeterminations, a revised surface soils
map of the subdivision and/or area prepared hys@ DNREC-licensed soil scientistincluding
a written report of the on-site field inspection anchtest boring.data;

3. For reservoir watershed, wellhead and recharge boundary determinations, a site=Specific
geological and hydrogeologicalmanalysis shall\ be" performed by a state-registered
professional geologist or engineer with,a background in hydrogeology and shall be based
upon through site investigation and testingpand

4. Evidence derived from a site-specific investigation which may include aquifer testing, test
borings, test pitsi obServation wells, groundwatemelevations and topography surveys as
appropriatedfor-the type of water resedrce protection area to clearly demonstrate that the
area ingquestion does not meet the definition of a water resource protection area as defined
in thisiseetion.

4. The applicant is permittedto make a submission to the county with the advice of the Delaware
Geological, Survey andithe water resources,agency, to adjust the boundary or area designation based
thereon. “Such, adjustments shall have the effect of exempting the subject parcel from the use
regulations of this section and shall have the effect of amending the limits of the water resource
protection area. The applieant will then be required to provide a notification sent by the county
indicating that they concurwith the amended boundary location in order to be exempted from the
requirements of this section.

(UDC 2002, § 1112)

24.36.140 Uniform Standards And Criteria

The following standards and criteria shall be applicable to any limited use, special use or other use requiring
an environmental impact assessment permitted pursuant to this division. stormwater management facilities
shall be designed and constructed in accordance with DNREC "Delaware Sediment and Stormwater
Regulations," dated January 23, 1991 or as later revised.

(UDC 2002, § 1113)

24.36.150 Environmental Impact Assessment Report

If a proposed use requires an environmental impact assessment report, the applicant shall have such a report
certified by a professional engineer, geologist or other certified professional in the applicable environmental
discipline. Mitigation cannot be used where the conflict can be avoided or minimized. The report shall
contain the following criteria, given in order of preference:



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.130_Boundary_Determination_For_WRPA
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.140_Uniform_Standards_And_Criteria
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.150_Environmental_Impact_Assessment_Report

=

Site Character. The report shall identify all potential on-site sensitive environmental concerns.

2. Avoidance. Alternative sites or routes shall be identified that would not damage the resource or
result in less resource damage. Reasons shall be provided explaining why using these sites is
impossible or infeasible versus that proposed.

3. Minimization. The applicant shall demonstrate that the plan minimizes the impact of the activity,
route, or use on the resource. The applicant shall also demonstrate that the areas impacted shall be
lowest quality and result in the least damage to the resource.

4. Mitigation. A mitigation plan shall be submitted indicating mitigation activities. On-site

replacement is the most acceptable form of mitigation. However, mitigation can include restoration

and enhancement after the use is abandoned. Mitigation by replacement on another site shall be at

a ratio of 2:1. Mitigation may also include enhancement; this ratio shall be 4:1. Final town approval

is required for all other forms of mitigation not consistent with this section.

(UDC 2002, § 1114)

24.36.160 Clearing
With all natural resources, clearing shall be permitted only under the

=

To prepare land for a use permitted by this chapter;
2. As a reforestation measure, or to enhance to improv

means to eliminate dead, diseased, or hazardous tree sta
3. Where a clearcutting operation is deem
it shall be consistent with the terms of T
of Agriculture Division of Forest Servic

reasons stated in this paragraph,
rdance with the State Department

(UDC 2002, § 1115)
24.36.170 Reforestatia

ing to the tree replacement schedule listed in table
area around each tree shall be mulched. The entire
ith a minimum 30 percent indigenous herbaceous
e selected to provide a diversity of native plants. Plantings
pecies. Where more than 100 canopy trees are required, a minimum of
ne species shall have less than five or more than 30 percent of the total

ces. Protected resources shall not be disturbed with roadways, parking lots or

e applicant must demonstrate no possible alternative to crossing the resource exists

ute selected must be the least disruptive.

2. Riparian Buffer Areas. Stormwater outfall shall be permitted, provided that the discharge velocity
from the terminal end of the pipe or the associated energy dissipation practice does not exceed two
feet per second (fps) for the two year frequency storm event. In addition, best management practices
methods shall be used to convert concentrated flow to uniform, shallow sheet flow, filter sediments,
and control erosion.

2:3.

otected Res
line

Table 11-16
REFORESTATON REQUIREMENTS PER ACRE


https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.160_Clearing
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.170_Reforestation_Requirements

No. of Plants Types of Plants

1 4" caliper canopy

4 3" caliper canopy

10 1 1/2" caliper canopy

6 1 1/2" caliper or 5-6 ft. understory trees
50 6 ft. whip canopy

30 bare root shrubs or 1 gallon pots

(UDC 2002, § 1116)

Table 11-17 Tree Replacement Schedule

Existing

Replacement

Any tree having a diameter of six.inches to 12

one canopy.tree

inches

Shade or canopy trees aving a diameter of 13

three canopy trees.

inches to 24 inches

Evergreen, ornamental ohunderstory trees
having a_diameter of 13'inches to'18 inches

three evergreen, ornamental or understory trees.

havinga diameter of greater than 18 inches, shall

be replaced with.

Shade or canopy trees having a diameter of five trees
greater than 24 inches
Evergreen, ornamental or understery trees five trees

24.36.180 Roads, Parking Lots And Utilities



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24.36.180_Roads,_Parking_Lots_And_Utilities

1. Protected Areas. Protected resources shall not be disturbed with roadways, parking lots or utility
lines. The applicant must demonstrate no possible alternate to crossing the resource exists and the
route selected must be the least disruptive.
Riparian Buffer Areas. Stormwater outfall shall be permitted, provided that the discharge velocity
from the terminal end of the pipe or the associated energy dissipation practice does not exceed two
feet per second (fps) for the two year frequency storm event. In addition, best management practice
methods shall be used to convert concentrated flow to uniform, shallow sheet flow, filter sediments,
and control erosion.

(UDC 2002, § 1117)

24 - Appendices

24 - Appendix A Zoning District Requlations
24 - Appendix B Developmental Flowchart
24 - Appendix C Major Subdivision Checklist
24 - Appendix D Minor Subdivision Checklist
24 - Appendix A Zoning District Regulations
Appendix A" Town of Townsend Zoning District Regulations
! Reside
P R R-1A [R-1 R-2 R-3 R-AA |C Gene ntial
Preserv | Reside | Reside | Reside | Reside [Reside | Reside | Comm |ral
. : . : . 4 . . Subur
ation ntial ntial ntial ntial ntial ntial . |ercial Indu ban
stry
43,56
43,560 |12,500 [10,000 {9,000 |7,000 |, 7,000 |5,000 0sq. |**
sg. ft sq. ft |sq:ft. |sqg.ft.. |sq. ft sg. ft. |sq. ft. '
Mini q q q q q q q ft
mum
lot 13,500 ({11,500 6,000
area sg. ft. |sq. ft. * sq. ft. o
(corner | (corner (corner
lot) lot) lot)
.. | 100 100 85' 75' 50' * 50' 50' 100" | **
Mini
mum )
lot 110
width (corner * **
lot)
Mini
]["“m 50" 25 |25 |25 |25 |* 25 |25 500 | **
ront
yard



https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendices
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_B_Developmental_Flowchart
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_C_Major_Subdivision_Checklist
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_D_Minor_Subdivision_Checklist
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_A_Zoning_District_Regulations

s 10' 10' 10 10'
Mini each |each |each |each

mum

10'
each

10

20'

**

side ; ; : ; :
yard 100 25 25 25 25

both both both both both

25'
both

25' both

40
both

**

Mini
mum
rear

yard

40' 20’ 20’ 20’ 20’

20'

10°

40

**

Accessory Structure

Rear
yard
setbac
k

40' 5' 5) 5 5)

10

10

40'

**

Side
yard
setbac
k

50' 5' 5) 5 S

10°

10

20'

**

Maxi
mum
lot
COVs

35% 35% |35% |35%, |40%

35%

75%

80%

**

Maxi
mum
buildi |35' 12° 12' 12' 12'
ng

height

35'

35'

35'

**

(Ord. of 04-05-2005, § 101)

HISTORY
Amended by Ord.
Amended by Ord. 2022-002 on 4/20/2022

24 - Appendix B Developmental Flowchart

2020-004

on

6/3/2020


https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1654640365_Ordinance%202022-002_Signed.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_B_Developmental_Flowchart

Subdivision & Land Development Flow Chart

TOWNSEND - SUBDIVISION & LAND DEVELOPMENT FLOW CHART

[2] Applicant Submits Subdivision 3] Administrative Review for 4] Town Manager Submits to Town I5] Distribution of Project
and/or Land Development Plan to Tawn Completeness by Town Manager ‘council for Recommendation for Information by Town Manager
- - Planning commissi . = -
= Application must be received  Only complete applications = = Planning Commission
by 15* of Month precading PR S— »  Land Use & Development
Council Mesting Committee

[14] Towm
Council Meeting

Rev.3/19/2019

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24 - Appendix.C Major Subdivision Checklist
MinorSubdivisiomor Land Development'Submission Requirements

Name of subdivision or development <
Name and address of the owner and applicant <
Name and address of the engineer or surveyor who prepared the plan <
Written and graphic scale, not exceeding 1"=50' <
Sheet size of either 24" x 36" or 24" x 42" <
North arrow <
Plan legend <



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_C_Major_Subdivision_Checklist

Date of the original plan and all subsequent revision dates <
Sheet number, if multiple sheets are used <
A location map with a scale of no less than 1" = 500" indicating adjacent streets <
Certification of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor <
Certification of ownership <
Certification of plan approval <
Tax parcel numbers <
Zoning district of the subject tract <
Source of title <
Survey datum and local benchmark <
Total site gross and net-acreage <
Name of water supplier and thenote

"Water supplysis subject tothe State Department of natural Resources and Environmental <
Control and the Delaware Department of Health".

Sanitary Sewage disposal method <
Number of existing@and proposed lots or dwellings units <
Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots <
Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area <
Location of existing and proposed building and structures <
The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets <
Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection <




Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards <
Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks <
Calculation of required off-street loading areas <
Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways <
Location and design of all proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking spaces and <
access aisle dimensions and directional arrows indicating proposed traffic circulation patterns -
Existing and proposed building coverage <
Existing and proposed impervious coverage <
Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoining property owners <
Location of any water bodies and watercourses <
Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map panel number <
Location of any wetlands areas delineated during a time of seasonal high ground water tables. If <
no wetlands present on site, a letter of nonexistence for wetlands is required -
Location and identification of any historic structures <
Location of all significant natural or manmade structures <
Existing and proposed deed restrictions, easements or protective covenants <
Grading plan indicating existing contours (at two-foot intervals), proposed grading, spot

elevations and finished floor elevations and top and bottom of wall elevations for any retaining <
walls over two feet

Limit of ex_isti_ng tree masses an_d location, size and species of all individual trees over six-inch <
caliper. A limit of disturbance line -
A limit of disturbance line <
A soil erosion and sediment control plan <




Stormwater management plan <
Solid waste management plan <
Landscape plan <
A listing of all existing nonconforming buildings, uses or structures <
Digital copies of the submitted application packet. Once the plan has final approval, digital

copies in CAD or other applicable engineering software must be submitted to the Town Clerk <
and the Town Engineer

Final checklist requirements <

Signature of Town Engineer Date

HISTORY

Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020

24 - Appendix D Minor Subdivision Checklist

Major Subdivision or LanddDevelopment SubmissioafRequirements

Name of subdivision or development <
Name and address of the owner and applicant <
Name and address of the engineer or surveyor who prepared the plan <
Written.and graphic scale, not exceeding 1"=50' <
Sheet size of either 24" x 36" or 24" x 42" <
North arrow <
Plan legend <
Date of the original plan and all subsequent revision dates <
Sheet number, if multiple sheets are used <



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf
https://townsendde.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=24_-_Appendix_D_Minor_Subdivision_Checklist

A location map with a scale of no less than 1" = 500" indicating adjacent streets <
Certification of plan accuracy by engineer/surveyor <
Certification of ownership <
Certification of plan approval <
Tax parcel numbers <
Zoning district of the subject tract <
Source of title <
Survey datum and local benchmark <
Total site gross and net acreage <
Name of water supplier and the note

"Water supply is subject to the'State Department of natural Resources and Environmental <
Control and the Delaware' Department of Health

Sanitary Sewage disposal method <
Number of existing.and proposed lots or dwellings units <
Lot numbers for all existing and proposed lots <
Existing and proposed nonresidential gross floor area <
Location of existing and proposed building and structures <
The name, right-of-way width and cartway width of all adjoining streets <
Tie-in distances from subject property to the nearest street intersection <
Location of front, side, and rear yard setbacks and all required buffer yards <
Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed sidewalks <




Calculation of required off-street loading areas <
Location of all existing and proposed site accesses and driveways Location and design of all
proposed off-street parking areas, indicating parking spaces and access aisle dimensions and <
directional arrows indicating proposed traffic circulation patterns

Existing and proposed building coverage <
Name and address, tax parcel numbers and zoning of all adjoining property owners <
Location of any water bodies and watercourses <
Location of any floodplains, including FEMA map panel number <
Location of any wetlands areas delineated during a time.of seasonal high ground water tables. <
If no wetlands present on site, a letter of nonexistence for wetlands isrequired -
Location and identification of any historic Structures <
Location of all significant natural or manmade structures <
Existing and proposed deed restrictions, easements or protective covenants <
Grading plan.indicating existing contours.(at two-foot intervals), proposed grading, spot

elevations and finished floor elevations and top and bottom of wall elevations for any retaining <
walls over two feet

Limit of existing tree masses and location, size and species of all individual trees over six-inch <
caliper. A limit of disturbance line -
A soil erasion‘and sediment control plan <
Stormwater management plan <
Solid waste management plan <
Landscape plan <
A listing of all existing nonconforming buildings, uses or structures <




Digital copies of the submitted application packet. Once the plan has final approval, digital

copies in CAD or other applicable engineering software must be submitted to the Town Clerk <
and the Town Engineer

A traffic impact study, including mitigation measures if deemed necessary by the study. The

name, right-of-way width, cartway width, profiles, cross sections and grading for all proposed <
streets

Type, location, size, material of construction, slope and profiles for all proposed utilities <
Location, size material of construction slope and profiles for all prosed storm sewers <
Location, grade elevation and invert elevation for all catch basins, inlets and manholes <
Location of all proposed fire hydrants <
Phasing lines for phased developments <
Sidewalk locations, pedestrian ways, bikeways, walkways <
Proposed passive and active recreation areas <
Listing of any required variances <
Wetland report <
Floodplain study <
Construction details‘for all proposed improvements (UDC 2002, §2003) <
Final checklist requirements <
DelDOT Pipe cover and lateral spreadsheet <

Signature of Town Engineer Date

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 2020-004 on 6/3/2020



https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/townsendde/ordinances/documents/1607024386_2020-004%20-%20Townsends%20Chapter%2066.pdf

	11-08-2023 Planning Commission Agenda.pdf
	FutureLU_GrowthAnnex_1023_.pdf
	Town of Townsend Future Land Use  Growth  Annexation Areas Map- Parcels to be added- Revised Map.pdf
	Sheet1

	4-10-2023 Printed_Chapter 24 - Appendix B Development Flowchart_Link Attached.pdf
	LIVE UPDATE_Subdivision Landuse flow of Operations.pdf
	Chapter 24 Zoning and Unified Development Code_Full Print.pdf
	EDITING DRAFT_Townsend Municipal Code Chapter 24- Planning Commission Discussed Revisions-.pdf



